### INVESTIGATION OF GENE AND CELLULAR THERAPIES TO CURE MAPLE SYRUP URINE DISEASE (MSUD) IN A GENETICALLY ENGINEERED MOUSE MODEL

by

Kristen J. Skvorak

B.S. Biology, Lycoming College, 2002

Submitted to the Graduate Faculty of

The University of Pittsburgh in partial fulfillment

of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

University of Pittsburgh

2008

### UNIVERSITY OF PITTSBURGH

School of Medicine

This dissertation was presented

by

Kristen J. Skvorak

It was defended on

August 13th, 2008

and approved by

Paula R. Clemens, M.D., Dept. of Neurology

Johnny Huard, Ph.D., Dept. of Molecular Genetics and Biochemistry

Harbhajan S. Paul, Ph.D., Biomed Research and Technology, Inc.

Stephen C. Strom, Ph.D., Dept. of Cellular and Molecular Pathology

Gerard Vockley, M.D., Ph.D., Dept. of Pediatrics

Thesis Director: Gregg E. Homanics, Ph.D, Dept. of Anesthesiology

Copyright © by Kristen J. Skvorak

2008

### INVESTIGATION OF GENE AND CELLULAR THERAPIES TO CURE MAPLE SYRUP URINE DISEASE (MSUD) IN A GENETICALLY ENGINEERED MOUSE MODEL

Kristen J. Skvorak, Ph.D.

University of Pittsburgh, 2008

MSUD is a serious liver-based metabolic disorder caused by a deficiency in the branched-chain alpha-ketoacid dehydrogenase (BCKDH) complex. Resulting branched-chain amino acid (BCAA) accretion in the body mainly affects the brain, which in most cases results in permanent neurological dysfunction or death without life-long attentive care. Recently it was shown liver transplantation alone restored BCKDH to a level sufficient to correct MSUD. To test novel therapies, a mouse model of intermediate MSUD (iMSUD) was created (Homanics et al., 2006), which mimicked human iMSUD. Therefore, this dissertation focused on the investigation of liver-directed therapeutic approaches to correct MSUD.

In the first aim, iMSUD mice were further characterized and determined to closely mirror the human disease phenotype. iMSUD mice suffered from developmental delay, seizures, and altered brain amino acid and neurotransmitter concentration. iMSUD brains also displayed histological abnormalities while liver morphology was normal.

In the second aim, adeno-associated viral (AAV) vectors were used to deliver E2 to the liver. However, no significant improvement was determined in AAV-treated iMSUD mice compared to controls. The most likely reasons this study was unsuccessful were low treatment dose, a weak albumin promoter, and possible competition and interaction between AAV-derived and iMSUD transgene-derived E2.

The third aim focused on hepatocyte transplantation (HTx). iMSUD-HTx mice had a 75% reduction in BCAA/alanine levels compared to iMSUD controls. BCKDH activity was increased, and Real Time qPCR detected donor-derived E2 in the liver. Dopamine and serotonin, along with several related metabolites, were corrected to control levels. Body weight at weaning and survival were also significantly improved in iMSUD-HTx mice.

The fourth aim focused on differentiated embryonic stem cell (ESC) transplantation. Differentiated ESCs expressed liver-specific markers after 3 days in culture and BCKDH activity was significantly increased over undifferentiated ESC populations. Liver-like ESC engraftment was verified up to 1 month following transplantation into wildtype mouse liver.

In summary, iMSUD mice were determined to be a superior model to test novel liverdirected therapies. Our findings of partial metabolic correction of iMSUD in a mouse model by HTx were very encouraging. Therefore, liver-directed therapeutic intervention for human MSUD should be investigated further.

## FORWARD

Never, never, never, never

give up.

- Winston Churchill

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Dr. Douglas Cerasoli, thank you for giving me that push I needed to apply to graduate school in the first place. Second, I would like to thank the University of Pittsburgh for giving me the opportunity to realize my potential and allowing me to prove what I can accomplish when I really apply myself. Those behind the scenes were perhaps the greatest help: Dr. Stephen Phillips, Dr. John Horn, Sandra Honick, Jennifer Walker, Cindy Duffy, Michelle Darabante, and the entire Molecular Genetics & Biochemistry and Anesthesiology office staff. What is presented in this dissertation is the result of many long days, many sleepless nights, many disappointments, and (thankfully) many more successes spanning the past five years of graduate school. This paper represents the single most difficult thing I have accomplished in my life thus far, and I am proud to have seen myself through to the end. However, I would not be here without the help and encouragement of many, many people along the way. It is not possible to individually thank everyone, but please know I truly appreciate your support.

Above all, I would like to thank my mentor and advisor, Dr. Gregg Homanics, for his exceptional guidance and unwavering support throughout my graduate student career. He was a great person to work with, and taught me so much – both about science and myself. He pushed me to work independently, constantly challenging me to make me a better and more analytical scientist. His greatest attribute as a mentor was his approachability. Gregg's "open door policy", whether it was to discuss my research or a personal issue, was a great comfort and helped me to successfully navigate through the past few years of graduate school. There were many instances when my self confidence would begin to waver due to difficulties associated with my chosen project, and I would lose sight of why I came to the University of Pittsburgh. Without fail, Gregg helped to build my confidence and direct my focus enabling me to push on despite any setbacks. He taught me patience, dedication, and how to more effectively troubleshoot to get at the bigger picture rather than get stuck on the small disappointments.

I would also like to thank the rest of my Thesis Committee for their continued helpful suggestions and encouraging words. No matter how discouraged I was at the start of a Committee meeting due to project-related struggles or negative results along the way, I always left feeling much more determined, confident, and focused on my project. Gregg told me once that was the sign of a great Committee, and I couldn't agree more. Thank you to Dr. Steven Strom and Dr. Gerard Vockley for their exceptional guidance and insight throughout my thesis work. Their wealth of knowledge and clinical experience in the field of MSUD (Jerry) and hepatocyte transplantation (Steve) helped me to assemble a strong approach to creating novel therapies for MSUD, particularly in regards to cellular transplantation. Dr. Strom also was a great help to me in all aspects of my education. He acted as a secondary mentor in many ways offering excellent advice, support – both financially and personally, and assisted in analyzing and interpreting data. To Paula Clemens and Johnny Huard, thank you for your comments and continued encouragement. Dr. Clemens also helped a great deal in troubleshooting the issues I had with gene therapy by putting me in contact with Dr. Nakai. Last, but certainly not least, thank you to Dr. Harbhajan Paul, who has been with the MSUD mouse model project from the beginning – many years before I came to the University. His helpful suggestions in Committee meetings, as well as outside connections with the MSUD Family

Support Group, greatly added to my training while a graduate student. Through his connections, I was able to attend the MSUD Family Support Group symposium in 2006, and discussed my research with a father whose son was diagnosed with MSUD (June 2008). Seeing and speaking with the people this devastating disease affects first hand was my single most driving force reiterating why the research I am doing is so important. Harry also served as a great mentor and teacher throughout my time in Dr. Homanics' lab.

I must thank everyone in the Homanics lab, past and present, for making "work" not feel like work. First, Carolyn Ferguson has been amazing from day one. She was an excellent teacher always willing to take time out of her busy schedule to help me with anything I may need, and always was a wonderful person to talk with. Ed Mallick was always willing to train me or help with my cell cultures, of which he had a wealth of knowledge. Dev Chandra and Dave Werner, the two senior graduate students a part of the lab when I joined, helped to show me the ropes. They offered both great advice and friendship, and it was exciting seeing them both successfully complete their thesis work. To Andrew Swihart, thank you for your hard work. Rodrigo Benavides and Sangeetha Iyer proved to be wonderful people to have in the lab. In addition to all their invaluable help with my project, their friendship made graduate school that much more enjoyable. I thoroughly enjoyed our weekly climbing sessions at The Wall, along with Dr. Krisztina Kovacs, which allowed me to get to know them on a more personal level while we destressed. Thank you to the newest addition to the lab, Mark Zimmerman, who I am very glad was able to stay. Also, thank you to Benjamin Cook for his friendship and many interesting discussions, which helped to pass the time. I also must thank Dr. Fabio Marongiu and Kenneth Dorko of the Strom laboratory, who both took a great deal of their time to teach me many different protocols, for their patience, and for their help with data analysis, and most importantly for making my time in the South BST fun. I must also thank Rodrigo, Dr. Strom, and the Italians in the Strom lab (Fabio and Roberto) for getting me completely hooked on espresso and coffee!

On a personal note, my husband, Ryan, has been my rock throughout these past five years. I can't imagine life without his unconditional love and support, and he could always put things in perspective when I would begin to feel the pressure weighing down on me. Thank you to my parents, John and Debra, to my sisters, Amy and Lauren, and Lauren's husband Chris, for their love, encouragement, and unfailing support. Also thank you to my husband's parents, his brother Sean and wife Brenda, and to his sister Jaclyn and husband Justin, who have made my life so much more fulfilling and enjoyable. There are also several other graduate students who have endured with me – from Foundations to the end: Jessica Hughes-Turner, Hillarie Plessner-Windish, and Kathleen Morgan, thank you for so much more than I could possibly write here. You girls helped me maintain my sanity and I look forward to your valuable friendship for years to come. I would also like to mention Robb Tomko and Marc Uy, whom I met when I first came to interview at Pitt, and later became good friends and riding buddies, along with Dr. William Lariviere. There are many others I've met in Pittsburgh not associated with the graduate school, and many more outside of Pittsburgh whom I must thank for their encouragement and support, but unfortunately the list is too long to put here. To all of my extended family and friends, thank you.

Finally, thank you to Dr. Susan Hutson (Wake Forest University) for the gift of E2 antiserum, Dr. Jaspal Khillan (University of Pittsburgh) for providing GFP-expressing embryonic stem cell lines, Dr. Xiao Xiao (University of North Carolina School of Pharmacy) for manufacturing the therapeutic AAV vectors, and Dr. Donna Stolz (CBI, University of Pittsburgh). Thank you to Dr. Donald Chace and Dr. James DiPerna (Pediatrix Screening Inc.), Dr. William Zinnanti (Penn State Medical Center, Hershey, PA), Dr. Michael Gibson and his lab (Rangos, University of Pittsburgh, Pittsburgh, PA), and Dr. Theodoro Bottiglieri (Baylor University Medical Center, Dallas, TX) for past and hopefully continuing successful collaborations. This work was supported by NIH grants R43 DK57386, R43 DK57956, the Scott C. Foster Metabolic Disease Fund, the Laverty Foundation, and the MSUD Family Support Group.

### PREFACE

Parts of one chapter of this dissertation have been published.

Homanics GE, **Skvorak K**, Ferguson C, Watkins S, Paul HS. (Mar 2006) "Production and characterization of murine models of classic and intermediate Maple Syrup Urine Disease", *BMC Medical Genetics*. 7(1):33

Parts of several sections of this dissertation have been submitted for publication.

Zinnanti WJ, Lazovic J, Griffin K, **Skvorak KJ**, Paul HS, Homanics GE, Bewely M, Cheng KC, LaNoue K, Flanagan, JM. (2008) "Dual mechanisms of brain injury and novel treatment strategy in maple syrup urine disease", *Submitted*.

**KJ Skvorak**, HS Paul, K Dorko, F Marongiu, D Chace, C Ferguson, E Arning, T Bottiglieri, KM Gibson, GE Homanics, and S Strom. (2008) "Hepatocyte Transplantation (HTx) Extends Lifespan, Increases Branched Chain  $\alpha$ -Keto Acid Dehydrogenase (BCKDH) Activity, and Improves Amino Acid Profiles in a Murine Model of Intermediate Maple Syrup Urine Disease (iMSUD)", *Submitted*.

Part of one section of this dissertation is currently in preparation for publication.

**KJ Skvorak**, GE Homanics, HS Paul, K Dorko, S Strom, Q Sun, E Arning, T Bottiglieri, EEW Jansen, C Jakobs, KM Gibson. (2008) "Amino Acid and Neurotransmitter Abnormalities in Murine Intermediate Maple Syrup Urine Disease (iMSUD): Correction of Cerebral Dopamine Deficiency with Hepatocyte Transplantation (HTx)", *In preparation*.

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

FORWA	ARD	VI
ACKNO	WLEDO	GEMENTS VII
PREFA	СЕ	IX
LIST OI	F ABBRI	EVIATIONSXIX
1.0	INTRO	DUCTION1
1.1	Μ	APLE SYRUP URINE DISEASE1
	1.1.1	The BCKDH complex molecular genetics
	1.1.2	BCAA metabolism 4
	1.1.3	Regulation of the BCKDH complex6
	1.1.4	Many genetic mutations produce disease8
	1.1.5	Clinical manifestations9
	1.1.6	Treatments and their associated problems11
	1.1.7	Animal models of disease13
	1.1	1.7.1 Polled Shorthorn and Polled Hereford bovine model
	1.1	1.7.2 ENU-treated mouse model 14
	1.1	1.7.3 Dihydrolipoamide dehydrogenase (E3) deficiency in a mouse 15
	1.1	1.7.4 Classic MSUD (cMSUD) knockout mouse model
	1.1	1.7.5 Intermediate MSUD (iMSUD) transgenic mouse model 17

	1.2	GENE THERAPY			. 20
		1.2.1	Met	hods of administration: non-viral and viral	. 21
		1.2	2.1.1	Nonviral gene therapy	. 21
		1.2	2.1.2	Viral gene therapy	. 22
		1.2.2	Ade	no-associated viral vectors	. 27
	1.3	CH	ELL-I	BASED THERAPIES	. 32
		1.3.1	Hep	oatocyte transplant	. 36
		1.3	8.1.1	HTx in Use: proof of concept	. 37
		1.3	3.1.2	Small vs. large hepatocytes	. 39
		1.3	3.1.3	Selective regeneration pressure of transplanted cells	. 40
		1.3	8.1.4	Gene therapy of hepatocytes prior to transplantation	. 41
		1.3.2	Em	bryonic stem cells	. 42
		1.3	3.2.1	Establishment and culture	. 42
		1.3	3.2.2	Human ESCs and U.S. federal policy	. 43
		1.3	3.2.3	New methods to derive ESCs	. 44
		1.3	3.2.4	Methods for initiating cell differentiation	. 47
		1.3	3.2.5	Differentiation into specific cell types	. 49
		1.3	3.2.6	Common issues associated with ESC therapy	. 52
2.0		FURTH	IER (	CHARACTERIZATION OF IMSUD MICE	. 54
	2.1	BA	АСКО	GROUND AND SIGNIFICANCE	. 54
	2.2	M	ETH	ODS	. 55
		2.2.1	Mo	use colony breeding	. 55
		2.2.2	PCI	R genotyping	. 56

	2.2.3	Southern blot genotyping 56
	2.2.4	BCKDH complex enzyme activity assay 57
	2.2.5	BCAA levels
	2.2.6	Real Time qPCR 58
	2.2.7	Northern blot analysis 59
	2.2.8	Western blot analysis
	2.2.9	Immunofluorescence61
	2.2.10	Histochemistry
	2.2.11	Body weight
2.3	RF	CSULTS AND DISCUSSION
	2.3.1	iMSUD mice had significantly stunted growth at weaning63
	2.3.2	E2 protein in liver and other tissues65
	2.3	2.2.1 c-myc may hinder proper BCKDH enzyme assembly
	2.3	2.2.2 Human E2 may interfere with mouse BCKDH components
	2.3.3	Colocalization of E2 protein and mitochondria68
	2.3.4	Residual mouse E2 mRNA in iMSUD mice70
	2.3.5	Liver morphology72
	2.3.6	Brain BCAA levels and neuropathology73
2.4	CC	ONCLUSIONS
	AAV G	ENE THERAPY IN IMSUD MICE 79
3.1	BA	CKGROUND AND SIGNIFICANCE
3.2	M	ETHODS
	3.2.1	Mouse colony breeding

3.0

3.2.2	PCR and southern blot genotyping	80
3.2.3	AAV vector construction, packaging, and purification	81
3.2.4	AAV gene therapy	82
3.2.5	Southern blot to detect AAV DNA	82
3.2.6	BCKDH complex enzyme activity assay	83
3.2.7	Blood BCAA levels	83
3.2.8	Western blot analysis	83
3.2.9	Survival	84
3.2.10	Adult hepatocyte isolation	84
3.2.11	In vitro AAV infection	85
RF	ESULTS AND DISCUSSION	85
3.3.1	BCKDH enzyme activity and E2 protein in the liver	85
3.3.2	BCAA blood levels and survival	86
3.3.3	AAV DNA detection by Southern blot	88
3.3.4	AAV hepatocyte infection	91
CO	DNCLUSIONS AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS	93
НЕРАТ	TOCYTE TRANSPLANT (HTX) THERAPY IN IMSUD MICE	97
BA	ACKGROUND AND SIGNIFICANCE	97
M	ETHODS	99
4.2.1	Mouse colony breeding	99
4.2.2	PCR genotyping and analysis	100
4.2.3	Southern blot genotyping	100
4.2.4	β-galactosidase activity assay	101
	3.2.2 3.2.3 3.2.4 3.2.5 3.2.6 3.2.7 3.2.8 3.2.9 3.2.10 3.2.11 RH 3.3.1 3.3.2 3.3.3 3.3.4 CO HEPAT BA MI 4.2.1 4.2.2 4.2.3 4.2.4	3.2.2 PCR and southern blot genotyping

4.0

	4.2.5	ROSA26 +/- hepatocyte isolation 101
	4.2.6	Hepatocyte transplantation102
	4.2.7	Histochemistry 102
	4.2.8	BCKDH complex enzyme activity assay 103
	4.2.9	Ion-exchange chromatography103
	4.2.10	Blood BCAA levels
	4.2.11	HPLC detection of monoamines104
	4.2.12	Western blot analysis104
	4.2.13	Real Time qPCR 105
	4.2.14	Weight and survival106
4.3	RF	ESULTS AND DISCUSSION 107
	4.3.1	ROSA26+/- hepatocyte characterization 107
	4.3.2	ROSA26 +/- HTx and long-term β-gal expression 110
	4.3.3	HTx effects on blood amino acids of iMSUD mice around weaning 112
	4.3.4	HTx effects on blood amino acids of iMSUD mice at sacrifice114
	4.3.5	HTx effects on liver BCKDH and E2 protein levels 117
	4.3.6	Confirmation of engrafted donor hepatocytes following HTx119
	4.3.7	HTx effects on brain AA, neurotransmitters, and monoamines 122
	4.3.8	HTx increases iMSUD weight at weaning and survival 126
4.4	CO	DNCLUSIONS AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS 127
	EMBRY	YONIC STEM CELL (ESC) THERAPY 131
5.1	BA	ACKGROUND AND SIGNIFICANCE 131
5.2	M	ETHODS

5.0

		5.2.1	Mouse colony breeding	133
		5.2.2	Southern blot genotyping	133
		5.2.3	Differentiation of ESC	133
		5.2.4	Differentiated ESC therapy	134
		5.2.5	Western blot analysis	135
		5.2.6	Immunohistochemistry	135
		5.2.7	BCKDH complex enzyme activity assay	136
	5.3	RE	SULTS AND DISCUSSION	136
		5.3.1	Verification of GPF expression in ESCs	136
		5.3.2	Differentiated ESCs expressed liver-specific markers	137
		5.3.3	Differentiated ESC BCKDH activity	140
		5.3.4	PEPs were able to engraft in the wildtype mouse liver	142
	5.4	CO	NCLUSIONS AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS	144
6.0		DISSER	TATION SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS	147
	6.1	GE	NETICALLY ENGINEERED MOUSE MODELS OF DISEASE	148
	6.2	LI	VER-TARGETED AAV GENE THERAPY IN IMSUD MICE	154
		6.2.1	Future studies	156
	6.3	LI	VER-DIRECTED CELLULAR THERAPIES	157
		6.3.1	Hepatocyte transplantation	158
		6.3.2	Differentiated "liver-like" ESCs	160
		6.3.3	Future studies	161
	6.4	RE	LEVANCE TO HUMAN METABOLIC DISEASES	162
BIB	LIO	GRAPHY	Ι	165

# LIST OF TABLES

Table 1. MSUD disease variants	9
Table 2. Non-viral gene therapy advantages and disadvantages.	
Table 3. Gene therapy viral vector advantages and disadvantages	
Table 4. Examples of gene therapy viral vectors targeting disease.	
Table 5. Commonly transplanted cells and their limitations.	
Table 6. iPS cells: too good to be true?	47
Table 7. Initiation of ESC differentiation: advantages and disadvantages.	48
Table 8. Small selection of ESC differentiation methods to produce hepatic cells	51
Table 9. iMSUD disease phenotype vs. the human disease	

# LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1. Overview of BCAA metabolism in a liver cell.	5
Figure 2. Mechanism of branched-chain amino acid metabolism.	6
Figure 3. Gene targeting to create the E2 knockout (cMSUD) mouse line	17
Figure 4. Transgenes expressed on an E2 knockout background	18
Figure 5. iMSUD mouse BCAA, BCKDH, and survival compared to cMSUD	18
Figure 6. Human E2 cDNA probes for Northern blot.	60
Figure 7. Weight at weaning of iMSUD mice and littermate controls	64
Figure 8. Transgenic E2 protein expression in iMSUD mice	66
Figure 9. Colocalization of E2 protein and mitochondria	69
Figure 10. qRT-PCR of iMSUD mice and controls	71
Figure 11. H&E and Red Oil O staining of iMSUD and Control livers	72
Figure 12. GABA-glutamate/glutamine cycle.	75
Figure 13. Neuropathology in the iMSUD mouse model	75
Figure 14. Recombinant AAV-Alb-hE2 gene therapy vector.	82
Figure 15. AAV gene therapy results in iMSUD mice	87
Figure 16. AAV DNA Southern blot.	90
Figure 17. AAV infection of mouse hepatocytes in vitro.	93

Figure 18.	Mouse and human E2 mRNA alignment and SYBR Green qRTPCR primers	. 106
Figure 19.	ROSA26 +/- hepatocyte characterization.	. 109
Figure 20.	Isolated Control and ROSA26 +/- hepatocytes.	. 110
Figure 21.	Mouse liver analyzed 24h post-HTx.	. 111
Figure 22.	Blood BCAA/ala ratios from HTx mice collected around weaning	. 113
Figure 23.	Serum results from total serum collected at the time of sacrifice.	. 116
Figure 24.	HTx effects on liver BCKDH activity and E2 protein levels	. 118
Figure 25.	Real Time qPCR of iMSUD treatment groups and controls	. 120
Figure 26.	PCR of HTx and control DNA for ROSA26 LacZ gene	. 121
Figure 27.	AAs, neurotransmitters, and relevant MSUD markers following HTx in brain	. 124
Figure 28.	Neurotransmitters and related precursors/metabolites following HTx.	. 125
Figure 29.	Effect of HTx on body weight and survival.	. 127
Figure 30.	R1-GFP ESC prior to differentiation	. 137
Figure 31.	R1-GFP ESC following differentiation with FGF alone	. 139
Figure 32.	BCKDH enzyme assay of R1-GFP ESC differentiated for 12 days.	. 141
Figure 33.	Engrafted differentiated ESC in control mouse liver.	. 143
Figure 34.	Proposed MSUD disease mechanism causing neuropathology	. 153

# LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

3-MT	3-methoxytyramine
5-HIAA	5-hydroxyindoleacetic acid
5-HT	5-hydroxytryptophan, serotonin
AAT	alpha-1-antitrypsin
AAV	adeno-associated virus
AFP	alpha-fetoprotein
ANOVA	analysis of variance
BCAA	branched-chain amino acid
BCATc	branched-chain amino transferase, cytosolic
BCATm	BCAT, mitochondrial
BCKA	branched-chain keto acid
BCKDH	branched-chain alpha-ketoacid dehydrogenase
BDK	BCKDH kinase
BDP	BCKDH phosphatase
BH <sub>4</sub>	tetrahydrobiopterin
BMSC	bone marrow stem cells
cAMP	cyclic adenosine monophosphate
CCl <sub>4</sub>	carbon tetrachloride
cDNA	complementary DNA
cMSUD	classic maple syrup urine disease
CNS	central nervous system
CTx	cellular transplantation
DA	dopamine
DAB	3,3-diamino-benzidine tetrahydrochloride
DBT	BCKDH dihydrolipoamide branched-chain transacylase
DLD	BCKDH dihydrolipoamide dehydrogenase
DNA	deoxyribonucleic acid
DOPAC	dihydroxyphenylacetic acid
Ε1α, β	BCKDH E1 $\alpha$ , $\beta$
E2	see DBT
E3	see DLD
EB	embryoid body
ENU	N-ethyl-N-nitrosourea
ESC	embryonic stem cell
FGF	fibroblast growth factor
FVII, VIII, IX	Factor VII, VIII, IX

GABA	Gamma-aminobutyric acid		
GFP	green fluorescent protein		
H&E	Hematoxylin and Eosin		
HIV-1	human immunodeficiency virus		
HPLC	high performance liquid chromatography		
HSV	herpes simplex virus		
HTx	hepatocyte transplantation		
HVA	homovanillic acid		
IEC	ion exchange chromatography		
IHC	immunohistochemistry		
iMSUD	intermediate maple syrup urine disease		
IP	interperitoneal		
iPS cells	induced pluripotent stem cells		
ITR	inverted terminal repeat		
KIC	ketoisocaproate		
KIV	ketoisovalarate		
KMV	ketomethylyalarate		
КО	knockout		
LAD	lipoamide dehvdrogenase		
LAP	liver-enriched activator protein		
LDL	low density lipoprotein		
LIF	leukemia inhibitory factor		
MEF	mouse embryonic fibroblast		
mRNA	messenger RNA		
MS-MS	tandem mass spectrometry		
MSUD	maple syrup urine disease		
NDS	normal donkey serum		
NGS	normal goat serum		
OCT	optimum cutting temperature		
Oct4	octamer 4		
OLT	orthotopic liver transplantation		
PBS	phosphate buffered saline		
PBSC	peripheral blood stem cells		
PCR	polymerase chain reaction		
PEP	putative endodermal precursor		
PVDF	polyvinylidene difluoride		
qRTPCR	quantitative Real Time PCR, also Real Time qPCR		
rAAV	recombinant AAV		
RNA	ribonucleic acid		
ROSA	reverse orientation splice acceptor		
scAAV	self complementary AAV		
SCNT	somatic cell nuclear transfer		
SEM	standard error of the mean		
TRE	tetracycline transactivator response element		
tTA	tetracycline transactivator		
WT	wildtype		

#### **1.0 INTRODUCTION**

This dissertation describes the characterization of a novel genetically engineered mouse model of intermediate maple syrup urine disease (iMSUD), and focuses primarily upon potential therapeutic approaches to treat or correct MSUD in this mouse model. The ultimate goal of this animal-based research is to develop an effective human therapy or cure. Since MSUD is predominantly a liver-based metabolic disorder, and it has been shown through orthotopic liver transplantation (OLT) that restoration of branched-chain  $\alpha$ -ketoacid dehydrogenase (BCKDH) in the liver alone is sufficient to correct MSUD (Bodner-Leidecker et al., 2000; Netter et al., 1994; Strauss et al., 2006; Wendel et al., 1999), two liver-directed approaches (cellular and gene therapy) were investigated. The following section will give a brief introduction for each of the main subjects addressed.

#### **1.1 MAPLE SYRUP URINE DISEASE**

MSUD is regarded as one of the most significant and serious genetic disorders of amino acid metabolism (Chuang and Shih, 2001). MSUD is a pan-ethnic disorder with an incidence in the general population of 1:185,000 with a slightly higher frequency in distinct populations, such as a Georgia population (1:84,000), the Ashkenazi Jewish population (1:51,000), and countries

where consanguineous marriage is commonplace (Turkey, India, Spain, Saudi Arabia) (Chuang and Shih, 2001; Edelmann et al., 2001). In one such distinct population, the Mennonites of Pennsylvania, a staggeringly high frequency is observed in which MSUD affects 1:176 newborns (Marshall and DiGeorge, 1981). Because the incidence rate is 1000-fold above that of the general population, 37 states including Pennsylvania require mandatory MSUD screening of newborns (Williams, 2004). As more states and countries require screening, increases in MSUD reported cases are expected to demand attention. Although treatments do exist, which are discussed below, there is no universally satisfactory treatment to combat this disorder for all cases.

MSUD is an autosomal recessive metabolic disorder resulting from a deficiency in the BCKDH complex (Dancis et al., 1960; Menkes et al., 1954). This deficiency results in an inability to correctly process branched-chain  $\alpha$ -ketoacids (BCKA) (Chuang and Shih, 2001; Harris et al., 2004; Yeaman, 1989). BCKAs [ketoisocaproate (KIC), ketomethylvalarate (KMV), and ketoisovalarate (KIV)] are derived from the branched-chain amino acids (BCAAs) leucine, isoleucine, and valine, respectively (Chuang and Shih, 2001; Harris et al., 2004; Yeaman, 1989). Deficient levels of the BCKDH complex cause toxic accretion of BCAAs and their related metabolites in the cerebrospinal fluid, blood, and tissues, thereby resulting in numerous and serious effects including neurological dysfunction, seizures, and infant death without treatment or constant attentive care (Chuang and Shih, 2001; Cox and Chuang, 1993). Although some BCAA turnover is observed via renal clearance (resulting in a sweet, maple syrup smell of the urine, hence the disease name), it is not sufficient to provide relief from the toxic amino acid levels in the body (Schadewaldt and Wendel, 1997).

#### 1.1.1 The BCKDH complex molecular genetics

The BCKDH complex is a mitochondrial multisubunit enzyme consisting of three catalytic components: E1, E2, and E3 (Harris et al., 2004; Yeaman, 1989). All BCKDH complex genes are nuclear in location and chaperonins are used to escort transcribed precursor proteins into the mitochondria; a mitochondrial leader sequence is incorporated at the N-terminus of all subunits, which is later cleaved once it reaches its final destination (Chuang and Shih, 2001; Danner and Doering, 1998; Mueller et al., 1995; Pieneman and Danner, 1994). Rather than a specific amino acid sequence, the common feature of mitochondrial leader sequences, which direct proteins to the inner matrix, is an inclination to fold into an amphiphilic  $\alpha$ -helix with a net positive charge clustered at one end of the helix and uncharged hydrophobic residues clustered at the other (Alberts et al., 2002).

E1, or branched-chain ketoacid dehydrogenase E1, exists as a heterotetramer of  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  subunits in the BCKDH complex and functions as a BCKA dehydrogenase/decarboxylase (Chuang and Shih, 2001). E1 $\alpha$  is located at chromosomal position 19q13.1-13.2 and consists of 9 exons which encode a 1.6kb mRNA transcript, which translates to 378aa with a 45aa leader sequence (Zhang et al., 1988). E1 $\beta$  is located at chromosomal position 6q14 and consists of 11 exons which encode a 1.4kb mRNA transcript, which translates to 342aa with a 50aa leader sequence (Chuang et al., 1996; Nobukuni et al., 1990). E2, or dihydrolipoamide branched-chain transacylase (DBT), is a dihydrolipoyl transacylase, exists as a homo-24mer with octagonal symmetry in the BCKDH complex, and is the functional "core" of the enzyme complex due to the presence of lipoyl bearing domains which act as long swinging arms to shuttle intermediates among the other active sites/subunits of the complex (Chuang and Shih, 2001). E2 is located at

chromosomal position 1p31 and consists of 11 exons which encode a 1.46kb mRNA transcript, which translates to 421aa with a 56aa leader sequence (Danner et al., 1989; Nobukuni et al., 1989). E3, or dihydrolipoamide dehydrogenase (DLD), exists as a homodimer in the BCKDH complex and functions as a dihydrolipoyl dehydrogenase located at chromosomal position 7q31-32. E3 consists of 14 exons which encode 2.2 and 2.4kb mRNA transcripts which translates to 509aa with a leader sequence of undetermined length (Pons et al., 1988; Scherer et al., 1991). E1 and E2 are unique to the BCKDH complex while E3 is also present in two additional mitochondrial enzymes (the pyruvate dehydrogenase and  $\alpha$ -ketoglutarate dehydrogenase complexes important in the function of the Krebs cycle) and is also known as the glycine cleavage system L protein (Chuang and Shih, 2001; Johnson et al., 1997; Yeaman, 1989).

#### 1.1.2 BCAA metabolism

BCAAs are three of nine essential amino acids which cannot be synthesized by animals and must be acquired through diet (Harper et al., 1984). BCAAs are important for growth and overall good body health in addition to protein, neurotransmitter, and fatty acid synthesis. During normal BCAA metabolism, BCAAs are ingested, delivered to the liver via portal circulation, and transported into liver cells by the L-transporter, a leucine-sensitive transport system (**Figure 1**) (Harper et al., 1984; Le Cam and Freychet, 1977). Once inside a liver cell, BCAAs undergo reversible transamination via branched-chain aminotransferase proteins (BCATc and BCATm, which are present in the cytosol or mitochondria, respectively), which yield corresponding BCKAs, 80% of which are recycled into new proteins (**Figure 1**) (Harper et al., 1984; Schadewaldt and Wendel, 1997; Wu et al., 2004). The BCKDH complex in the





BCAA are transported inside the liver cell by the L-transporter and converted to BCKA via the BCAT proteins, a reversible reaction. Inside the mitochondria BCKAs are permanently broken down via the BCKDH complex, which is comprised of  $E1\alpha$ ,  $E1\beta$ , E2, and E3 subunits. The enzyme is under post-translational control: a phosphatase (BDP) activates the enzyme complex while a kinase (BDK) inactivates it. Figure made using Pathway Builder 2.0.

mitochondria is responsible for the irreversible oxidative decarboxylation reaction of the remaining 20% of BCKAs (**Figure 2**, step marked by \*), which bind each of these compounds to their own discrete degradation pathway to produce acetyl-CoA, succinyl-CoA, and acetoacetic acid (**Figure 1**) (Chuang and Shih, 2001; Harris et al., 2004; Yeaman, 1989). **Figure 2**, which was adapted from a review article by Wellner and Meister, does not show the final steps of valine and isoleucine metabolism, which results in the production of succinyl-CoA (Wellner and Meister, 1981). In isoleucine metabolism, propionyl-CoA is converted to methylmalonyl-CoA is then converted to succinyl-CoA by methylmalonyl-CoA mutase.



Figure 2. Mechanism of branched-chain amino acid metabolism.

Step by step metabolism of the three BCAAs, leucine, isoleucine, and valine. The first step is catalized by the BCAT proteins reversibly converting BCAAs to BCKAs. BKCDH, marked by an \*, permanently breaks down BCKAs and directs them to their own unique degradation pathway to produce succinyl-CoA (produced from further degradation of methylmalonyl-CoA and propionyl-CoA), acetyl-CoA, and acetoacetic acid. Figure adapted from (Wellner and Meister, 1981)

#### 1.1.3 **Regulation of the BCKDH complex**

The BCKDH complex is associated with a specific set of post-translational regulatory proteins: BCKDH kinase (BDK) and BCKDH phosphatase (BDP) (Damuni et al., 1984; Harris et al., 2004; Paxton and Harris, 1982; Paxton et al., 1986; Popov et al., 1992; Shimomura et al., 1990). When BCAAs are needed for protein synthesis, BDK covalently modifies the complex by phosphorylating specific sites in E1 $\alpha$  causing inactivation of the BCKDH complex (Harris et al., 2004; Paxton and Harris, 1982; Paxton et al., 1986; Popov et al., 1992; Shimomura et al., 1990). Conversely, dephosphorylation of E1 $\alpha$  by BDP occurs when excess BCAAs are present (Damuni et al., 1984; Harris et al., 2004). In MSUD patients, BCKDH complex activity typically ranges from 0-40% of normal levels, and although 80% of catabolized BCAAs are still

recycled into new proteins, the remaining 20% cannot be processed and instead become trapped and build up to toxic levels (Thompson et al., 1990a; Thompson et al., 1990b).

More recently, it was discovered that the BCKDH complex was susceptible to transcriptional regulation via hormones. Stimulation by a cyclic adenosine monophosphate (cAMP) analog, acidification, dexamethasone, and glucocorticoids increased BCKDH enzyme activity in cultured cells (Chicco et al., 1994; Wang et al., 2001); these stimuli were also independently able to increase BCKDH mRNA levels in hepatocytes. cAMP and dexamethasone have been reported to mediate expression of amino acid metabolism enzymes in hepatocytes, such as the tyrosine aminotransferase enzyme complex (Schmid et al., 1987), and urea cycle enzymes (Nebes and Morris, 1988). BCKDH enzyme activity was also significantly increased after subjection to a high protein diet (Harris et al., 1985; Soemitro et al., 1989). This phenomenon was hypothesized to be linked to increased glucagon in the portal circulation following a high protein diet given that glucagon action is mediated by cAMP (Chicco et al., 1994; Eisenstein et al., 1979). cAMP is an important second messenger responsible for the mediation of hormonal effects on many cellular processes. In many of these studies, E2 was determined to have a major role in enzyme flux. When stimulated with cAMP and dexamethasone, the E2 subunit, which exists as a homo-24mer in the final enzyme complex (Chuang and Shih, 2001), displayed the smallest increase in transcription and translation when compared to E1 $\alpha$ , E1 $\beta$ , and E3 suggesting E2 is the limiting subunit for enzyme activity (Chicco et al., 1994). In addition, a pH-responsive element was mapped to a region upstream of the E2 transcriptional start site while dexamethasone could also stimulate E2 promoter activity while concurrently reducing nuclear factor kappa B binding in the E2 promoter (Wang et al., 2001). In

light of these findings, it is likely many more hormonal and protein interactions are able to mediate BCKDH at a pre- and post-transcriptional level.

#### **1.1.4** Many genetic mutations produce disease

All BCKDH complex subunits are essential for enzymatic activity, and each are encoded at different locations in the nuclear genome (Chuang and Shih, 2001; Danner and Doering, 1998; Mueller et al., 1995; Pieneman and Danner, 1994). Therefore, since mutations at any of these loci can produce the disorder, MSUD is a complex disease due to genetic heterogeneity (Chuang and Shih, 2001; Danner and Doering, 1998). There are at least 100 known mutations in BCKDH complex genes that result in the MSUD phenotype; single-base substitutions, and small or large deletions or insertions have all been discovered (Chuang et al., 2006; Chuang and Shih, 2001; Copeland et al., 2004; Danner and Doering, 1998; Pieneman and Danner, 1994). Since the E3 subunit functions in multiple enzyme systems, mutations in E3 affect numerous processes and usually result in prenatal lethality; liveborn E3 mutants are rarely observed (Hong et al., 2003; Johnson et al., 1997). In the Mennonite population, an Y393N point mutation in E1 $\alpha$  is most common (Morton et al., 2002). However, in the general population, E2 mutations are the most prevalent (Chi et al., 2003; Chuang et al., 1995; Chuang et al., 2004; Chuang et al., 1997; Schadewaldt and Wendel, 1997; Silao et al., 2004). For this reason classic and intermediate MSUD mouse models, described below, were created by disrupting the E2 subunit of BCKDH (Homanics et al., 2006).

### 1.1.5 Clinical manifestations

Patients suffering from MSUD show a heterogeneous clinical phenotype due to the disorder's genetic heterogeneity. Four disease classifications exist and all display overlap of gene expression and symptoms (**Table 1**); to further complicate diagnosis, differences in expression and severity of symptoms may be present in individuals with identical mutations (Chuang and Shih, 2001). To aid in classification, disease type is commonly based upon indirect parameters such as increased blood leucine concentration (normal leucine concentration is <0.4mg/mL), age of onset, and residual BCKDH complex activity in cells (Chuang and Shih, 1995; Schadewaldt and Wendel, 1997).

MSUD Variant	<b>Residual BCKDH</b>	Age of	Phenotype
	<b>Enzyme Activity</b>	Onset	
Classic	0-2%	Birth	neurological dysfunction, brain damage and
(accounts for		(1-7 days)	edema, blindness, profound BCKA acidosis,
75% of all			myelinization failure, hyperammonemia,
cases)			coma and infant death
Intermediate	3-30%	Late onset	developmental delay, neurological
		(juvenile-	impairment, failure to thrive, ketoacidosis,
		adult)	seizures
Intermittent	5-20%	5-24	Episodic acute behavioral change, ataxia,
		months;	ketoacidosis, seizures, coma.
		up to 5 <sup>th</sup>	Episodes occur following increased protein
		decade of	consumption, stress, or illness
		life	
Thiamine-	2-40%	Late onset	Similar to intermediate MSUD; responds to
responsive		(juvenile)	thiamine therapy; acts on E2 subunit
E3 Deficient	8-20%	Birth-	developmental delay, neurodegeneration,
		juvenile	hypotonia, ketoacidosis, lactic acidosis,
		-	recurrent myoglobinuria and liver failure,
			reduced ATP synthesis, Leigh's disease

Patients with the most severe or "classic" form of MSUD (cMSUD), usually resulting from a null mutation in the BCKDH complex, have residual enzyme activity between 0-2% of normal levels and exhibit neonatal onset of the disease and many serious clinical manifestations including severe mental retardation stemming from a variety of factors, seizure, coma, and postnatal death (Chuang and Shih, 1995; Chuang and Shih, 2001; Cox and Chuang, 1993; Ogier de Baulny and Saudubray, 2002). Mental retardation frequently observed in cMSUD infants likely occurred as the result of delays in diagnosis and/or treatment at birth (Hilliges et al., 1993; Kaplan et al., 1991; Snyderman, 1988).

Less severe forms of MSUD vary considerably in enzyme activity, disease onset, and symptoms. "Intermediate" MSUD (iMSUD) patients typically have in the range of 3-30% residual BCKDH complex activity and "intermittent" patients have enzyme activity around 5-20%, both with a disease onset ranging from juvenile to late adult (Chuang and Shih, 2001). Individuals with the "thiamine-responsive" form of MSUD present with juvenile disease onset and BCKDH complex activity within 2-40% of normal enzyme levels (Chuang and Shih, 2001). Mutations in the E2 subunit have been associated with thiamine-responsive MSUD (Fisher et al., 1991). E3 deficient MSUD, also known as lipoamide dehydrogenase (LAD) deficiency, is compounded in severity by the fact that E3 is active in two other enzyme complexes both involved in the Krebs cycle and the glycine cleavage system. Most mutations are embryonic lethal, but surviving patients with this disease variant have been reported to contain compound heterozygosity for two mutations (Cerna et al., 2001; Grafakou et al., 2003; Sakaguchi et al., 1986; Shaag et al., 1999). Some LAD patients have developed phenotypic similarities consistent with Leigh's Syndrome (Grafakou et al., 2003). In E3 deficient MSUD, residual enzyme activity

has been reported to be between 8 and 20% and onset is typically between birth and juvenile (Elpeleg et al., 1997).

In general, severity of MSUD clinical manifestations relies mainly on the amount of residual enzyme activity present in patients; increased BCKDH complex activity translates to a milder phenotype with occasional symptomatic episodes (Chuang and Shih, 2001). Therefore, an increase in BCKDH enzyme activity could result in the elimination of disease state.

#### 1.1.6 Treatments and their associated problems

Although there is one widely accepted treatment for MSUD, it is not satisfactory for long-term management of the disease. This method relies on a BCAA-restricted diet, which was first introduced in 1964 as the first successful treatment for MSUD (Snyderman et al., 1964). However, since BCAAs comprise three of the nine essential amino acids, complete restriction retards normal growth and development. BCAAs must be acquired through diet and are necessary not only for growth and overall good body health, but also for protein, neurotransmitter, and branched-chain fatty acid synthesis (Harris et al., 2004). During times of metabolic stress, BCAAs can also serve as energy sources for skeletal muscle, promote protein synthesis, suppress catabolism, and products of BCAA transamination can serve as substrates for gluconeogenesis (Anthony et al., 2001; Gietzen and Magrum, 2001; Layman, 2003; Patti et al., 1998). Dietary management is also complicated by factors causing fluctuation of the body chemistry, such as increased dietary protein, sickness, or stress (Chuang and Shih, 2001). For this reason, cMSUD in particular does not perform well with dietary restriction alone, and high mortality rates and mental retardation is a factor even with attentive care (Cox and Chuang, 1993). The less severe variants of MSUD, although better managed through a BCAA-low diet due to some residual enzyme activity, can still result in serious side effects if not properly monitored. Also, lack of compliance by patients to stay within the strict dietary guidelines can have major consequences for any variant of MSUD; compliance can be very difficult to accomplish since MSUD is primarily a childhood disease.

Although dietary restriction is still very widely used, new therapies have recently become an option in an effort to find a more satisfactory treatment. Aggressive hemodialysis in conjunction with a BCAA-restricted diet at the time of diagnosis has produced favorable results in MSUD neonates, which significantly reduced toxic accumulation of BCAA by 75% within three hours and reduced the risk for permanent neurological impairment (Puliyanda et al., 2002). Other procedures such as continuous hemofiltration, peritoneal dialysis, and exchange transfusions, which are costly and time consuming, have been done with varying levels of success. These are best used to bring down high BCAA levels very quickly, but are not meant for long term treatment. These treatments are mainly used upon initial diagnosis at birth or when individuals go into crisis and must be hospitalized.

OLT has also been investigated as a possible treatment and cure for MSUD (Bodner-Leidecker et al., 2000; Netter et al., 1994; Strauss et al., 2006; Wendel et al., 1999). Patients receiving OLT have met with great success in treatment of MSUD; they no longer require a BCAA-restricted diet and BCKDH enzyme activity was restored to at least the level of very mild MSUD patients. However, these patients are now required to take immunosuppressant drugs for the rest of their lives, and results seen in OLT treatment are comparable to results seen in the long-established and non-invasive BCAA-restricted diet. Clearly, there is a need for alternative therapies to combat this disorder, but OLT has revealed an important fact. Although BCKDH does function in other tissues, restoration of BCKDH enzyme activity in the liver alone was sufficient to cure MSUD, thus providing significant rationale for focusing on liver-directed therapies.

#### 1.1.7 Animal models of disease

Current unsatisfactory treatment options require improved therapies to combat MSUD. However, novel treatment development was delayed by a lack of a suitable animal model. Animal models provide an exceptionally useful system to explore the mechanisms of disease as well as test potential therapies that cannot justifiably be explored in humans without established experimental rationale.

#### **1.1.7.1** Polled Shorthorn and Polled Hereford bovine model

A naturally occurring bovine model of MSUD was identified in Australian Polled Shorthorn and Polled Hereford calves, which was characterized by a rapid onset of central nervous system (CNS) neurological impairment, increased BCAA levels and their related metabolites, reduced BCKDH enzyme activity, and death within a few days of birth (Harper et al., 1989). Bovine MSUD, like the human disease, can be caused by multiple mutations in the genes encoding the BCKDH enzyme (Healy and Dennis, 1994) and is inherited in an autosomal recessive manner (Harper et al., 1986). The most common mutation responsible for the bovine MSUD phenotype corresponded to a premature stop codon in exon 2 of the E1 $\alpha$  subunit due to a single base pair change at residue 248 in Polled Hereford cattle, and most likely a similar mutation in E1 $\alpha$  of Polled Shorthorns (Dennis and Healy, 1999; Zhang et al., 1990). However, brain pathology from a stillborn fetus suggested that disease onset occured prenatally, something aberrant to the human disease, and that a delayed form may also occur in cattle (Harper et al., 1989). Variations to the human disease also existed in the pathological course of progressive deterioration of the CNS from birth to death. Therefore, in addition to the bovine model being undesirable for use in the laboratory due to expense, its difficulty to handle and manipulate, and the long generation time, the bovine model does not accurately mimic the human disease. Therefore it is not ideal to test proposed therapies to treat and cure MSUD that would later be applied to the human disease.

#### **1.1.7.2** ENU-treated mouse model

In 2004, a mouse resembling a MSUD phenotype was identified after random mutagenesis by N-ethyl-N-nitrosourea (ENU) treatment (Wu et al., 2004). This mouse was found to have severely increased blood BCAA levels, a failure to thrive, muscle weakness, and a decreased lifespan, all characteristics associated with human MSUD. However, when the BCKDH enzyme was analyzed it was found to have normal activity, and sequencing of all subunits revealed no mutations in these genes (Wu et al., 2004). Further investigation revealed a mutation in the exon 2/intron 2 splice site of BCATm (Wu et al., 2004), the mitochondrial protein which catalyzes the reversible transamination reaction to convert BCAAs to BCKAs (Figure 1). The mutation resulted in the deletion of exon 2 in BCATm mRNA and a complete loss of BCATm protein and thus enzyme activity in mutant mice (Wu et al., 2004). BCATm was previously identified as a bifunctional protein involved in both BCAA transamination and BCKA transport to the BCKDH complex (Hutson and Hall, 1993). Although ENU-treated mutant mice displayed a similar disease phenotype and responded to a low BCAA diet as seen in MSUD affected individuals, it was not an accurate model of MSUD. Therefore, it is not ideal for testing novel therapies to treat or cure the disease.

#### **1.1.7.3** Dihydrolipoamide dehydrogenase (E3) deficiency in a mouse

In 1997, Johnson et al. created a targeted gene knockout mouse of the DLD (E3) subunit (Johnson et al., 1997), which is active in the BCKDH complex, the  $\alpha$ -ketoglutarate dehydrogenase complex, the pyruvate dehydrogenase complex, and takes part in the glycine cleavage system (Chuang and Shih, 2001). The E3 homozygous knockout was embryonic lethal at the early grastrulation stage, but heterozygous mice developed normally with ~50% activity for all four mitochondrial multienzyme complexes. These mice showed increased sensitivity to the dopaminergic neurotoxin 1-methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,3,6-tetrahydropyridine, which has been used to model Parkinson's disease (Beal, 2001; Klivenyi et al., 2004), and to malonate and 3nitropropionic acid, which has been used to model Huntington's disease (Beal et al., 1993; Klivenyi et al., 2004). These data provided increased rationale that mitochondrial dysfunctions, particularly of the KGDH complex which has reduced activity in the brains of Alzheimers, Parkinson's and Huntington's disease patients, may contribute to the pathogenesis of neurodegenerative disease (Klivenyi et al., 2004; Mizuno et al., 1990). It was later determined that mice heterozygous for E3 had altered neural progenitor cells in the hippocampus of adult mice (Calingasana et al., 2008), further supporting the role of mitochondrial dysfunction in neurodegeneration.

The E3 subunit, since it functions as part of the BCKDH complex, is occasionally determined to be the cause of MSUD in some patients (Sakaguchi et al., 1986; Shaag et al., 1999). However, to avoid the embryonic lethal phenotype associated with the homozygous E3 knockout mouse, heterozygotes were used for analysis resulting in ~50% BCKDH activity, which is typically not associated with an MSUD disease phenotype (Chuang and Shih, 2001; Homanics et al., 2006; Johnson et al., 1997). In addition, the role of E3 in other mitochondrial

multienzyme complexes, which manifested as neurological dysfunction and degeneration in this model, makes the heterozygous E3 knockout a poor model of MSUD to test novel therapies (Calingasana et al., 2008; Klivenyi et al., 2004).

#### 1.1.7.4 Classic MSUD (cMSUD) knockout mouse model

A cMSUD knockout model was created by targeted deletion of exon 5 and part of exon 4 of the E2 subunit of BCKDH through standard gene targeting methods (**Figure 3**) (Homanics et al., 2006); E2 was chosen since mutations causing MSUD are the most prevalent in the general population, as previously stated (Chi et al., 2003; Chuang et al., 1995; Chuang et al., 2004; Chuang et al., 1997; Schadewaldt and Wendel, 1997; Silao et al., 2004).

Knockout mouse pups were born in the expected frequency and were indistinguishable from littermates, confirming that BCKDH was not required for normal embryonic development (Homanics et al., 2006). To characterize cMSUD mice, liver BCKDH enzyme activity, BCAA concentration in the blood, and survival was assessed (**Figure 5**, compared to intermediate MSUD mouse models discussed below). Heterozygous knockout mice had approximately 50% of the enzyme activity of wildtype while homozygote knockouts had a complete lack of BCKDH enzyme activity confirming a null allele (Homanics et al., 2006).

BCAA levels expressed as a ratio to alanine, a much more sensitive indicator of MSUD phenotype than BCAA levels alone (Morton et al., 2002), were equal in the blood of heterozygous and wildtype animals, while homozygote levels were elevated as much as 6-fold above wildtype (**Figure 5B**) (Homanics et al., 2006). Knockout E2 mice accurately mimicked phenotypes observed in patients with the classic form of MSUD and, like diseased humans who fail to receive treatment, died within a few days following birth (**Figure 5C**) (Homanics et al., 2006) greatly limiting treatment options regarding this model.


**Figure 3.** Gene targeting to create the E2 knockout (cMSUD) mouse line. Exons 5 and part of exon 4 in the E2 subunit of the BCKDH complex (1.67kB) were deleted via standard gene targeting procedures to create a gene targeted knockout. Reproduced with permission from (Homanics et al., 2006).

Dr. Susan Hutson (Wake Forest University, Winston-Salem, NC) is currently attempting to engineer a mouse model of classic MSUD that contains the single point mutation, Y393N, in the E1 $\alpha$  subunit, the genetic aberration most commonly found in Mennonite patients (personal communication, Dr. S. Hutson).

#### **1.1.7.5** Intermediate MSUD (iMSUD) transgenic mouse model

An iMSUD model was created by breeding two transgenes onto the E2 knockout background (Homanics et al., 2006). The LAP-tTA transgene contained a liver specific promoter [Liver-enhanced Activator Protein, LAP; (Talbot et al., 1994)] driving the tetracycline transactivator (Kistner et al., 1996). TRE-E2 contained a tetracycline transactivator-regulated human E2 subunit modified to include a c-myc epitope tag at the protein C-terminus (**Figure 4**). The presence of both transgenes directed transgenic human E2 expression to the liver. Animals were designed in this way to allow for tetracycline regulation of gene expression, termed the TetOFF system, which was used previously with great success (Kistner et al., 1996); however this model was not tet-regulatable due to reasons not understood (unpublished observations, G.E.



#### Figure 4. Transgenes expressed on an E2 knockout background.

Transgenes were introduced onto the cMSUD (E2 knockout) background to create iMSUD mice. The LAP-tTA transgene contained a liver specific promoter driving the expression of the tetracycline transactivator (tTA). The TRE-E2 transgene, containing a tetracycline transactivator-regulated human E2 subunit, elicited strong expression when stimulated by tTA. Transgenic human E2 was modified to include a c-myc epitope tag at the protein C-terminus. Reproduced with permission from (Homanics et al., 2006)



#### Figure 5. iMSUD mouse BCAA, BCKDH, and survival compared to cMSUD.

A. Blood BCAA/Ala levels were increased ~22-fold in cMSUD animals above Controls (WT). However, levels in iMSUD animals were increased to a value intermediate between cMSUD and Controls. **B.** BCKDH enzyme activity was between 5-6% of Control activity in iMSUD animals. Enzyme activity was not detectable in cMSUD E2 KOs. C. iMSUD survival compared to cMSUD was greatly improved with most animals living past weaning and into early adulthood; \* = significantly different from Control and cMSUD (p<0.0001), \*\* = significantly different from Control and iMSUD (p<0.0001)

Homanics). Animals in which both transgenes were present transcribed human E2 in the liver, which was sufficient to rescue E2 knockout neonatal lethality increasing survival rate so that most survived beyond weaning and into early adulthood (**Figure 5C**) (Homanics et al., 2006).

Though early characterization revealed that the TetOff system was not functioning in the iMSUD mouse lines, it was discovered that blood BCAA levels expressed as a ratio to alanine were elevated approximately 16-fold above littermate controls (Figure 5A) (Homanics et al., 2006). This averaged value was intermediate between Controls (WT) and cMSUD levels (~22fold above Controls), though values varied substantially between individuals. This was a fortunate surprise; initial rationale for using the TetOff system was so the model would be physiologically normal (i.e., identical to WT) and develop until such time it was given tetracycline to cease E2 expression creating a mature E2 knockout, or cMSUD model. This discovery made tetracycline regulation of the transgenes unnecessary. In contrast to the increase in BCAA levels, alanine, glutamate, and glutamine in the blood were all significantly reduced in iMSUD mice compared to wildtype controls (Homanics et al., 2006). BCKDH enzyme activity in the livers of iMSUD mice was also examined and found to be about 5-6% of normal, which was a significant improvement from the undetectable BCKDH activity levels associated with the cMSUD model (Figure 5B) (Homanics et al., 2006). Human iMSUD has been characterized as having a residual BCKDH enzyme activity in the range of 3-30% of normal (Chuang and Shih, 2001). iMSUD mice also suffered from a reduced life span compared to controls though survival was significantly increased over cMSUD, which did not typically survive more than 72 hours (Figure 5C) (Homanics et al., 2006). However, it is important to mention iMSUD mice surviving to early adulthood were able to breed and produce normal offspring.

Taken together, the generation of MSUD mouse models has provided excellent animal resources for the testing of novel therapies for MSUD due to their strikingly similar phenotype to human disease patients. Heterozygous cMSUD animals, similar to human disease carriers, had 50% BCKDH activity while maintaining normal BCAA levels, growth, and longevity, which supplied rationale for pursuing therapies to restore BCKDH complex activity since 100% of wildtype activity was not required to be healthy. iMSUD animals displayed intermediate levels of blood BCAA compared to WT and cMSUD mice, had increased BCKDH activity, and were able to survive beyond weaning and into early adulthood in many cases. Therefore, it was determined to be a superior model for testing proposed therapies delineated in this dissertation. Additional characterization of the iMSUD mouse model will be presented and discussed in the upcoming Section 2.0.

## **1.2 GENE THERAPY**

Gene therapy can be defined as the delivery of genetic material, either DNA or RNA, to the cell nucleus in order to manipulate the endogenous nuclear information for the purpose of treating or preventing an inherited or acquired disease (Crystal, 1995; Miller, 1992; Mulligan, 1993). The concept of gene therapy was first introduced in the early 1970's after the discovery of recombinant DNA technology (Friedmann and Roblin, 1972). Though clinical trials were underway very early to test this novel therapy, Friedmann and Roblin called for the development of ethical guidelines, clinical protocols, and opposed any further human application until knowledge of basic genetic processes, such as gene regulation and the relationship between genetics and disease, were expanded upon. Such a vast undertaking would optimize the general model of gene therapy, increase long-term success, and eliminate a possible misuse by premature application (Friedmann and Roblin, 1972).

#### **1.2.1** Methods of administration: non-viral and viral

There are two basic methods for delivering a therapeutic gene to a cell: viral and nonviral. Viruses naturally evolved to effectively deliver genetic material to a specific cell's nucleus while bypassing host immunosurveillance, and are therefore very attractive for use as a vector system for delivering therapeutic genes (Robbins and Ghivizzani, 1998; Smith and Enquist, 2002; Walther and Stein, 2000). Approximately 70% of clinical trials worldwide utilize gene therapy vectors derived from viruses, but non-viral approaches are gaining popularity due to reduced limitations (e.g., viral packaging restrictions) and less chance of immunologic and mutagenic problems (Eliyahu et al., 2005; Walther and Stein, 2000).

#### **1.2.1.1** Nonviral gene therapy

Non-viral gene therapies (summarized in **Table 2**) include direct injection of naked DNA into cells by a "gene gun" (Albertini et al., 1996; Rakhmilevich et al., 1997), oral gene therapy (Rothman et al., 2005), conjugation of DNA to various proteins (e.g., antibodies, polycations) to efficiently direct the complex to specific cell surface proteins or receptors (Feero et al., 1997; Shimizu et al., 1996), and liposomes. Of the non-viral methods currently available, cationic liposomes, or spontaneously assembled lipids surrounding negatively charged therapeutic DNA, are used most often in human gene therapies (Eliyahu et al., 2005; Gao and Huang, 1995; Liu et al., 1996; Robbins and Ghivizzani, 1998). Liposomes are not pathogenic and can be used for multiple administrations, but transfection efficiency is very low compared to viral gene delivery

– a common problem with non-viral delivery. In order to increase DNA transport into the nucleus, non-viral vectors are manufactured to be more virus-like by conjugation to defective viral particles, proteins, or peptides (Nguyen et al., 1997; Robbins and Ghivizzani, 1998).

Non-viral	Advantages	Disadvantages
vector		
Gene "gun"	Can transfer gene to quiescent cells, cheap	Variable transfection efficiency,
	and easy to prepare, gold beads are not	transient gene expression
	cleared from skin – may be useful in wound	
	healing, unlimited packaging capacity	
Oral	Easy administration that can be done at	Low transfection efficiency; must
	home, easily altered dose, nonpathogenic,	protect gene from harsh stomach
	unlimited packaging capacity	environment, very transient
		expression – must be
		readministered very frequently (i.e.,
		daily), expensive
Liposomes	Nonpathogenic, multiple administrations	Low transfection efficiency,
(cationic,	possible, cheap and easy to produce,	transient gene expression
anionic)	unlimited packaging capacity	
DNA	Efficient direction of a gene or complex to	Low transfection efficiency,
conjugation	specific cells through cell surface	depending on the conjugate: risk of
	proteins/receptors, unlimited packaging	immune response
	capacity	
Non-	Higher transfection efficiency, unlimited	Possible immune response to viral
viral/viral	packaging capacity	proteins
hybrids		

Table 2. Non-viral gene therapy advantages and disadvantages.

#### **1.2.1.2** Viral gene therapy

There are also several viruses which have been modified for use as efficient gene therapy vectors such as retrovirus, adenovirus, adeno-associated virus (AAV), herpes-simplex virus (HSV), and pox virus, among others. Each viral system, briefly described below, has its own specific advantages, disadvantages, and limitations (summarized in **Table 3**); therefore, each has specific applications for which they are best suited. Each modified gene therapy vector has also

been used in human clinical trials or animal models targeting disease, some of which have been summarized in **Table 4**.

Retroviral vectors, which include lentiviruses and the murine leukemia virus, are derived from small viruses that reverse-transcribe their single stranded RNA viral genome into a double stranded DNA provirus which can integrate into the host genome (Robbins and Ghivizzani, 1998; Walther and Stein, 2000). Although a large packaging capacity and the ability to integrate allowing for long term and stable expression of a transgene make retroviruses an attractive vector for gene therapy, nonspecific or random integration can have dire consequences such as in the recent retroviral X-linked severe combined immunodeficiency (X-SCID) clinical trial (Hacein-Bey-Abina, 2003; Woods et al., 2006). Therefore, until retroviral vectors can perhaps be directed to a specific site in the genome that is known to be harmless, risk of cancer or other genetic disruptions due to random vector integration will be a major concern for their use in gene therapy to treat human disease.

Adenoviruses, discovered in 1953, are non-enveloped, linear, double stranded DNA viruses that can accommodate approximately 7-8 kb of foreign DNA (Enders et al., 1956; Graham and Prevec, 1995). The major disadvantage of adenoviruses as viral vectors is their associated pathogenicity to humans, not only producing a cell-mediated immune response but also a humoral response (Walther and Stein, 2000). Therefore, repeat administration may not be possible. Many attempts have been taken to create an immunologically safer adenovirual vector for gene therapy. However, many viruses with deleted genes still produced viral proteins and stimulated a host immune response (Graham and Prevec, 1995) that resulted in cell death and a loss of therapeutic gene expression (Yang et al., 1995; Yang et al., 1994). However, "gutted" adenoviral vectors devoid of all viral genes leaving only the inverted terminal repeats eliminated

all viral gene expression and thus any host immune response, and increased packaging capacity

(Kochanek et al., 1996; Parks et al., 1996). Despite adenovirus disadvantages (Table 3),

replication-defective vectors have been involved in greater than 60 human trials with varying

Viral Vector	Advantages	Disadvantages	
Retroviral	Large packaging capacity (7-8kb), stable	Random integration into host	
	integration into host DNA, broad cell	genome, vector instability, difficult	
	tropism, ease of viral genome	specific cell targeting, infects	
	manipulation	dividing cells only	
Lentiviral	Infect dividing and quiescent cells, stable	Presence of viral protein sequences	
	gene expression, large packaging capacity	in the constructs, potential	
	(10kb)	insertional mutagenesis	
Adenovirus	High gene expression, large packaging	Transient gene expression, host	
	capacity (7-8kb), infects dividing and	immune response, no integration	
	quiescent cells, broad cell tropism	into host genome	
Adeno-	infect dividing and quiescent cells, broad	limited packaging capacity (4kb),	
associated	cell tropism, potential of targeted	typically no integration into host	
virus	integration, low to no immune response,	genome, neutralizing antibodies,	
	nonpathogenic	possible cellular immune response	
Herpes-	Infects wide variety of cell types, large	No integration into host genome,	
simplex virus	packaging capacity (50kb), natural	possible toxicity, recombination	
	tropism for neuronal cells, ability to infect	risk, very short expression except in	
	quiescent cells	neuronal cells	
Pox virus	Large packaging capacity (25kB), high	Produces humoral and cytotoxic	
(vaccinia)	cytoplasmic expression, ability to produce	immune responses, no integration	
	humoral response makes it promising for	into the host genome	
	vaccines, wide cell tropism	_	

**Table 3. Gene therapy viral vector advantages and disadvantages.**Table adapted from (Walther and Stein, 2000)

results (some in **Table 4**) mostly producing a high level, though transient, of gene expression. For this reason, adenovirus may not be appropriate for inherited disorders which require a high level of gene expression for the lifetime of the recipient, but may be more useful for diseases requiring only transient expression such as cancers (Robbins and Ghivizzani, 1998). HSV is a large linear, double stranded DNA virus with a 50kB packaging capacity (Robbins and Ghivizzani, 1998; Walther and Stein, 2000). While HSV does elicit an immune response (Wu et al., 1996), the virus can also establish latency in neuronal cells lasting for years. That characteristic makes HSV especially appealing for the treatment of neurological diseases, such as Parkinson's and Alzheimers (Robbins and Ghivizzani, 1998), though the virus has a fairly wide tropism for other cell types, specifically muscle and liver. However, a recurring problem with HSV is transient gene expression in non-neuronal cell types; transgene expression is shut down typically within one week post-infection and only the latency promoter of neuronal cells escapes this inactivation (Robbins and Ghivizzani, 1998). This defines a major limitation of HSV driven gene therapy; the reason behind this serious issue must be elucidated and resolved prior to application of HSV for the correction of human disease.

Pox viruses, which are members of the Poxviridae family, such as vaccinia virus, have a high packaging capacity (25kB), can accommodate multiple foreign genes, and are widely used for their high level of cytoplasmic expression of transgenes (Walther and Stein, 2000). They are of great interest for vaccination strategies since Pox viruses are known to induce cell mediated and humoral immune responses. Thus far, Pox viruses have been utilized in clinical trials to treat human papillomavirus, human immunodeficiency virus type 1 (HIV-1), and various cancers (Emery et al., 2005; Kaufmann et al., 2002; McAneny et al., 1996). Despite these successes, due to host immune response associated with Pox viruses, they are not ideal gene therapy vectors to use for correction of metabolic disease.

 Table 4. Examples of gene therapy viral vectors targeting disease.

Viral Vector	Animal	Disease and Reference		
Retrovirus	Human	MSUD (in fibroblasts) (Koyata et al., 1993; Mueller et al., 1995); X-		
		linked granulomatous disease (Ott et al., 2006); Gaucher disease,		
		arthritis, cancers (Robbins et al., 1994); X-SCID (Aiuti et al., 2002;		
		Gaspar et al., 2004; Hacein-Bey-Abina et al., 2002)		
Retrovirus	Mouse	Tyrosenemia type1 (Overturf et al., 1996); melanoma (Abad et al.,		
		2008); Factor IX (FIX) (Chen et al., 2006); type 1 diabetes (Xu et al.,		
		2007); α-thalassemia (Han et al., 2007)		
Adenovirus	Human	Ornithine transcarbamylase deficiency (Batshaw et al., 1999; Raper e		
		al., 2003; Raper et al., 2002); cystic fibrosis (Bellon et al., 1997;		
		Boucher et al., 1994); vascular disease (Isner et al., 1995); prostate		
		cancer (Shirakawa et al., 2007); solid tumor cancers (Nemunaitis et		
		al., 2007); squamous head and neck cancer (Kırn et al., 1998)		
Adenovirus	Mouse	Hyperoxaluria type 1 (Salido et al., 2006), muscular dystrophy		
		(Deconinck et al., 1996)		
HSV	Human	Glioblastoma (cultured cells) (Aghi et al., 2006; Hoshi et al., 2000)		
HSV	Rat	Malignant glioma (Boviatsis et al., 1994); FIX, hepatitis B		
		(Miyanohara et al., 1992); Parkinson's disease (neurons) (During et		
		al., 1994); mucopolysaccharidosis VII (Wolfe et al., 1992); chronic		
		root nerve pain (Liu et al., 2004; Zhou et al., 2008)		
Pox Virus	Human	HIV-1 (Dorrell et al., 2006; Emery et al., 2005; Ondondo et al.,		
		2006); HPV (Albarran et al., 2007; Kaufmann et al., 2002); prostate		
		cancer (DiPaola et al., 2006); colorectal cancer (McAneny et al.,		
		1996)		
Pox Virus	Mouse	Type I diabetes (Denes et al., 2006); HIV-1 (Bolesta et al., 2006);		
	**	ovarian cancer (Hung et al., 2007); breast cancer (Zhang et al., 2007)		
AAV	Human	Parkinson's disease (Kaplitt et al., 2007); cystic fibrosis (Moss et al.,		
		2007); rheumatoid arthritis (Boissier et al., 2007); FIX (Manno et al.,		
		2003; Manno et al., 2006)		
AAV	Mouse	Niemann-Pick type A (AAV2) (Dodge et al., 2005); phenylketonuria		
		(AAV5) (Mochizuki et al., 2004), AAV8, liver-directed (Ding et al.,		
		2006), AAV2, muscle-directed (Ding et al., 2008); $\alpha$ 1-antitrypsin		
		(AAV2/8) (Conlon et al., 2005); Limb-Girdle muscular dystrophy		
		(AAVI) (Pacak et al., 2007); glycogen storage disease (AAV2/8)		
	D	(Sun et al., 2005a), Factor VIII (AAV8) (Sarkar et al., 2004)		
AAV	Dog	FIX (AAV8, AAV2/8) (Wang et al., 2005b); FVIII (AAV2) (Scallan $(1 - 2002)$ )		
		et al., 2003)		

#### 1.2.2 Adeno-associated viral vectors

Adeno-associated viruses (AAVs) are non-enveloped Dependoviruses derived from the nonpathogenic Parvoviridae family first discovered as a contaminant in adenovirus preparations (Atchison et al., 1965). Wildtype virus can infect both non-dividing and dividing cells and can stably integrate into the human genome at a specific location on chromosome 19 (19q13.3-qter, AAVS1) without negative consequences which allows viral DNA to be perpetuated through host cell division (Samulski, 1993). All eleven naturally occurring serotypes currently known are replication-deficient requiring a helper virus, such as adenovirus or HSV, for viral replication (Atchison et al., 1965; Choi et al., 2005).

AAV viruses are one of the smallest viruses with only a ~26nm capsid and a linear single-stranded DNA genome of ~4.7kB (Lusby et al., 1980). The small genome contains two viral genes for *rep* (replication) and *cap* (capsid) proteins (Robbins and Ghivizzani, 1998), and two GC-rich 145-base pair inverted terminal repeats (ITR) that fold into a characteristic T-shaped hairpin structure at either end of the linear genome (Koczot et al., 1973). ITRs can act as a free 3'-OH for viral replication initiation and are required for DNA packaging; both plus and minus strands are packaged into capsids with equal efficiency. Through different *rep* promoters and alternative splicing (Mendelson et al., 1986), the *rep* gene encodes four proteins (*rep78*, *rep68*, *rep52*, and *rep48*), and similarly for the *cap* gene, capsid proteins VP1, VP2, and VP3 are encoded through alternative splicing and codon start sites (Trempe and Carter, 1988). The three capsid proteins are assembled in a 1:1:10 ratio, respectively (Linden and Berns, 2000).

To create a recombinant vector for gene therapy studies, *rep* and *cap trans*-acting genes are deleted leaving only the *cis*-acting ITRs required for capsid packaging. However, removal of all viral genes only allows for the packaging of up to 4.7kB of foreign DNA, one of the major

limiting factors of this viral vector (Dong et al., 1996). Also, since integration at the human AAVS1 locus requires interaction with *rep* proteins, removal of the *rep* gene results in a loss of the ability for AAV to integrate into the human host genome (Samulski, 1993), another disadvantage. However, it has been shown that free AAV DNA genomes can form stable episomal circular or linear concatemers (Nakai et al., 1996; Yang et al., 1999), and can result in long-term recombinant AAV (rAAV) transgene expression from a single dose (Koeberl et al., 1997; Mochizuki et al., 2004; Wang et al., 2005a), especially in nondividing cell types such as liver. Importantly, the helper-free triple transfection method, an efficient method for producing high titres of pure, uncontaminated rAAV now exists (Xiao et al., 1998b). Prior to its development, AAV stocks frequently became contaminated with helper virus; wildtype adenovirus was difficult to separate from AAV stock, and use of an E1-deleted replication-deficient adenovirus held the risk of recombination to recreate wildtype adenovirus (Goncalves, 2005; Xiao et al., 1998b). Any contaminating helper virus reduced rAAV stock safety due to an increased risk of eliciting an immune response in recipients.

One significant advantage associated with AAV vectors is their ability to infect both nondividing and dividing cells from a very wide variety of species and cell types due to attachment receptors and coreceptors. Heparin sodium proteoglyan and O- and N-linked sialic acids are among the few primary receptors that have been identified (Kaludov et al., 2001; Summerford and Samulski, 1998). Coreceptors are also required for efficient infection and can significantly influence a serotype's specificity, thus resulting in superior targeting of a certain cell type. For example, AAV8 selectively transduced hepatocytes 10-100 times more efficiently than all other serotypes (Sun et al., 2005b; Xiao et al., 1998a) and displayed high tropism for heart and muscle (Wang et al., 2005b), which may be related to currently unidentified coreceptors on the AAV8 capsid surface (Nam et al., 2007). More recently, these differences in capsid receptors and cell specificity have been used to create new hybrid AAV serotypes in attempts to enhance cell targeting and improve gene therapy vectors (Choi et al., 2005). Methods for creating hybrid vectors that have been investigated are transcapsidation (packaging of one serotype's genome into another serotype's capsid), capsid adsorption modification (peptides are adsorbed onto the capsid surface), mosaic capsid (mixture of two different serotype's unmodified capsid proteins are assembled), and chimeric capsid (modified capsid proteins, in which peptide sequences are added to the VP sequence, are assembled) (Choi et al., 2005).

At the cellular level, there are several major steps involved in AAV infection (Choi et al., 2005; Ding et al., 2005): cell attachment by receptors and coreceptors, internalization by endocytosis, intracellular trafficking to the nucleus and endosomal escape, uncoating of virus [which may occur either within or prior to delivery to the nucleus, which is dependent upon the absence or presence of helper virus (Xiao et al., 2002)], and finally viral genome conversion from single to double-stranded DNA capable of acting as a template for transcription. Intracellular trafficking is a major rate limiting step in the absence of helper virus (Ding et al., 2005). In the presence of adenovirus, AAV and helper virus is quickly dynamin-dependently endocytosed through clathrin-coated pits (Bartlett et al., 2000), which translocates through the endosomal compartment to arrive inside the nucleus in less than an hour as intact viral particles (Xiao et al., 2002). Capsid was then shed within the nucleus and viral replication initiated. Conversely, translocation to the nucleus in the absence of helper virus required 12+ hours and initiation of replication, and thus expression of any transgene, required several days (Goncalves, 2005; Xiao et al., 2002). Capsid proteins were also shed before or during nuclear entry in the

absence of helper virus. Once endocytosed within a host cell the precise mechanism for AAV intracellular trafficking is unknown, though it was reported that AAV was unidirectionally transported to the nucleus by microtubule motors (Seisenberger et al., 2001). Several potential pathways of endosomal processing in the absence of helper virus have been suggested (Ding et al., 2005) stating that acidification of virus inside the late endosome or lysosome may be critical to ubiquitination of capsid and initiation of nuclear transport, and other viral processing inside the golgi or early endosome may also have significant roles.

Methods independent of coinfection with a helper to alter intracellular trafficking and speed up translocation to the nucleus have not been efficiently developed. Therefore attempts to speed other rate limiting steps were investigated, such as conversion from a single to double stranded viral genome. Once inside the nucleus, the single-stranded AAV DNA genome must convert to a double-stranded DNA to act as a template for transcription by either *de novo* DNA synthesis of a complementary strand using host cell DNA polymerase, or by annealing sense and antisense strands together (Choi et al., 2005; Goncalves, 2005), which are both very slow processes. Although self-complementary AAV (scAAV) viruses were able to quickly and efficiently fold back on themselves to form a double stranded DNA template which led to increased transcription-competent double-stranded genomes and improved expression yields, vector design required that AAV vector packaging be essentially cut in half greatly reducing an already limited packaging capacity (McCarty et al., 2001). Therefore, scAAV vectors would only be useful when therapeutic genes of interest were ~2.3kB or smaller.

Despite the high incidence of human seropositive screens [~80%+ for AAV2; other serotypes have not yet been tested on a grand scale (Xie et al., 2002)], AAV has not been linked to any disease (Blacklow et al., 1968; Goncalves, 2005; Moskalenko et al., 2000). However, a

humoral immune response to AAV exists, which signals the production of neutralizing antibodies (Hernandez et al., 1999). Although infection of targeted cells may still be possible in the presence of very large doses, neutralizing antibodies have been shown to significantly reduce or ablate AAV-mediated gene expression due to antibody targeting and destruction of AAV (Moskalenko et al., 2000). This may severely limit AAV-mediated gene therapy since much of the normal population is seropositive for many AAV serotypes, and readministration of a vector may not be possible. However, this issue was overcome through the use of transient immunosuppression following re-administration of a serotype (Halbert et al., 1997; Hernandez et al., 1999; Manning et al., 1998). Reverse genetic approaches are also being investigated as a way to circumvent AAV destruction by neutralizing *in vivo* allowing for initial therapy in seropositive individuals or repeated administration (Moskalenko et al., 2000). Reverse genetics approaches would involve administration of peptides mapped to identified regions of the AAV capsid containing immunogenic epitopes which could be used to block neutralizing antibody binding and thereby allow AAV infection without detection.

In some cases in gene knockouts, a cellular response was observed against the unfamiliar viral transgene product (Fields et al., 2001; Manno et al., 2006). However, more recently cellular immune responses to the capsid proteins of AAV were acknowledged in clinical trials (Mingozzi and High, 2007), which did not occur in previous animal studies with the vector (Li et al., 2007). The Mingozzi and High (2007) publication suggests that humans carry a population of antigen-specific memory CD8(+) T cells most likely arising from wild-type AAV infections which then expand upon re-exposure to capsid proteins. Around the same time these papers were published, something occurred that shocked the AAV gene therapy circuit – a patient in a Phase 1 clinical trial to cure active inflammatory arthritis died on July 24, 2007 (Weiss, 2007).

This resulted in the temporary halt of all AAV clinical trials and a federal investigation into this death and all other trials involving AAV (Kaiser, 2007). A link was not found between the viral vector and the recent death, but current and future AAV studies and clinical trials will most likely experience a more thorough screening prior to approval. This event also caused a significant black mark in the minds of the general public towards gene therapy, one of several since the death of Jesse Gelsinger after receiving adenovirus gene therapy in 1999, and three others developed leukemia following retroviral gene therapy (Marshall, 2002; Teichler, 2000).

Despite various disadvantages, such as questions involving a recent clinical death, a small packaging capacity, slow infection rates, and others summarized in **Table 3**, AAV's advantages over other viral gene therapy vectors, most notably their inability to produce disease, makes AAV a superior vector for treatment of monogenetic disease. AAV has already been used in a multitude of clinical trials, some progressing to Phase III, and treatment of various inherited diseases in animal models, some of which are summarized in **Table 4**. Also, due to AAV8's reported ability to transduce hepatocytes with a greater efficiency than other AAV serotypes (Sun et al., 2005b; Xiao et al., 1998a), and AAV concatemer persistence particularly in quiescent cells such as liver, it was determined to be a superior vector for delivering a therapeutic gene to liver in a mouse model of iMSUD.

## **1.3 CELL-BASED THERAPIES**

Gene therapy and cell-based therapies could be considered overlapping fields since they involve similar therapeutic objectives. Gene therapy involves administration of a specific defective gene to a patient's endogenous cells, which produce long-term expression and restore "normal" cell function to correct disease. Cellular therapy involves administration of healthy cells that will operate independently from defective endogenous cells, and increase tissue function and restore "normal" processes to correct disease. Cellular therapy may be advantageous since transplanted cells are self-contained, and therefore any issues involving compatibility or interaction of a transgenic protein with endogenous cellular machinery would not be a concern as it might be with gene therapy.

There exists a great deal of rationale for the use of cellular transplantation (CTx) in place of whole organ transplantation. CTx is a nonsurgical procedure with less associated morbidity and a reduced recovery time (Strom et al., 2006a). In patients with whole organ failure, CTx could be used as a bridging therapy to extend life until a donor organ becomes available, but for those with a metabolic disorder CTx could be administered on an outpatient basis or during a brief hospitalization to monitor the patient (Strom et al., 2006a). As with whole organ transplant, CTx requires donor cell matching to the recipient unless a patient's own cells can be used. Therefore, locating a suitable match could still pose a problem, but unlike whole organ transplant, one donor organ could provide cells to transplant many recipients helping to alleviate the high demand for donor organs. Following cell CTx, required long-term immunosuppressive therapy would be expensive, but initial cost of CTx is estimated to be  $\sim$ 5-10% of whole organ transplantation (Strom et al., 2006a). Conversely, without transplantation, metabolic disorders managed by special dietary formulas, such as MSUD, are also very costly and often require frequent and expensive hospitialization in times of metabolic crisis despite attentive life-long Thus, even partial corrections of metabolic disease by CTx could be a cost effective care. therapy expected to significantly improve quality of life for the patient.

Occasionally a patient's own cells can be harvested, expanded in culture, and transplanted for therapeutic use to bypass any immunologic issues. This is possible in the treatement of certain kinds of cancers or HIV/AIDS (Avunduk and Tekelioglu, 2006; Woffendin et al., 2001) or repairing a damaged cornea when the injury is unilateral (Quintarelli et al., 2008) to name a few. In other cases, such as with bone marrow, bone marrow stem cells (BMSC), or peripheral blood stem cells, family members are likely matches eliminating the need for many to wait an indeterminate amount of time for a suitable donor.

Although there are many significant advantages for the use of CTx as discussed above, disadvantages and limitations exist, which are summarized in Table 5 for some of the most commonly transplanted cell types. One of the major limitations for hematopoietic stem cell and bone marrow transplantation, the majority of cells transplanted clinically, is the phenomenon of graft-vs-host disesase (Chu and Gress, 2008) which occurs in 25-80% of cases with varying presentations and a significant incidence of associated morbidity and death (Baird and Pavletic, 2006). Graft-vs-host disease, though poorly understood, is a result of immune reactions between donor-derived immune cells and the host's endogenous cell populations, which can result in the presentation of autoimmune-like or immunodeficient-like diseases. Embryonic stem cells (ESC) can be differentiated into various cell types in vitro and have been proposed as an alternate source of bone marrow cells (Burt et al., 2004). Although no evidence of graft-vs-host disease was found in major histocompatibility complex-mismatched ESC-derived hematopoietic cells transplanted into donor mice (Burt et al., 2004), the presence of both a humoral and cellular immune responses to transplanted ESC cells in non-syngeneic mouse myocardium suggested a need for immunosuppressive therapy following future transplants involving ESCs (Kofidis et al., 2005). However, the recent creation of induced pluripotent stem (iPS) cells, which could be

Cell type	Notes and limitations
Bone marrow	Requires immunologic cell matching to recipients, though family members
(BM)	are likely donors; ~25% rejection rate; invasive procedure to collect cells;
	can cause graft-vs-host disease
Bone marrow	Invasive procedure to collect from marrow; must be closely matched to
stem cells	recipient; can be differentiated into a variety of cell types, including blood
(BMSC)	forming, cardiac, and hepatic (controversial) cells; differentiation often
	requires strong <i>in vitro</i> pressure; cells have been shown to fuse with
	endogenous cells once transplanted; difficult to maintain <i>in vitro</i> ; can cause
	graft-vs-host disease
Peripheral	Less invasive to collect than BMSC, though difficult to obtain enough for
blood stem cells	transplant due to their numbers in blood; must be closely matched to
(PBSC)	recipient; can cause graft-vs-host disease
Cord blood	Much easier to collect than either BMSC or PBSC since umbilical cord blood
stem cells	is often saved after birth; can obtain a large number of cells from a small
	amount of blood; less likely to be rejected or attack the host (graft-vs-host
	disease); relatively new source for hematopoietic stem cells still being
	characterized
T-lymphocytes	Patient's own cells can be expanded and transplanted for the treatment of
	certain types of cancers or HIV/AIDS; can cause graft-vs-host disease if a
	donor is used
Mesenchymal	Must be closely matched to recipients; easily isolated from adult bone
stromal stem	marrow, though requires an invasive procedure; mix of mature and immature
cells	cell types and though able to differentiate, requires strong <i>in vitro</i> pressure;
	can cause graft-vs-host disease
Hepatocytes	Requires cell matching by blood type to recipients; difficult to maintain in
	vitro; efforts to freeze cells for later use are not reliable; requires
<b>P</b> 1	immunosuppression in most cases; already some success clinically
Embryonic	Can be differentiated into theoretically any cell type, though differentiation
stem cells	protocols and user success varies greatly from report to report; limited
(ESC)	useable numan lines, limited private funding/opportunities to derive new
	lines; easy to maintain <i>in vitro</i> ; transplantation of undifferentiated cells can
	aevelop into tumors

made from a patient's own cells, differentiated *in vitro*, and transplanted to cure disease, may solve immunogenic issues associated with traditional ESCs (Takahashi et al., 2007).

Cellular transplantation as a cure for liver disease, with a focus on metabolic liver disorders, is a thrilling concept. Initially, the ability for BMSCs to efficiently and effectively differentiate into functional hepatocyte-like cells caused a great deal of excitement in the field. BMSC-derived hepatocyte-like cells were reportedly able to correct a mouse model of tyrosinemia type 1 (Lagasse et al., 2000), and transplantation of highly purified human BMSCs could induce albumin-producing colonies of hepatocyte-like cells in mouse liver (Wang et al., 2003a). However, liver repopulation was hypothesized to be a slow, rare event due to few BMSC-derived cells in liver 7 weeks post-transplant (Wang et al., 2002). Later Wang et al. (2003b) determined transplanted cells were fusing with endogenous hepatocytes, not differenentiating from BMSC. Soon after, other groups independently reported no evidence of liver regeneration or the existence of hepatocyte-like cells following BMSC transplantation (Cantz et al., 2004; Kanazawa and Verma, 2003). Currently, two cell types hold the greatest promise for treatment of liver disease, differentiated ESC and isolated hepatocytes. Both are discussed in greater detail below.

## **1.3.1** Hepatocyte transplant

The need for donor organs greatly outweighs their availability. On average, greater than 20,000 patients are awaiting donor livers for transplantation in the United States alone, and within one year only roughly one third will receive them (Strom et al., 2006a). Many will die before a liver becomes available. Clearly there is a need for a therapeutic alternative to OLT to alleviate the overwhelming demand for donor organs.

The most likely source of hepatocytes for cell transplant are livers that have been rejected for use in OLT (Strom et al., 2006a; Strom et al., 2006b). Therefore, high transplant-quality cells must be harvested from organs deemed unsuitable for whole organ transplant due to >50% steatosis (i.e., fatty deposits) or other adverse factors. Other sources of hepatocytes, such as immortalized human liver lines (Kobayashi et al., 2000; Wege et al., 2003), xenotransplants (Nagata et al., 2003), hepatocytes from aborted fetuses (Habibullah et al., 1994; Malhi et al., 2002), and ESCs differentiated into hepatocyte-like cells discussed later (Fair et al., 2005; Hu et al., 2006; Ishii et al., 2007; Sharma et al., 2008; Soto-Gutiérrez et al., 2006; Tabei et al., 2005) have been suggested with exciting results in animal models. However, each alternate source carries their own disadvantages and concerns, most of which revolve around safety and ethics.

## **1.3.1.1** HTx in Use: proof of concept

Hepatocyte transplantation (HTx) has previously been investigated and implemented as a novel short-term "bridging" therapy to support liver function until a donor liver becomes available in times of liver injury or acute failure (Bilir et al., 2000; Fisher et al., 2000; Strom et al., 1999; Strom et al., 1997). In some cases of acute liver failure where regeneration of a few surviving hepatocytes is not enough to overtake the rate of massive cell loss, hepatocyte transplantation may provide enough relief for the patient's surviving liver cells, by working with transplanted cells, to regenerate the liver fully (Strom et al., 1999). This seemed to be the case in two patients with fulminant hepatic failure, who no longer required OLT after receiving HTx (Ott et al., 2004; Soriano, 2002).

HTx has had initial laboratory and clinical successes in the treatment of inherited and metabolic liver disorders such as Crigler-Najjar syndrome (Fox et al., 1998; Groth et al., 1977; Matas et al., 1976; Vroemen, 1986), glycogen storage disease, type 1 (Muraca et al., 2002a),

Wilson's disease (Irani et al., 2001), phenylketonuria (Hamman et al., 2005), Factor VII (Dahwan et al., 2004), an inborn error of fatty acid metabolism (Sokal et al., 2003), and a urea cycle disorder (Horslen et al., 2003). HTx has also been successful at improving metabolic defects, such as albumin secretion (Moscioni et al., 1989; Oren et al., 1999) and tyrosinemia (Overturf et al., 1996). Numerous studies in animal models have also indicated that hepatocytes transplanted into the spleen or the portal vein displayed normal hepatic function and survived for the life-time of the recipient (Gupta et al., 1991; Holzman et al., 1993; Mito et al., 1979; Ponder et al., 1991). Additionally, it has been demonstrated that within two minutes of injection, ~55% of cells migrated via the splenic and portal vein into the liver (Ponder et al., 1991). However, since hepatocytes are large enough to plug the liver microvasculature which may lead to greater repopulation of the liver over time (Strom et al., 2006b), it could also lead to micro emboli in the peripheral veins when large numbers of hepatocytes were infused (Horslen et al., 2003; Strom et al., 1997). Therefore, one group developed an efficient method to implant large numbers of hepatocytes into the subcutaneous cavity by first establishing a neovascularized network through gradual release of basic FGF, a potent agent of angiogenesis (Ohashi et al., 2005; Yokoyama et Prepared hepatocytes were later implanted inside; the establishment of a al., 2006). neovascularized space overcame previous hepatocyte survival issues following transplantation into the unprepared subcutaneous space (Ohashi et al., 2005; Yokoyama et al., 2006).

In addition to the above mentioned metabolic liver diseases that have been treated clinically by HTx with good success, there are several points that provide rationale for the use of HTx specifically for the treatment of MSUD. Human MSUD carriers expressing 50% of whole body BCKDH activity rarely display symptoms (Chuang and Shih, 2001), which was also true for iMSUD mice (Homanics et al., 2006). Furthermore, OLT was also recently determined to be

an adequate treatment for MSUD resulting in full or partial metabolic correction of disease phenotype (Strauss et al., 2006; Wendel et al., 1999), which was dependent upon the severity of initial disease presentation (Wendel et al., 1999). Taken together, these points confirm that 100% of whole body BCKDH activity would not be needed to correct a MSUD disease phenotype. In regards to this dissertation, I hypothesized that infusion of a small percentage of liver mass may be sufficient to correct metabolic function in a case of a mild MSUD variant, or at least partially correct severe cases to a milder and more manageable disease variant.

#### **1.3.1.2** Small vs. large hepatocytes

When comparing various sources of hepatocytes for transplant, it has been suggested that small hepatocytes display a few advantages for their use in transplantation over larger mature cells. "Small hepatocytes", first described in 1992 in rat hepatocyte cultures (Mitaka et al., 1992), were later categorized somewhere between mature hepatocytes and "oval cells", small oval-shaped non-parenchymal cells found to have stem-cell like properties (Farber, 1956). Small hepatocytes, found in greater numbers in isolated human fetal hepatocyte populations, were favorable for transplantation and engraftment due to their smaller, more uniform size compared to mature hepatocytes (Shibata et al., 2006; Strom et al., 2006b). Small hepatocytes appeared to have a higher growth potential with the ability to proliferate better following transplantation (Michalopoulos et al., 1999; Shibata et al., 2006). Since cell isolations of small or fetal hepatocytes consist of a mixed population, this suggested that the full complement of all cell types in the liver were needed for efficient and long-term proliferation of hepatocytes; in vitro non-parenchymal cells eventually repopulated beneath hepatocyte colonies to maintain their growth and maturation (Michalopoulos et al., 1999). Additionally, fetal hepatocytes were shown to repopulate approximately 15-25% of the liver without selective regeneration pressure

(Lilja et al., 1997; Nierhoff et al., 2005) and upwards of 80% repopulation with selective regeneration pressure (Cantz et al., 2003; Nierhoff et al., 2005). This is impressive considering one major limitation of HTx for many metabolic liver diseases remains the low level of transplanted cell expansion most likely due to the low level of hepatocyte turnover present in the normal adult liver. The most exciting features of small hepatocytes, however, was their reported success in cryopreservation (Ikeda et al., 2002) and their ability to repopulate the liver using 10-fold fewer cells with the same efficiency as fresh unfractionated cells due to their higher growth potential (Shibata et al., 2006), both of which would be incredibily beneficial clinically.

## **1.3.1.3** Selective regeneration pressure of transplanted cells

Selective regeneration pressure would give transplanted hepatocytes, regardless of cell size or source, a selective growth advantage maximizing liver repopulation (Gupta et al., 1999; Laconi et al., 1998). It is known that in the presence of liver injury inducing massive cell loss, such as through chemical injury, accumulated toxicity, or surgical resection, there is a huge push towards liver regeneration (Gerber et al., 1983; Wolf and Michalopoulos, 1992); hepatocytes that are normally quiescent begin to divide very rapidly to repopulate the liver. Hepatocyte growth factors significantly increase both in the liver and circulation following partial hepatectomy in humans (Nishizaki et al., 1995) and have been used as a way to jumpstart liver regeneration and therefore stimulate a high proliferation rate in transplanted hepatocytes in animal models (Guha et al., 2001).

Chemical injury, as mentioned above, is another way to give transplanted cells a selective growth advantage. Retrorsine, a pyrrolizidine alkaloid that inhibits the cell cycle, and carbon tetrachloride (CCl<sub>4</sub>) are two chemicals frequently used to induce liver injury in animals models (Guo et al., 2002). Retrorsine, given prior to cell transplantation, blocked proliferation of

endogenous liver cells while CCl<sub>4</sub>, known to induce liver cell death near the central vein, was given after cell transplantation. Hepatocytes transplanted by intrasplenic injection engraft near the portal veins and thus were not affected by CCl<sub>4</sub> treatment (Guo et al., 2002). There was a high level of hepatic repopulation in normal mice with no method other than retrorsine/CCl<sub>4</sub> treatment to give transplanted hepatocytes any proliferative advantage (Guo et al., 2002).

#### **1.3.1.4** Gene therapy of hepatocytes prior to transplantation

If unaltered hepatocytes can effectively engraft in the liver, it is logical to assume hepatocytes first treated ex vivo with a viral vector to express a specific gene to correct a metabolic disorder (e.g., fumarylacetoacetate hydrolase to correct tyrosinemia type I) or a hepatic growth factor could increase their selective advantage over endogenous liver cells. This method could also be used to eliminate the need for immunosuppressive therapy since a patient's own hepatocytes could be harvested and later retransplanted once the cells have been corrected through introduction of a therapeutic gene (Patel et al., 1989; Raper and Wilson, 1993). The first experiments testing this procedure was in a rabbit model to cure an low density lipoprotein (LDL)-receptor deficiency through retroviral gene transfer of explanted hepatocytes (Chowdhury et al., 1991). This resulted in long-term reduction of LDL serum levels This animal study prompted a clinical trial for humans with familial hypercholesterolemia (Grossman et al., 1995; Grossman et al., 1994), and although the treatment was determined to not be sufficient for significant therapeutic advantage, serum LDL levels showed a moderate decrease in some patients. More recently, Adachi et al. (2006) determined that there was no difference in gene transfer and expression of an adenoviral vector in rats by either traditional administration through the tail vein or by ex vivo graft perfusion. Other groups have also shown significant liver repopulation following *ex vivo* infection of hepatocytes (Nguyen and Ferry, 2004; Parouchev et al., 2006) reaffirming the clinical applications *ex vivo* gene therapy may hold.

#### **1.3.2** Embryonic stem cells

#### **1.3.2.1** Establishment and culture

ESCs were first established in the early 1980's from the inner cell mass of preimplantation blastocyst-stage murine embryos (Evans and Kaufman, 1981; Martin, 1981). ESCs are pluripotent, meaning they can differentiate into all derivatives of the three primary germ layers: ectoderm (e.g., CNS, skin), mesoderm (e.g., blood, heart, skeletal muscle), and endoderm (e.g., liver, pancreas, lung) (Keller, 2005), and injection of human ESCs into immune deficient mice resulted in the formation of teratomas (Thomson et al., 1998). Some unique and important characteristics of pluripotent ESCs are their ability to be maintained and expanded in culture as pure populations of undifferentiated cells for repeated, possibly unlimited, passages and their ability to retain normal karyotypes throughout those passages unlike tumor cell lines (Keller, 2005).

To maintain stem cell pluripotentcy and prevent spontaneous differentiation, ESCs are typically cultured on feeder layers, such as mouse embryonic fibroblasts treated with mitomycin C which eliminates their ability to replicate, and in the presence of the pleitrophic cytokine leukemia inhibitory factor (LIF) (Hogan et al., 1994). It has been shown that feeder layers alone cannot maintain pluripotentcy of ESCs (Stewart et al., 1992), and ESCs cultured without feeder cells in the presence of LIF prevents differentiation (Suemori and Nakatsuji, 1987). ESCs can also be sustained, though less effectively, on plated gelatin or extracellular matrix proteins, such as collagen, while in the presence of LIF (Wiles, 1993). LIF, as well as related cytokines in the

interleukin 6 family, complex with glycoprotein 130 to induce signal transduction (Yoshida et al., 1994); cytokines related to LIF also maintain ESCs undifferentiated state (Conover et al., 1993; Nicholas et al., 1994; Rose et al., 1994). Interestingly, while establishment of pluripotent ESCs have been attempted in other animals (Hwang et al., 2005), no cells satisfying all the criteria to be considered true pluripotent ESCs were isolated from any species but mouse (Robertson et al., 1986), and germline chimeras were only successfully produced in mouse (Lee and Piedrahita, 2003), which makes possible the creation of gene targeted mouse models.

## **1.3.2.2** Human ESCs and U.S. federal policy

In 1997, human ESCs were first established from *in vitro* fertilized blastocysts (Thomson et al., 1998) and were initially cultured on mouse feeder cells in the presence of an animalderived serum. However, it was later discovered that culturing by this method produced an immune response once the cells were transplanted into a human host (Martin et al., 2005). Therefore, feeder-free/serum-free culture methods devoid of all animal-derived products are being investigated, such as Matrigel and extracellular matrix proteins, as a culture medium for cells meant for transplantation into human patients. However, many of these feeder-free systems are still derived from animals (e.g., collagen from rat tails) (Hwang et al., 2005).

A major problem associated with human ESCs is availability of lines for research; though virtually hundreds of lines exist worldwide, only 22 human ESC lines are available to researchers, as listed by the National Institutes of Health (NIH, 2007), and are limited by the lack of proven data on distinct culture protocols and unique differentiation traits for each line. Derivation of new human ESC lines have been restricted through the implementation of a U.S. federal policy initiated at 9:00PM August 9, 2001, which stated that federal funding for human ESC research would be awarded only if derivation of the cell line was begun prior to the initiated

policy date, the cells were derived from a discarded embryo created for reproductive purposes, and that informed consent without monetary incentives was given prior to the donation of the embryo (NIH, 2006). Since implementation of the above federal policy, at least 14 laboratories across the world have derived new human stem cell lines using U.S. federal funding, though most lines are not currently available publicly (NIH, 2006; NIH, 2007). Derivation of new lines not in accordance with the federal policy is possible if using privately acquired funding rather than federal grants.

## **1.3.2.3** New methods to derive ESCs

In 1998, the possibility of deriving new human ESCs was made possible through somatic cell nuclear transfer (SCNT), an exciting development in stem cell research (Wakayama et al.). SCNT, or therapeutic cloning (as opposed to reproductive cloning), involved the injection of a somatic cell nucleus into the cytoplasm of an unfertilized egg whose own nucleus was removed, was first tested and proven in 1914 using newt eggs (Spemann). Once the cell begins to divide, pluripotent stem cells can be established from SCNT blastocysts for research purposes (Munsie et al., 2000). ESCs derived from therapeutic cloning have been reported to have the same unique characteristics as traditionally-derived ESCs, and have been used as a model to further prove the ability of ESCs to correct genetic disease (Markoulaki et al., 2008). The most exciting prospect of SCNT is the ability to produce "tailor-made" ESCs for transplantation from the patient's own adult cells and an unfertilized human egg thereby avoiding immune problems and the need for immunosuppression drugs. Importantly, SCNT is in accordance with applicable federal policies restricting research involving human ESCs, but because SCNT utilizes human egg cells, it does raise ethical concerns. Since the implementation of the President's policy in 2001, there have been several bills introduced to Congress whose content could either protect or ban therapeutic

cloning, though none yet have been passed (AAMC, 2007). It is important to recognize the difference between reproductive and therapeutic cloning and the importance of the continuation of research involving pluripotent ESCs.

In late 2007, a novel method to derive human ESCs, termed induced pluripotent stem (iPS) cells, has rocked the stem cell field (Takahashi et al., 2007). iPS cell production involved reprogramming adult fibroblast cells to a pluripotent ESC-like state through retroviral introduction of four defined transcription factors under ESC culture conditions. The method was first proven in mouse cells less than a year earlier (Takahashi and Yamanaka, 2006; Wernig et al., 2007). This solved the ethical objections to a previous nuclear reprogramming method, which involved fusion of somatic cells with a human ESC (Cowan et al., 2005; Tada et al., 2001). The four transcriptions factors were: (1) Oct3/4, a specific marker of undifferentiated embryonic stem cells, from the octamer-binding transcription factor family (Ryan and Rosenfeld, 1997), (2) Sox2, a SRY-related High Mobility Group-box transcription factor characterized by the presence of a HMG (Schepers et al., 2002), (3) Klf4 from the Kruppel-like factor zinc-finger family of proteins related to the Kruppel regulator in *Drosophila* (Dang et al., 2000), and (4) cmyc, a proto-oncogene, from the Myc family of transcription factors (Adhikary and Eilers, 2005). Resulting iPS cells, whose formation was a fairly rare event (<0.1%), displayed ESC morphology and growth patterns, and expressed ESC markers, although Nanog was absent from cells in this first report (Takahashi and Yamanaka, 2006). It was also later determined that induction of some, though not all, family members of the four transcription factors substituted for those listed above could also produce iPS cells (Nakagawa et al., 2008). Nanog-negative iPS cells resulted in teratoma formation characterized by differentiated tissue from all three germ layers after mouse transplantation, and could contribute to mouse embryonic development when

injected into a blastocyst, but chimeric embryos did not survive to term, and the stability of pluripotentcy was questionable (Takahashi and Yamanaka, 2006). However, when iPS cells selected for Nanog expression were used, DNA methylation, gene expression, and chromatin state were found to be more similar to ESCs than Nanog-negative cells, and pluripotency was more consistent (Wernig et al., 2007). Nanog, a homeoprotein found in ESCs and developing germ cells (Mitsui et al., 2003), was found to be the critical element in maintaining pluripotentcy and mediating germline transmission (Chambers et al., 2007), and accordingly Nanog-positive iPS cells were able to produce viable mouse chimeras and contribute to germ line (Okita et al., 2007; Wernig et al., 2007). Regrettably,  $\sim 20\%$  of offspring generated from iPS germline mouse chimeras resulted in tumor formation from the reactivation of the c-myc transgene, thus providing rationale to avoid retroviral c-myc induction for production of iPS cells for clinical applications (Okita et al., 2007). Soon after, two groups were able to produce iPS cells from both mouse and human fibroblasts without c-myc, though generation times were much slower than with c-myc (Nakagawa et al., 2008; Yu et al., 2007). Extremely important for future clinical applications, iPS could be generated from a patient's own skin cells (Park et al., 2008), which could then be transplanted for correction of genetic disease or tissue repair avoiding immunoincompatibility concerns, much like SCNT. Recently iPS cells have been differentiated into hematopoietic and cardiovascular lineages (Schenke-Layland et al., 2008). Thus far an anemia mouse model has been corrected after transplantation of hematopoietic cells differentiated from fibroblast-derived iPS cells (Hanna et al., 2007) providing a convincing initial proof-of-principle study for the use of iPS cells to treat disease. However, there are issues and ethical concerns associated with iPS cells (Cyranoski, 2008), which are summarized in

Table 6, and since the science is still so very new, there are many unanswered questions

regarding the true clinical potential of iPS cells.

<b>Claimed Benefits</b>	Caveats		
(1) Easy to	Each retrovirally introduced transcription factor has a ~15% transfection		
produce	efficiency, and $\sim 5\%$ of those that receive all factors become fully		
-	reprogrammed; identified iPS cells require very specific culture conditions		
(2) Custom-	Alternate system of introducing factors are needed (currently retroviral);		
tailored cells for	production of iPS cells are time consuming (see #1) followed by extensive		
everyone	testing to rule out possiblility of tumor formation ( $\sim 2$ year procedure);		
	predicted to be extremely expensive		
(3) Cures are	Disease models and proof-of-principle studies will be first; future of iPS		
coming soon	cell therapies will likely depend on how well thay can be shown to		
	differentiate into specific cell types and safe methods to administer them;		
	clinical trials using embryonic stem cells will also decide the fate of iPS		
	cell treatments		
(4) iPS cells are	There are no major differences <u>vet</u> ; there are conflicting reports between		
identical to ESCs	iPS properties and cell marker expression; there will likely be differences		
	between lines and therefore between iPS-derived cell types meaning each		
	line will require rigorous testing		
(5) iPS cells have	Production of gametes is possible from pluripotent iPS cells; iPS derived		
no ethical issues	gametes could potentially meet demands for infertility procedures or clone		
	a human, either of which may result in strange, unwanted outcomes.		

# **Table 6. iPS cells: too good to be true?**Modified from (Cyranoski, 2008)

## **1.3.2.4** Methods for initiating cell differentiation

ESCs are pluripotent, meaning they have the ability to form cells from any lineage, though *in vitro* this may require precise culture conditions, removal of LIF and/or feeder layers, and the addition of specific growth factors (Hwang et al., 2005; Keller, 2005; Palacios et al., 1995). Three general approaches for the initiation of ESC differentiation were developed. The first involved culture at high cell density on a non-adhesive surface resulting in the aggregation of ESCs and the formation of three-dimentional "embryoid bodies" (EB) characterized by an endoderm-like outer layer and inner cavity, which displayed many parallels to embryo

development *in vivo* (Doetschman et al., 1985). Once the EBs were allowed to reattach, they formed outgrowths which differentiated into various tissues. The second method involved ESC culture directly on stromal cells; specific growth factor secretion and other cellular signals from stromal cells were able to manipulate the ESCs to differentiate into lymphohematopoietic cells in a highly reproducible manner (Nakano et al., 1994). The third method involved differentiation in

<b>Differentiation Method</b>	Advantages	Disadvantages	
(1) EB formation	3-D structure much like <i>in vivo</i>	Complexity of the EB structure;	
	development enhances cell-cell	generation of cytokines and other	
	interactions, which may be	factors can confuse experimental	
	important to differentiation of	interpretation	
	specific cell types		
(2) Culture on stromal	Specific cell type/line used	Undefined or uncontrolled growth	
cells	provides beneficial growth	factors may differentiate cells to an	
	factors	undesired type; difficult to separate	
		stromal cells from desired cells	
(3) Culture on	Very simple protocol,	Proteins used can greatly influence	
intracellular matrix	eliminated influence and	the generation and survival of	
proteins	interactions encountered when	differentiating cell types	
	using cell monolayers		

 Table 7. Initiation of ESC differentiation: advantages and disadvantages.

culture of ESCs on a monolayer of extracellular matrix proteins (Nishikawa et al., 1998), which demonstrated differentiation into hematopoietic cells simply through direct interaction with collagen without the addition of any supplementary growth factors. All three differentiation methods have been used to produce a multitude of cell types from ESCs, however each method carries with it specific advantages and disadvantages, which are compiled in **Table 7**, as summarized by Keller, et al. (2005).

## **1.3.2.5** Differentiation into specific cell types

ESC differentiation into hematopoietic cells have been investigated since 1985 when the presence of hemoglobinized cells were identified in cultures containing embryoid bodies (Doetschman et al., 1985). From that time, many protocols to derive a hematopoietic lineage from ESCs have been reported (Bhatia, 2003; Lengerke and Daley, 2005; Nishikawa et al., 1998; Orlovskaya et al., 2008; Wang et al., 2006). Unfortunately, over the past 20+ years there has been very little progress, with most studies unable to identify differentiated cells from ESC culture (Müller and Dzierzak, 1993). However, in 2008 two reports stated the derivation of functional red blood cells and platelets through differentiation of ESCs in vitro (Hiroyama et al., 2008; Takayama et al., 2008). Therefore, there may be hope on the horizon for ESC-derived There are also many protocols for derivation of ESC to a hematopoietic cell therapies. cardiomyogenic lineage (Heng et al., 2004b), a neuronal lineage (Lee et al., 2000; Yan et al., 2005), a keratinocyte lineage (Heng et al., 2005), an osteogenic lineage (Heng et al., 2004a), a chondrogenic lineage (Bosnakovski et al., 2006; Heng et al., 2004b), a pancreatic ductal-cell lineage (Naujok et al., 2008; Soto-Gutiérrez et al., 2008), and a hepatic lineage (Chinzei et al., 2002; Hamazaki et al., 2001) to list a few.

Differentiation of ESC into hepatocyte-like cells has been thoroughly investigated as evident from the multitude of reviews comparing numerous differentiation protocols, culture methods, and growth mediums (Gouon-Evans et al., 2006; Ishii et al., 2008; Keller, 2005; Lavon and Benvenisty, 2005; Shirahashi et al., 2004; Soto-Gutiérrez et al., 2006); some of these protocols are summarized in **Table 8**. Basic differentiation protocols were based upon what was known of liver generation *in vivo*. During early mouse development (E8.25, 7-8 somites), liver formation initiates in the ventral foregut endoderm (Lemaigre and Zaret, 2004) through

fibroblast growth factor (FGF) expression from the nearby cardiac mesoderm (Jung et al., 1999) and bone morphogenic proteins 2 and 4 signals from the septum transversum mesenchyme cells (Ang et al., 1993; Rossi et al., 2001). Interaction of the budding cells [i.e., hepatoblasts – which yields both hepatocytes and cholangiocytes (ductal cells)] with mesoderm-derived endothelial cells was important to this stage in development (Matsumoto et al., 2001). Fetal liver is a major site of hematopoiesis, and it was discovered circulating hematopoietic cells that migrate to the liver express oncostatin M, an interleukin-6 family cytokine, which contributed to early liver development (Kamiya et al., 1999). Further growth and maturation of the liver required many more signal transduction and transcription factors (Duncan, 2003; Zaret, 2002). In 2003, Fair, et al. determined murine ESCs stimulated in vitro with chick cardiac mesoderm differentiated into cells with a putative endodermal phenotype. Fair et al. (2005) later determined murine ESCs stimulated *in vitro* with acidic FGF alone could cause differentiation into putative endodermal precursor cells (PEPs), which engrafted in the liver and functioned normally in vivo. Bone morphogenic protein 4 was later reported to be required for hepatic differentiation from ESCs (Gouon-Evans et al., 2006). However, since such a large array of transcription factors, growth factors, and specific interactions required at specific points during development for proper liver formation *in vivo* exists which have not yet been clearly defined, effective differentiation has proved difficult typically resulting in a low percentage of cell differentiation and cellular heterogeneity in culture (Wang et al., 2008). In order to improve upon current methods, one group developed a multistep protocol that involved adding specific growth factors during specific stages of cell differentiation in an attempt to mimic hepatocyte development in vivo (Hamazaki et al., 2001). Mouse ESCs differentiated by Hamazaki et al.'s protocol expressed albumin and produced urea, which are both hepatocyte-specific, and cells were able to maintain

<sup>1</sup> Protocol	<sup>2</sup> RNA Markers	<sup>3</sup> Protein	Functional	<sup>4</sup> In Vivo	Reference
		Markers	Assay	Assay	
Spontaneous -	AFP, ALB, TTR,				(Abe et al.,
EB	TCF1, TCF2, HNF4				1996)
Spontaneous -	AFP, ALB, TAT	ALB	Urea	IHC:	(Chinzei et
EB			synthesis	ALB	al., 2002)
Spontaneous -	ALB, AAT	ALB	Urea		(Shirahashi et
EB			synthesis		al., 2004)
aFGF, TGF,	AFP, ALB, TTR,	ALB, AFP,			(Hu et al.,
AFP, HGF,	TAT, G6P, FOXA2	CK8, CK18			2004)
OSM, dextrose					
Insulin,	AFP, ALB, CK19,	ALB	Urea		(Shirahashi et
dextrose,	G6P, GGT		synthesis		al., 2004)
collagen type 1					
aFGF, HGF,	AFP, ALB, TAT,	ALB		IHC:	(Imamura et
OSM,	TTR, G6P			ALB,	al., 2004)
dextrose, ITS,				CK18	
3D scaffold					
Limited serum,	AFP, ALB, TTR,			IHC:	(Kubo et al.,
dextrose,	AAT, TAT, CPS1			FOXA2,	2004)
Act.A				teratoma	
FOXA1,	FOXA1, FOXA2,				(Levinson-
FOXA2	ALB, TTR, TCF2				Dushnik and
					Benvenisty,
					1997)
FOXA2,	ALB, C3, CYP1A1,	ALB, CK18	Urea and		(Ishizaka et
bFGF,	PEPCK, PXMP1-L		lipid		al., 2002)
dextrose, asc.,			synthesis		
nicotinamide					

Table 8. Small selection of ESC differentiation methods to produce hepatic cells.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> EB – embryoid body, aFGF – acidic fibroblast growth factor, TGF – transforming growth factor, AFP – α-fetoprotein, OSM - oncostatin M, HGF - human growth factor, ITS - insulin transferring & selenius acid, Act.A - activin A, FOXA1/2 - forkhead box A1/2, asc. - L-ascorbis-2-phosphate

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> TPP - transthyretin, TCF1/2 - transcription factor 1/2, HNF4 - hepatocyte nuclear factor 4, TAT tyrosine aminotransferase, AAT –  $\alpha$ 1-antitrypsin, G6P – glucose-6-phosphatase, CPS1 – carbamyl phosphate synthetase 1, C3 - complement C3, CYP1A1 - cytochrome P450 1A1, PEPCK - phosphoenolpyruvate carboxykinase, PXMP1-L – peroxisomal membrane protein 1-like protein <sup>3</sup> CK8/18 – cytokeratin 8/18

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> IHC - immunohistochemistry

differentiation when transplanted *in vivo* (Chinzei et al., 2002). Other groups have also demonstrated the ability for hepatocyte-like cells to maintain differentiation *in vivo* (Imamura et al., 2004; Yamada et al., 2002), and still others have used these cells to treat disease, such as in correction of a FIX mouse model (Fair et al., 2005), induced hepatic failure (Hu et al., 2006; Ishii et al., 2007; Soto-Gutiérrez et al., 2006; Tabei et al., 2005), and a fumarylacetoacetate hydrolase deficiency model of tyrosinemia type I (Sharma et al., 2008). Although currently few reports exist which apply ESC-derived hepatocytes towards the treatment and correction of liver diseases, the results nonetheless serve as exciting early proof-of-principle studies for possible future clinical applications.

#### **1.3.2.6** Common issues associated with ESC therapy

Although several problems are associated with the use of ESCs for cellular therapies, the most serious being lack of transplant function, homograft rejection due to host immune response, and teratoma formation, PEPs derived by Fair et al. (2005) produced significant liver engraftment *in vivo* with no evidence of rejection or antibody response although transplanted cells were not syngeneic. Conversely, another study found significant humoral and cellular responses following non-syngenic transplantation of ESCs to the myocardium in mice (Kofidis et al., 2005). However, if iPS cells can be used in place of ESCs, which could be made patient-specific, it would eliminate immunogenic concerns (Park et al., 2008). Teratoma rate in Fair et al.'s study, while not insignificant, was very low, ~6.2% (Fair et al., 2005); however, 129 mice, the source of ESCs used by this group, have been previously reported to be notorious for a high spontaneous teratoma rate (Stevens, 1973). Other groups have also reported teratoma formation after the transplantation of hepatocyte-derived ESC (Chinzei et al., 2002; Choi et al., 2002; Teramoto et al., 2005), though longer culture times prior to transplantation appeared to reduce
the incidence of teratoma formation presumably due to a greater percentage of cells in culture becoming differentiated (Chinzei et al., 2002). Specifically for hepatocyte-like cells derived from ESC, major issues focus on difficulties in differentiation due to a poor understanding of *in vivo* liver development (Wang et al., 2008), as mentioned above.

Prior to the use of ESCs for transplantation to correct liver disease in humans, these issues must be resolved. Steps must be taken to develop better screening methods for differentiated cells to avoid teratoma formation, develop more efficient/effective differentiation protocols to produce higher quality hepatocyte-like cells, which may also help increase transplant engraftment and function *in vivo*, and reduce the risk of host immune response to transplanted cells. Once efficacy and safety concerns have been quieted, ESC therapy may prove to be equal in its ability to correct metabolic liver disease as transplanted hepatocytes.

## 2.0 FURTHER CHARACTERIZATION OF iMSUD MICE

<u>Hypothesis</u>: I hypothesize that the iMSUD mouse model will closely mimic the human disease phenotype based upon previously published data, and thus provide an excellent model to test both gene therapy and cell-based therapies to cure MSUD.

# 2.1 BACKGROUND AND SIGNIFICANCE

Maple Syrup Urine Disease (MSUD) is a serious liver-based metabolic disease for which no universally satisfactory treatments exist. MSUD is caused by a deficiency in the BCKDH complex resulting in toxic accumulation of BCAA (leucine, valine, isoleucine) and their associated metabolites in the body (Chuang and Shih, 2001; Harris et al., 2004; Yeaman, 1989). This toxic accretion mainly affects the brain resulting in serious clinical manifestations, which in most cases results in permanent neurological dysfunction or death without treatment and lifelong attentive care (Chuang and Shih, 2001; Cox and Chuang, 1993).

In order to test potential therapies, two novel mouse models were created using standard genetic engineering methods (Homanics et al., 2006), as described in greater detail in the Introduction section. The model for cMSUD was an E2 subunit gene knockout line. Although knockout pups appeared normal at birth (i.e., indistinguishable from wildtype and heterozygous littermates), they had no detectable BCKDH activity, extremely elevated BCAA levels, failed to

thrive, and ultimately died within a few days. This severely limited possible treatment options due to the extremely limited time the pups were alive. The model for iMSUD was created by transgenic expression of human E2 on the mouse E2 knockout background. The iMSUD mice had elevated levels of BCAA intermediate between wildtype and knockout mice, and many survived to adulthood without any special treatment. The phenotypes of these mouse models closely mimicked the pathophysiology of human MSUD. However, a more thorough understanding of how the iMSUD mouse model is affected by the disease will provide rationale towards determining the best and most effective therapy to correct it. Therefore, a more complete characterization of the iMSUD model was completed and is presented below.

#### 2.2 METHODS

All studies involving animals were reviewed and approved by the University of Pittsburgh's Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee.

# 2.2.1 Mouse colony breeding

Production of iMSUD mice relied on the expression of two transgenes (LAP-tTA and TRE-E2; **Figure 4**) to produce human E2 on a mouse E2 knockout (KO; -/-) background (**Figure 3**). Two lines of iMSUD mice were used, A and 525A. The only difference between the two iMSUD mouse lines was the genomic location of the LAP-tTA transgene, which was introduced by breeding and not targeted insertion (Homanics et al., 2006). In order to facilitate the production of iMSUD mice, the transgenes were first bred to homozygosity. Mating pairs

consisted of mice homozygous for both transgenes and heterozygous for mouse E2 KO resulting in a 1:2:1 ratio of +/+: +/-: -/- mouse E2. All offspring from these matings expressed human E2.

#### 2.2.2 PCR genotyping

Some animals were PCR genotyped at 1 week of age to distinguish iMSUD animals from wildtype and heterozygous littermates. This method gave accurate genotyping data in 1-2 days. Pups were first identified using a toe microtattooer specific for mice (Ketchum, Brockville, ON), and genomic DNA was isolated from a small amount of blood using Instagene (BioRad, Hercules, CA). Each DNA sample was analyzed with two sets of primers specific either to mouse exon 5 of the E2 gene (present only in wildtype and heterozygous animals) or the PGKneo cassette (present only in heterozygous and homozygous iMSUD animals). Neo specific primers consisted of 5'GCATTCTGCACGCTTCAAAAG 3' and 5'GCAGCCGATTGTCTGTTGTG 3', which amplified an 186bp fragment. Mouse E2 specific primers were both contained within exon 5 and consisted of 5'CAGAGGAAGATGTTGTTGTAACCC 3' and 5'TTGTTTTCCATTGCCAGCCGACGC 3', which amplified an 119bp fragment. This method of PCR genotyping was proven to be highly accurate and reproducible. Results were confirmed using Southern blot analysis.

## 2.2.3 Southern blot genotyping

Genomic DNA was isolated from 1cm mouse tail clips taken at 3 weeks of age. DNA was suspended in TE buffer, pH8 and each sample analyzed twice by digesting with two different enzymes: EcoRI and BgII. Digested samples were run through a 1% agarose/4x

Hellings gel for 950 minutes at ~20V, transferred to Hybond-N (Amersham, Piscataway, NJ) via capillary transfer, and DNA was fixed to the membrane by UV crosslinking. Prior to hybridization with a radiolabeled probe made via the Random Primed DNA Labeling Kit (Roche, Indianapolis, IN), membranes were incubated with prehybridization solution containing salmon sperm DNA for several hours at 42°C. Southern blots with EcoRI digested samples were hybridized overnight with <sup>32</sup>P-labeled DNA probes specific to the LAP-tTA and TRE-E2 transgenes. BglI digested samples were hybridized overnight with <sup>32</sup>P-labeled DNA probes specific to mouse E2 exon 6. Membranes were exposed to X-ray film for detection under nonsaturating conditions. E2 wildtype mice displayed a band at ~16kB, E2 knockout mice displayed a band at ~11kB, and heterozygous mice displayed bands of both sizes (**Figure 3**). Regarding the transgene-specific probes, transgene positive mice displayed a band (LAP-tTA = ~2kB, TRE-E2 =~15kB) and transgene negative mice did not.

# 2.2.4 BCKDH complex enzyme activity assay

Livers were removed, flash frozen in liquid N<sub>2</sub> and stored at -80°C. On the day of analysis, livers were homogenized (1:9 w/w) in 0.25 sucrose, 10mM Tris-HCl and centrifuged 600xg for 10 minutes and the supernatant utilized for the enzyme assay. BCKDH activity was determined by measuring the release of <sup>14</sup>CO<sub>2</sub> from  $\alpha$ -keto [1-<sup>14</sup>C] isocaproate (Amersham Biosciences, Piscataway, NJ) (Paul and Adibi, 1992). Assays were done in duplicate and carried out for 15 minutes at 37°C; <sup>14</sup>CO<sub>2</sub> was trapped in hydroxide of Hyamine (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO) and radioactivity was determined by liquid scintillation spectrometry. Liver protein concentration was assessed by Bicinchoninic acid assay. Calculation: x µmol KIC oxidized = DPM <sup>14</sup>CO<sub>2</sub>/DPM <sup>14</sup>C-KIC initially added/15 minutes/x mg liver protein. Data was presented as

the mean +/- the standard error of the mean. Differences between genotypes were compared by the nonparametric Kruskal-Wallis test and a Mann-Whitney analysis (Kruskal and Wallis, 1952; Mann and Whitney, 1947).

#### 2.2.5 BCAA levels

Blood or brain samples were collected at weaning. Blood samples were spotted on a Guthrie card and mailed to Pediatrix Screening Inc. (Bridgeville, PA) for processing by tandem mass spectrophotometry (MS-MS). Brain samples were immediately flash frozen in liquid N<sub>2</sub> and shipped to Dr. William Zinnanti (Pennsylvania State University of Medicine at Hershey, PA) for processing by HPLC analysis. Total BCAA levels were expressed as a ratio to alanine, a sensitive indicator of MSUD phenotype (Morton et al., 2002). Data was analyzed by Repeated Measures ANOVA and post-hoc Fisher's test.

## 2.2.6 Real Time qPCR

RNA was isolated from iMSUD and WT primary mouse hepatocytes and primary human hepatocytes using TRIzol Reagent (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA) following the manufacturer's instructions. RNA was converted to cDNA using the High Capacity cDNA RT Kit (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA). Real Time qPCR was performed using the TaqMan Assays-on-Demand Gene Expression Products for DBT (BCKDH E2) exon 2-3 and β-actin (ID# Mm00501651\_m1 and Mm02619580\_g1, respectively; Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA) following the manufacturer's protocol. In short, 100ng of cDNA template, 12.5µl of 2x Taqman Universal Master Mix, and 1.25µl of 20x Target Assay Mix were combined into 25µl reactions.

Each sample was run in triplicate on an ABI 7000 Real-time PCR System (Applied Biosystems). Relative quantification of Real Time RT-PCR data was performed using the Comparative  $C_T$  ( $\Delta C_T$ ) Method. In brief,  $C_T$  values were first converted to an arbitrary number using a standard calculation [arbitrary number = 1000000000<sup>(-0.69077552 \* CT)</sup>]. The three arbitrary numbers (AN) for each sample were then averaged. Target gene expression levels were normalized to the corresponding actin endogenous control by calculating the  $\Delta C_T$  [ $\Delta C_T = aveAN$  target gene / aveAN actin]. Data was presented as the mean +/- the SEM and analyzed by ANOVA and post-hoc Fisher's test.

## 2.2.7 Northern blot analysis

RNA was isolated from liquid N<sub>2</sub> flash frozen liver tissue using TRIzol Reagent (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA) following the manufacturer's instructions. RNA ( $20\mu g$ /sample) was size fractionated by electrophoresis for 4 hours at 100V through a 1% agarose/formaldehyde gel in MOPS buffer and transferred to Hybond-N via capillary transfer. RNA was fixed to the membrane by UV crosslinking, and briefly stained with 0.03% (w/v) methylene blue in 0.3M sodium acetate (pH 5.2) to verify a successful transfer. Prior to hybridization with a radiolabeled probe, membranes were incubated with prehybridization solution containing salmon sperm DNA for several hours at 42°C. Northern blots were hybridized overnight with several <sup>32</sup>P-radiolabeled probes made via the Random Primed DNA Labeling Kit (Roche, Indianapolis, IN). These probes were specific to human  $\beta$ -actin cDNA (#9800-1, Clontech, Mountatinview, CA), and human E2 cDNA. Several human E2 probes were created through restriction enzyme digest

of the pLi-hE2 plasmid (human E2 cDNA in the pLitmus29 plasmid, **Figure 6**). Membranes were exposed to X-ray film for detection under nonsaturating conditions.



Figure 6. Human E2 cDNA probes for Northern blot.

pLi-hE2 was digested with various restriction enzymes to produce cDNA probes to screen mouse iMSUD RNA. The human probes cross-hybridized with mouse RNA. Probes were labeled N1-N4; the numbers 1-11 correspond to the 11 E2 exons. The portion depicted in black, exon 5 and part of 4, corresponds to the sequence deletion used to create an E2 gene knockout.

#### 2.2.8 Western blot analysis

Protein extracts were isolated from liquid N<sub>2</sub> flash frozen homogenized liver. Protein (25µg per sample) was analyzed by electrophoresis for 2.5 hours at 76V through a 10% SDS-PAGE Ready Gel (Bio-Rad) and transferred to PVDF membrane (Bio-Rad) via electroblotting for 50 minutes at 400mA. Membranes were probed for E2 protein using polyclonal rabbit antisera (1:5000) which detects both mouse (~47kD) and human (~54kD) E2 subunits [(Hutson et al., 1998), a generous gift from Dr. S. Hutson]. A goat anti-rabbit secondary antibody conjugated to horseradish peroxidase (HRP; #NB730H, Novus Biologicals, Littleton, CO) was used for detection using the Western Lightning chemiluminescence reagent (Perkin Elmer) and exposed to X-ray film. Membranes were also reprobed with an antibody to c-myc (#ab9106-100; AbCam, Cambridge, MA) to detect transgene-derived E2. An antibody to  $\beta$ -actin (#ab8227-50; AbCam) and GAPDH (#NB300-327; Novus Biologicals) was also used to allow for loading control comparisons. E2 antibody was hybridized to the membrane for 1.5 hours and washed for 4 x 15 minutes with phosphate buffered saline/0.1% Tween 20 (PBS-T). GAPDH and  $\beta$ -actin antibodies were hybridized to the membrane for 1 hour and washed for 3 x 10 minutes with PBS-T. Results were quantified using Kodak 1D software. With regard to the two different iMSUD mouse lines analyzed, A and 525A: The only difference between the two iMSUD mouse lines was the genomic location of the LAP-tTA transgene, which was introduced by breeding and not targeted insertion (Homanics et al., 2006). Data were presented as the mean +/- the standard error of the mean. Differences between genotypes were compared by ANOVA and post-hoc Fisher's test.

## 2.2.9 Immunofluorescence

Livers from iMSUD and WT mice were immediately flash frozen in liquid N<sub>2</sub> and stored at -80°C until tissue sectioning. Frozen tissue was cryopreserved in Optimum Cutting Temperature Compound (OCT; Tissue-Tek), sectioned at 10 $\mu$  using a Leica CM1850 cryostat, and mounted on slides. Mounted tissue was stored at -20°C until analysis. Mounted sections were briefly fixed for 10 minutes in -20°C methanol, washed 3 x 15 minutes in 0.1M PBS + 0.1% TritonX-100 for permeablization, and blocked in 10% normal goat serum (NGS) for 1 hour. Primary antibody hybridization occurred simultaneously in a dark humidity chamber at room temperature for 1 hour (or at 4° overnight): 1  $\mu$ g/mL rabbit polyclonal E2 antisera [(Hutson et al., 1998), a generous gift from Dr. S. Hutson] and 1 $\mu$ g/mL mouse monoclonal COX IV antibody (#ab14744; AbCam) in NGS. Liver sections were washed for 3 x 15 minutes in 0.1M PBS + 0.5% BSA + 0.15% glycine (Buffer A) and reblocked in NGS for 30 minutes. Secondary antibody hybridization occurred in tandem. Goat anti-rabbit-Cy3 (#ab6939; AbCam) was hybridized at a concentration of 1µg/mL in NGS for 45 minutes at room temperature, followed by washes in Buffer A as described above. Tissue was reblocked in normal donkey serum (NDS) for 30 minutes, and donkey anti-mouse-Alexa Fluro 448 (generous gift from Dr. P. Monaghan, University of Pittsburgh) was hybridized at a concentration of 1µg/mL in NDS for 45 minutes at room temperature. Tissue sections were also tested for healthy liver morphology with a rhodamine-phalloidin stain, which hybridizes to cell cytoskeleton (i.e., actin), and a Hoechst stain for nuclear identification. Both the rhodamine-falloidin and Hoechst stains were generous gifts from Dr. Donna Stolz at the University of Pittsburgh Center for Biologic Imaging. After staining, sections were washed briefly in PBS and coverslipped for visualization with an aqueous-based mounting media. Livers were analyzed for E2 (E2, Cy3, red), mitochondria (CoxIV, Alexa Fluor 448, green), actin (rhodamine-phalloidin, red), and nuclei (Hoetchs, UV) with a Nikon Y-FL inverted microscope.

#### 2.2.10 Histochemistry

Livers from iMSUD and WT mice were fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde for no more than 24 hours. Tissues were then incubated in 30% sucrose for at least 24 hours followed by cryopreservation and frozen sectioning by cryostat (30 or 6 microns). To analyze liver cell morphology, a standard hematoxylin and eosin stain was performed and sections were subjected to a dehydrating ethanol/xylene series wash and subsequently coverslipped with a xylene based mounting media. For analysis of fat deposits, a Red Oil O stain was performed. Liver sections were counterstained with hematoxylin for easier visualization of individual cells and coverslipped with an aqueous mounting media. Tissue was visualized with an Olympus Ix71 inverted microscope.

## 2.2.11 Body weight

Body weight was obtained at weaning (~21 days of age) of disease models and littermate controls for comparison. Data were analyzed by Student T-test.

## 2.3 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

# 2.3.1 iMSUD mice had significantly stunted growth at weaning

iMSUD mice, though indistinguishable from WT littermates at birth, were previously observed to be substantially smaller than littermates at weaning (unpublished observations, Homanics). To determine whether the observed growth delay was significantly different from healthy WT littermates, mice were weighed at weaning (~21 days of age). It was determined that iMSUD mice suffered significant growth retardation compared to littermate controls (p<0.0001; **Figure 7**). Growth and developmental delay is a typical phenotype associated with human MSUD; BCAAs are essential amino acids, and therefore any decrease in the required amount causes problems with growth and development (Chuang and Shih, 2001). Growth restriction may also be partly due to the reduced production of  $\beta$ -hydroxy- $\beta$ -methylbutyrate (HMB), a metabolite of leucine and KIC which is known to enhance muscle protein synthesis and thus maintain proper body composition (Nissen and Abumrad, 1997; Wilson et al., 2008). The majority of HMB is produced from KIC in the cytosol [BCKDH independent (Van Kovering and Nissen, 1992)], which occurs only in liver. However, a small amount of HMB is also produced from  $\beta$ -methyl-crotonyl-CoA in the mitochondria of all tissues [BCKDH dependent

(Nissen and Abumrad, 1997)]. Thus, mitochondrial HMB production would be inhibited in MSUD. At this time, it is unknown whether HMB contributed to decreased body weight at weaning of iMSUD mice. HMB levels in tissues of iMSUD mice have not been assessed, and therefore this requires further investigation.



Figure 7. Weight at weaning of iMSUD mice and littermate controls.

iMSUD mice also displayed other phenotypic differences at weaning that identified them as disease models. One subtle difference could be seen in their eyes. All iMSUD animals had squinted eyes, which were distinctly almond shape due to mice incompletely opening their eyes and not from incomplete eye/eyelid development; healthy littermates all had very round-shaped eyes. Interestingly, parents of human MSUD patients can tell when their child had high BCAA blood levels by their eyes, which looked squinted or "smaller" (personal communications, MSUD Symposium attendees, 2006 & P. Verma, 2008). iMSUD mice often displayed other phenotypic manifestations such as seizures, hypoactivity, uncoordinated gait, and hind limb

Body weight of iMSUD and controls (WT) were collected at weaning (21 days of age). Weight at weaning of iMSUD animals were significantly different compared to Controls (p<0.0001). Each data point represents a single mouse in each group. The horizontal line indicates the mean value.

dystonia (Zinnanti et al., 2008). In severe cases, paralysis and muscle wasting was observed, which corresponded with severely high BCAA/ala levels (Zinnanti et al., 2008); animals found in that condition were considered moribund and were humanely sacrificed.

#### 2.3.2 E2 protein in liver and other tissues

Transgenic human E2 was directed to the liver in iMSUD animals through use of the LAP promoter (Homanics et al., 2006). It was previously determined that iMSUD liver BCKDH enzyme activity was approximately 5-6% of control enzyme activity. Therefore, it was necessary to determine the amount of transgene derived human E2 protein in the liver as well as the specificity of the LAP-tTA liver specific transgene (Kistner et al., 1996). E2 protein in the liver, muscle, kidneys, and brain was analyzed by Western blot [Figure 8 (Homanics et al., 2006)]. Surprisingly, E2 protein in liver of iMSUD mice, though variable between individuals, was expressed at levels similar to Control mice in some animals. C-myc expression was also determined as a positive control since a c-myc tag was incorporated on the C-terminal end of the transgenic human E2 protein. C-myc and human E2 expression in the liver of iMSUD mice were identical, as expected. E2 expression was found to be at undetectable or very negligible levels in other tissues suggesting that liver was the only tissue contributing to BCAA metabolism (Homanics et al., 2006). E2 expression in other tissues besides liver would have suggested those tissues were contributing to BCKDH activity and thus the enhanced survival seen in the iMSUD model. Therefore, if that had been the case, assessing enzyme activity in the liver alone would have been misleading.



#### Figure 8. Transgenic E2 protein expression in iMSUD mice.

E2 transgenic protein expression was characterized in iMSUD A. liver, B. brain, C. kidney, and D. muscle by Western blot analysis. c-myc expression, incorporated on the C-terminus of transgenic E2, was identical to E2 expression in liver, as expected. Actin was used as a loading control. Line A and Line 525A are two iMSUD mouse lines which differ only in the genomic location of the LAP-tTA transgene. Reproduced with permission from (Homanics et al., 2006)

#### **2.3.2.1** c-myc may hinder proper BCKDH enzyme assembly

The observation that near normal E2 protein levels in liver produced only 5-6% of BCKDH enzyme activity suggested that the BCKDH complex was operating at a suboptimal level. The reason for this may be the c-myc tag incorporated onto the carboxy-terminus of the human E2 cDNA in Transgene B (**Figure 3**). The presence of c-myc tagged protein was also assessed by Western blot, which was determined to be equal to E2 protein levels and was absent from control samples (**Figure 8A**) (Homanics et al., 2006). It was proven previously that the E2 C-terminal end was important for subunit assembly of two enzyme complexes in the same family as the BCKDH complex, the pyruvate dehydrogenase and  $\alpha$ -ketoglutarate dehydrogenase complexes (Knapp et al., 2000; Mattevi et al., 1992). In Mattevi et al. and Knapp et al.'s studies, a 6xHis tag incorporated onto the C-terminal end of the E2 subunit reduced the normally occurring 24-mer to a trimer with significantly decreased activity. Therefore, since the BCKDH complex has the same protein structure as the pyruvate dehydrogenase and  $\alpha$ -ketoglutarate dehydrogenase complexes, it is logical to deduce that a c-myc tag incorporated at the C-terminal end of the BCKDH E2 subunit interfered with proper enzyme assembly, thus reducing activity.

#### **2.3.2.2** Human E2 may interfere with mouse BCKDH components

Another explanation for near normal E2 protein in the liver, yet only 5-6% BCKDH enzyme activity could be that human E2 is unable to assemble properly and thus is not fully functional when complexed with endogenous mouse E1 and E3 subunits. Although the BCKDH E2 subunit is very well conserved across all species, mouse and human E2 are 88% homologous when the leader sequence is included, and 91% homologous when omitted at the protein level [NCBI accession # NM 010022 (mouse E2), # NM 001918 (human)]. 91% is a more accurate

calculation of homology since leader sequences are cleaved off and degraded once the protein has reached its intended place of function, which in this case would be mitochondria.

## 2.3.3 Colocalization of E2 protein and mitochondria

BCKDH is a mitochondrial enzyme, yet each subunit is encoded at different locations in the nuclear genome (Chuang and Shih, 2001). Therefore, BCKDH proteins are nuclearly transcribed, translated in the cytoplasm, and then escorted to the mitochondria with the help of protein chaperones. Therefore, another explanation for near wildtype levels of E2 protein in liver but low enzyme activity could be a result of improper trafficking of transgene-derived E2 protein to the mitochondria. To assess the ability of E2 protein to successfully localize in the mitochondria of iMSUD mice, E2 colocalization with COX IV, an inner mitochondrial membrane protein, was attempted. Unfortunately, no punctuate (i.e., specific) labeling of E2 or mitochondria (**Figure 9A**, red and green, respectively) could be established in either iMSUD or Control tissue. Despite trying several antibody dilutions, tissue fixatives, IHC protocols, and enlisting the expertise of Dr. Donna Stolz (Center for Biologic Imaging, University of Pittsburgh), colocalization could not be established.

Hoechst dye, which specifically identifies genetic material (i.e., nuclei; **Figure 9A**, blue), suggested that tissue was inferior for use in IHC; nuclei did not appear intact, particularly in iMSUD liver sections. Tissue edges were also very ragged and the tissue in general appeared wispy. Therefore, a rhodamine-phalloidin stain, which specifically identifies cell cytoskeleton (i.e., actin) was used to better visualize tissue cell morphology and thus determine tissue quality.



#### Figure 9. Colocalization of E2 protein and mitochondria.

A. Six micron liver sections from a Control and iMSUD mouse. Livers were treated with a Hoechst dye (nuclei, blue), and antibodies specific for E2-Cy3 (E2, red) and COX IV-Alexa Fluor 448 (COX IV, green). The three images were merged to identify E2/COX IV colocalization. E2 and COX IV staining was largely nonspecific or absent. Mitochondrial stain should appear as small punctuate dots within cells. Nuclei did not appear intact. B. Six micron liver sections from a Control and iMSUD mouse were treated with Hoechst dye (nuclei, blue) and rhodamine-phalloidin (actin cytoskeleton, red) to assess cell morphology and thus tissue quality. The two images were merged for orientation. Control and iMSUD tissues suffered a significant loss of cytoskeletal material. A very small amount of remaining actin was localized to the connective tissue capsule around a blood vessel, identified by tightly packed nuclei. Tissue most likely deteriorated significantly while in frozen storage and is not acceptable for use in IHC.

Phalloidin staining of both iMSUD and control liver tissue confirmed a loss of cytoskeletal material (**Figure 9B**, red). Phalloidin should identify the outer cell walls of all hepatocytes. It is also present in a greater concentration around biliary ducts and blood vessles, which are identified by tightly packed nuclei usually in a circular or oval shape (**Figure 9B**; Hoechst stain, top right of Control and center of iMSUD). Instead actin in Control tissue was absent, and a very small amount was identified in iMSUD tissue surrounding a blood vessel. The liver tissues analyzed were unfixed and cryogenically stored at -80°C for 6+ months. Therefore, cell morphology likely deteriorated significantly while in frozen storage.

At this time (July 2008), the iMSUD colony has been significantly reduced and all breeding ceased. However, breeding pairs were transferred to both Dr. Strom and Dr. Gibson (University of Pittsburgh). Once new iMSUD colonies are established, colocalization of E2 and mitochondria will be completed to determine whether mitochondrial trafficking was altered.

# 2.3.4 Residual mouse E2 mRNA in iMSUD mice

BCKDH enzyme activity and mouse E2 protein was previously determined to be absent in the cMSUD mouse model (Homanics et al., 2006), which verified that removal of E2 exons 5 and part of 4 prevented the translation of the mouse E2 subunit creating an E2 KO. However, residual E2 mRNA transcription was never assessed. Therefore, to more completely characterize the iMSUD mouse, a Taqman ready-made probe and primer set for mouse E2 was used for Real Time quantitative PCR (qPCR). The Taqman assay was verified to be mouse specific as human hepatocyte control samples were not detectable (**Figure 10**), but surprisingly a signal for mouse E2 was detected in iMSUD mouse livers. A significant difference between groups was determined by ANOVA [F(2,11) = 15, p<0.001]. It was theorized that since exons 5 and part of exon 4 were deleted to make the MSUD mouse models (**Figure 3**), it was possible mouse E2 mRNA was still being synthesized, though it was determined previously that protein was not translated (Homanics et al., 2006). Therefore, the Taqman assay, specific to E2 exons 2-3, was detecting the incomplete E2 mRNA message.

Efforts to corroborate the real time data by Northern blot analysis thus far have not been successful. iMSUD, human, and WT control RNA was successfully size fractionated and transferred to a nylon membrane. However, due to ongoing and unresolved issues involving the production of radiolabeled probes and subsequent membrane hybridization, all signals were extremely weak and therefore ambiguous for interpretation. Though initial hybridization produced a very weak signal, the human  $\beta$ -actin probe was still weakly detectable by X-ray film after membranes were stripped more than four times. RNA was not lost post-transfer, as verified by 0.03% methylene blue staining.





Livers from WT (Control) and iMSUD mice, as well as primary human hepatocytes (Human), were analyzed with a Taqman probe specific to E2 exon 2-3, which indicated mouse E2 mRNA was transcribed. E2 exons 5 and part of 4 were deleted from mouse genomic DNA to create the E2 KO mouse models. [\*, (p<0.01) compared to human and Control; \*\*, (p<0.05) compared to iMSUD and (p<0.0005) Control]. Mouse E2 RNA was not detectable in human samples verifying Taqman specificity.

# 2.3.5 Liver morphology

Liver morphology was also assessed to determine whether iMSUD livers, the site for directed novel therapies discussed in this dissertation, were overtly normal. Hematoxylin and Eosin (H&E) staining of liver sections revealed no difference in morphology between iMSUD and wildtype; iMSUD livers appeared normal and healthy (Figure 11, left). However, when a Red Oil O stain was applied, a difference in the liver fat content was revealed (Figure 11, right). iMSUD livers were noticeably less fatty compared to wildtype controls. This may be explained by iMSUD mice eating less than wildtype littermates, which would also explain their observed growth retardation since BCAAs are essential amino acids required for growth and overall good body health (Figure 7). When protein is ingested in an individual with MSUD, BCAA/BCKA's can quickly elevate to dangerous levels causing unpleasant symptoms (Chuang and Shih, 2001). Therefore, it was possible iMSUD mice were able to correlate ingestion of mouse chow with



#### Figure 11. H&E and Red Oil O staining of iMSUD and Control livers.

H&E staining of iMSUD mouse liver illustrated no symptom of disease compared to Control (WT) mouse liver (left panels). Red Oil O treatment (right panels) revealed healthy Control livers to be fattier than iMSUD. Fat droplets were stained red. Magnification used was 40x.

feeling sick (BCAA crisis). To support this hypothesis, it was previously reported that mice displaying a MSUD-like phenotype caused by disruption of BCATm (She et al., 2007) and iMSUD mice (Zinnanti et al., 2008) were able to distinguish between a high and low BCAA diet, which resulted in their improved health and survival. Furthermore, mice with other diseases (e.g., renal failure, asthma) were consciously able to recognize and subsequently avoid stimuli which exacerbated their condition (Costa-Pinto et al., 2005; Gooderham et al., 2004).

## 2.3.6 Brain BCAA levels and neuropathology

Blood chemistry previously revealed an increase in BCAA levels and a decrease in alanine, glutamate, and glutamine in iMSUD mice compared to controls (Homanics et al., 2006). Brain analysis by HPLC (Dr. W. Zinnanti, Pennsylvania State College of Medicine, Hershey, PA) revealed that glutamate and glutamine were both reduced by ~50% and GABA was reduced by ~22% compared to Controls (Zinnanti et al., 2008). In addition to these changes, when compared to controls, dopamine was reduced by more than 60%, aspartate was reduced by more than 40%, and the free amino acids threenine, tryptophan and tyrosine were all significantly reduced while alanine and lysine were increased (Zinnanti et al., 2008). Amino acid changes were consistent with previous studies in rats (Araujo et al., 2001) and with human MSUD cerebrospinal fluid samples (Wajner et al., 2000). Glutamine is a substrate for the production of both glutamate and GABA, excitatory and inhibitory neurotransmitters in the brain, respectively (Waagepetersen et al., 2003). Depletion of neurotransmitters in MSUD was previously suggested based upon clinical observations of human patients and was consistent with previous studies with newborn MSUD calves (Dodd et al., 1992) and cultured human astrocytes (McKenna et al., 1998). GABA, glutamate, and glutamine rely on each other as well as BCAAs

to maintain a proper balance within the body (**Figure 12**). In the GABA-glutamate/glutamine cycle, glutamine is synthesized and released from astrocytes and taken up by neurons. GABA and glutamate is then synthesized from glutamine and released as neurotransmitters from GABAergic/glutamatergic neurons. In MSUD, BCAAs are increased which causes negative feedback and a paradoxical decrease of GABA, glutamate, and glutamine (Yudkoff, 1997).

Human MSUD is characterized by severe neurological manifestations such as encephalopathy, vacuolization and edema of the basal ganglia, brain stem, and cerebrum, lack of dendritic development in cortex, and dysmyelination (Chuang and Shih, 2001; Crome et al., 1961; Kamei et al., 1992; Silberman et al., 1961). Therefore, additional neuropathology of iMSUD mice was assessed through histology and immunohistochemistry (IHC) and MRI (Zinnanti et al., 2008). T2 maps generated by MRI of iMSUD mice and controls revealed moderate (4 week old iMSUD mice) and severe (6 week old iMSUD mice) neuropathological deviations in the striatum, corpus callosum, and thalamus denoted by increased T<sub>2</sub> signals. Evidence of fluid build up was also noted. Hematoxylin and eosin (H&E) stained sections of forebrain (Figure 13A-B) and brain stem (Figure 13C-D) from control and iMSUD mice revealed areas of edema in iMSUD brain (white arrows, Figure 13B&D) (Zinnanti et al., 2008). Confocal images from similar sections as in Figure 13A-D were labeled with N52 for neurofilaments (green), GFAP for astrocytes (red) and DAPI for nuclei (blue) (Figure 13E-H) revealed moderate vacuolation and astrocytosis in the striatum of iMSUD sections (Figure **13F&H**) (Zinnanti et al., 2008). Brain edema, along with vacuolation and astrocytosis of the striatum, are consistent with human cases of MSUD (Chuang and Shih, 2001; Crome et al., 1961; Silberman et al., 1961).



#### Figure 12. GABA-glutamate/glutamine cycle.

BCAA, GABA, glutamate, and glutamine all rely on each other to maintain proper balance in vivo. Glutamine is synthesized and released from astrocytes and taken up by neurons. GABA and glutamate is then synthesized from glutamine and released as neurotransmitters from GABAergic/glutamatergic neurons. In MSUD, BCAAs are increased, which promotes reverse transamination of glutamate back to  $\alpha$ -ketoglutarate. Therefore, increased BCAAs causes a paradoxical decrease of glutamate, glutamine, and GABA. These interactions have heavy influence on the Krebs cycle and energy cycling. Figure made using Pathway Builder 2.0.



#### Figure 13. Neuropathology in the iMSUD mouse model.

White arrows indicate edema in the striatum of iMSUD animals in forebrain (**A-B**) and brain stem (**C-D**). The black boxes indicate the area of inset image (20x). **E-H**. IHC of similar brain sections labeled with N52 (neurofilaments, green), GFAP (astrocytes, red) and DAPI (nuclei, blue). All brain analyses were completed by Dr. W. Zinnanti (Penn State, Hershey, PA). Figure reproduced with permission from Dr. W. Zinnanti.

### 2.4 CONCLUSIONS

Previous characterization of the iMSUD mouse model revealed that it was remarkably similar to the human disease (Homanics et al., 2006). However, further characterization presented here increased our understanding of the mouse model and revealed additional similarities beween it and the human disease (summarized in **Table 9**). iMSUD mice suffered from reduced body weight at weaning, seizures, hypoactivity, and in severe cases, muscle wasting and paralysis. Brain BCAA levels agreed with previously assessed blood BCAA levels, and there was also a marked decrease in neurotransmitters and neurotransmitter precursors such glutamate, glutamine, dopamine, aspartate, and GABA. iMSUD brains displayed as abnormalities, such as evidence of edema, astrocytosis, and vacuolization in the striatum and brain stem, while iMSUD liver morphology was overtly normal, which was consistent with human cases of disease (Chuang and Shih, 2001; Crome et al., 1961; Silberman et al., 1961). However, iMSUD livers were less fatty than Controls, something not typically seen in the human disease. MSUD children and young adults are in many cases overweight since foods that are low or devoid of protein are high in fat and sugars (Breakout Session, MSUD Family Symposium, 2006). BCKDH enzyme activity was between 5-6% of normal, which was within the range of human iMSUD (3-30%) (Chuang and Shih, 2001). Therefore, I conclude that the novel iMSUD mouse model, which mimics an intermediate human MSUD phenotype, is suitable in which to test liver-directed treatment approaches, such as AAV and cellular therapies, to correct the disease.

Despite many similarities to the human disease (**Table 9**), there was one unexplained observation. In some animals, E2 protein levels in the liver were similar to wildtype controls despite low BCKDH enzyme activity. There were several hypotheses that might explain these

results. One possible explanation involved improper trafficking of human E2 protein to the mitochondria, could not be ruled out as a possibility due to inferior liver tissue quality for IHC Colocalization experiments will be completed once iMSUD animals have been analysis. generated either in Dr. K.M. Gibson's or Dr. S. Strom's laboratory (University of Pittsburgh). However, the most likely explanation for these data was the incorporation of a c-myc tag on the C-terminus of transgenic human E2. This hypothesis was based upon previous publications citing similar issues with BCKDH complex family members (Knapp et al., 2000; Mattevi et al., 1992). Enzyme activity may also be hindered by the transgenic expression of human E2 in a mouse system. In order to elucidate what may be occurring *in vivo*, a lipid-directed transfection assay using cultured E2 KO mouse embryonic fibroblast (MEF) cells could be explored. E2 KO fibroblasts could be transfected via lipid-DNA complexes packaged with one of three different mammalian expression vector constructs: (1) human E2 cDNA, (2) human E2 cDNA with incorporated C-terminal c-myc, and (3) mouse E2 cDNA. After allowing construct DNA to be delivered to KO MEF cells, BCKDH enzyme activity would be assessed (as described in the Methods section) to determine the ability of each to restore enzyme activity and then compared to enzyme activity in untransfected KO MEF cells and WT control MEF cells. Based upon my hypothesis, I would expect mouse E2 cDNA to restore activity to WT levels while a human E2 cDNA with incorporated C-terminal c-myc construct would significantly reduce enzyme activity to the levels seen in the iMSUD mouse. Due to similarities in human and mouse E2, both at the genomic and protein level, I would not expect the human E2 cDNA construct to significantly decrease enzyme activity, though a small decrease would not be surprising. A difference of 9% exists at the protein level, therefore depending on where the changes were and whether protein folding or function was slightly altered, it would be possible for activity to also change slightly.

 Table 9. iMSUD disease phenotype vs. the human disease.

Disease Phenotype	iMSUD Mouse Model	iMSUD Human Patients <sup>5</sup>
Maple syrup smell in urine	Yes	Yes
"Squinty" eyes	Yes	Yes, in times when
		BCAAs are elevated
Able to produce normal offspring	Yes	Yes
Mental retardation	Not determined	Yes, after severe
		prolonged BCAA acidosis
BCAA/BCKA acidosis	Yes	Yes
Additional AA imbalances	Yes	Yes
Decreased BCKDH activity	Yes, 5-6% of normal	Yes, 3-30% of normal for
		iMSUD
Developmental/growth delay	Yes	Yes
Seizures	Yes	Yes
Hypoactivity	Yes	Yes
Paralysis, muscle wasting	Yes, in severe prolonged	Yes, in severe prolonged
	BCAA acidosis	BCAA acidosis
Encephalopathy	Yes	Yes
Normal liver morphology	Yes, though less fatty	Yes
Hyperammonemia	Not determined	Yes
Neurotransmitter imbalances	Yes	Yes
Neurological damage (edema,	Yes	Yes, in severe prolonged
vacuolization, dysmyelinization,		or repeated BCAA
decreased dendritic development,		acidosis
astrocytosis)		
Coma	Not observed	Yes
Premature death	Yes	Yes

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The list in Table 9 is a compilation of possible clinical manifestations reported for human MSUD. With regards to human patients, many of the severe phenotypes listed can be effectively prevented through attentive management and care, though individuals can still go into crisis accompanied by permanent neurological trauma and death.

# **3.0 AAV GENE THERAPY IN iMSUD MICE**

<u>Hypothesis</u>: I hypothesize AAV-directed gene therapy can correct E2 deficiency, restore liver BCKDH activity, and ultimately correct the disease phenotype of the iMSUD mouse model.

# 3.1 BACKGROUND AND SIGNIFICANCE

AAVs are derived from a nonpathogenic parvovirus, which are devoid of viral coding sequences making AAV replication-deficient; due to their small size, inability to replicate, and simple three-protein capsid structure, AAV has very low risk of immune response (Goncalves, 2005; Yang et al., 1995; Yang et al., 1994). The AAV vectors have also been shown to allow long-term expression of transgenes in transduced cells and their progeny from a single dose (Koeberl et al., 1997; Mochizuki et al., 2004; Wang et al., 2005a). To date, eleven AAV serotypes have been isolated, one of which shows the greatest promise for our application; AAV8 has been shown to selectively transduce hepatocytes 10-100 times more efficiently than all other serotypes currently analyzed (Sun et al., 2005b; Xiao et al., 1998a).

AAV was previously shown to be highly efficient at liver infection and subsequent trangene delivery (Jiang et al., 2001; Koeberl et al., 1999; Mount et al., 2002; Su et al., 1996; Xiao et al., 1998a). An albumin promoter can effectively direct expression in liver cells (Jiang et al., 2001; Koeberl et al., 1999; Su et al., 1996; Xiao et al., 1998a). In addition, AAV8 can be

used to achieve high levels of expression in many tissues, most notably hepatocytes and muscle, when injected in adult animals (Wang et al., 2005b; Zhu et al., 2005). AAV has also been approved for several clinical trials, such as Parkinson's disease, muscular dystrophy,  $\alpha$ 1AT deficiency, and cystic fibrosis (Goncalves, 2005; Kaplitt et al., 2007; Pacak et al., 2007), which have made some encouraging progress. Therefore, it was determined that AAV was a logical and appropriate gene delivery system for use with the novel iMSUD model due to low immune response and superior liver targeting.

# 3.2 METHODS

All studies involving animals were reviewed and approved by the University of Pittsburgh's Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee.

# 3.2.1 Mouse colony breeding

Production of iMSUD and control mice was carried out as previously described in Methods Section 2.2.

# 3.2.2 PCR and southern blot genotyping

PCR and Southern blot analysis for genotyping of iMSUD animals was completed as previously described in Methods Section 2.2.

## 3.2.3 AAV vector construction, packaging, and purification

The mouse albumin promoter (2.3kb; NCBI accession # J04738) was first subcloned into the KpnI and NotI sites of AAV vector plasmid pXX-UF1 to create pAAV-Alb. Human E2 cDNA (1.4kb) was then isolated from the retroviral vector MFG-E2 and inserted into the NotI and Sall sites of pAAV-Alb to generate the final vector construct, pAAV-Alb-hE2. The AAV vector construct also contained the 145bp inverted terminal repeat *cis*-acting element at either end of the viral genome, which was required for capsid packaging. AAV-Alb-hE2 viral vectors were packaged into AAV2 and AAV8 capsid proteins by the high-titer, helper-virus-free Triple Transfection Method, which was capable of producing high purity rAAV viral stocks of up to 10<sup>10</sup> to 10<sup>11</sup> transducing units (t.u.)/mL (up to 10<sup>13</sup> viral particles (v.p.)/mL) and approaches wild type AAV yields (Xiao et al., 1998b). Resultant viral particles containing AAV-Alb-hE2 (Figure 14) were further purified by double CsCl ultracentrifugation and dialyzed against DMEM cell culture media. Viral titers were determined by dot-blot analysis. Briefly, vector DNA was extracted from 2µL of each fraction of the CsCl density gradient and dotted onto a nylon membrane along with a known amount of plasmid pAAV-Alb-hE2 DNA as a copy number standard. Hybridization of an E2 cDNA probe and visualization of resulting signals on X-ray film determined AAV-Alb-hE2 viral particle titers to be, in reference to the copy number, in the range of  $5 \times 10^{12}$  v.p./mL. Viral stocks were diluted to a working concentration of  $1 \times 10^{7}$ v.p/mL with filter sterilized PBS. All described work was done solely by Dr. Xiao Xiao and his staff (Dept. of Molecular Genetics and Biochemistry) while at the University of Pittsburgh.



Figure 14. Recombinant AAV-Alb-hE2 gene therapy vector.

Viral DNA was packaged into AAV2 and AAV8 via the Triple Transfection Method. Human E2 (hE2, 1.46kB) transgene expression was driven by the mouse albumin (Alb) promoter (2.3kB). 145bp ITR's were included for correct packaging into AAV capsids as well as a poly A tail to protect against mRNA degradation.

## 3.2.4 AAV gene therapy

iMSUD mice were injected intraperitoneally (IP) with viral particals containing AAV8-Alb-hE2 or AAV2-Alb-hE2 (**Figure 14**) at a dose of  $1 \times 10^{11}$  v.g/kg body weight per mouse or PBS at three weeks of age. Some mice were given a second dose at 7 weeks of age. Mice were sacrificed at 42 days post injection or earlier if animals were moribund, and the tissues analyzed.

# 3.2.5 Southern blot to detect AAV DNA

Genomic DNA was isolated from various tissues (liver, muscle, kidney, heart) and cultured mouse embryonic fibroblasts (MEFs). Each sample (25µg) was analyzed by digestion with the restriction enzyme EcoRI. Digested samples were run through a 1% agarose/4x Hellings gel for 950 minutes at ~20V, transferred to Hybond-N (Amersham, Piscataway, NJ) via capillary transfer, and DNA was fixed to the blot by UV crosslinking. Prior to hybridization with a radiolabeled probe made via the Random Primed DNA Labeling Kit (Roche, Indianapolis, IN), membranes were incubated with prehybridization solution containing salmon sperm DNA for several hours at 42°C. Southern blots were probed with a <sup>32</sup>P-labeled probe specific to mouse E2 exon 6, which detects only mouse E2, and a probe specific to human E2 cDNA, which detects

only human E2 (transgene derived E2 and AAV derived E2), and a probe specific to the TRE element of the TRE-E2 transgene. Membranes were exposed to X-ray film for detection under nonsaturating conditions.

#### **3.2.6 BCKDH complex enzyme activity assay**

iMSUD-PBS, iMSUD-AAV8, and iMSUD-AAV2 treated mouse livers were removed, flash frozen in liquid  $N_2$  and stored at -80°C. BCKDH activity was determined as previously described in Methods Section 2.2.

## 3.2.7 Blood BCAA levels

Blood samples were collected from the tail at weaning, immediately prior to therapeutic injection, and then ~weekly for 12 weeks post-treatment. Blood samples were spotted on a Guthrie card and mailed to Pediatrix Screening Inc. (Bridgeville, PA) for processing by tandem mass spectrophotometry (MS-MS). Total BCAA levels were expressed as a ratio to alanine, a sensitive indicator of MSUD phenotype (Morton et al., 2002). Data were analyzed by Repeated Measures ANOVA or post-hoc Fisher's test.

## 3.2.8 Western blot analysis

Protein extracts were isolated from liquid  $N_2$  flash frozen homogenized liver or cultured mouse hepatocytes. Protein (25µg per sample) was analyzed as previously described in Methods Section 2.2.

#### 3.2.9 Survival

Date of birth, date of AAV or PBS treatment, and date of death was recorded for iMSUD mice. Data were analyzed using the Kaplan-Meier method and the Log Rank test (Kaplan and Meier, 1958; Mantel, 1966).

#### 3.2.10 Adult hepatocyte isolation

Adult mouse hepatocytes (~8-10 weeks of age) were isolated by collagenase perfusion (Strom et al., 1996). In brief, wildtype donor mice were sedated and a midline laparotomy performed. The inferior vena cava was then perfused and the portal vein sectioned within 5-10 seconds of the start of perfusion to allow the solution to flow through the liver. The liver was sequentially perfused at a rate of 2.5 mL/min with EGTA solution (HBSS without calcium or magnesium, EGTA 0.5 mM, HEPES 10 mM, pH 7.5 supplemented with penicillin/streptomycin 1%) for 5 minutes followed by collagenase solution for 10 min (EMEM with calcium/magnesium plus collagenase 0.1 mg/ml, HEPES 10 mM, pH 7.5 and penicillin/streptomycin 1%). Hepatocytes were removed by mechanical disassociation and filtered through sterile 150 mM nylon mesh. Cells were washed 3 times in EMEM media by centrifugation at 50 x g for 5 min, finally resuspended at a concentration of 10<sup>7</sup> cells/ml in HMM media (Cambrex) and plated on collagen-coated plates for culture.

## 3.2.11 In vitro AAV infection

Adult mouse hepatocytes isolated from wildtype mice were seeded in 12-well plates (BD Falcon, Franklin Lakes, NJ) coated with 0.05mg/mL rat tail collagen (~5x10<sup>5</sup> cells per well). These cells were either mock-infected with PBS or incubated with AAV2-Alb-hE2 or AAV8-alb-hE2 vectors at 10<sup>3</sup> genomic particles/cell in a minimal volume in the presence of serum. One hour after the addition of serum, cells were washed and media was replaced with serum-free media. Cells were washed and the media replaced daily. Mock infected cells were harvested at days 1, 3, 5, and 7 and AAV infected cells were harvested at days 3, 5, and 7 post-infection. AAV infected cells were not collected at day 1 post-infection since AAV without helper virus requires several days to infect, translocate to the nucleus, and begin therapeutic gene delivery (Xiao et al., 2002). The presence of human E2 protein was assessed by Western blot analysis.

#### 3.3 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

# 3.3.1 BCKDH enzyme activity and E2 protein in the liver

Following IP AAV gene therapy injection  $(1 \times 10^{11} \text{v.g/kg} \text{ body weight})$  into iMSUD mice, hepatic E2 protein and BCKDH enzyme activity were analyzed. BCKDH enzyme activity, expressed as a percentage of total WT activity, initially appeared to be elevated in AAV8 treated animals compared to PBS control and AAV2 treated animals (**Figure 15A**). Since AAV8 has been shown to selectively transduce hepatocytes 10-100 times more efficiently than all other serotypes, these data were not unexpected (Sun et al., 2005b; Xiao et al., 1998a). However, due to a great deal of variability between samples, which was also present in PBS control treated animals and untreated iMSUD animals analyzed previously, this difference was not statistically significant as determined by ANOVA [F(2,9)=2, p>0.3]. Baseline variability of BCKDH enzyme activity between individuals is characteristic of MSUD due to its associated clinical heterogeneity (Chuang and Shih, 2001) which therefore makes small changes in enzyme activity more difficult to detect.

E2 protein in liver was analyzed by Western blot (**Figure 15B**) and quantified. No significant difference in E2 protein levels were detected between PBS, AAV2, or AAV8 treated animals [F(2,7)=2, p>0.2]. There were several factors complicating the detection of any change in E2 protein levels. The first was the same issue encountered for BCKDH enzyme activity – base protein levels varied greatly between individuals which made detection of a small increase in E2 protein levels from gene therapy difficult. The second was that both transgene- and AAV-derived E2 protein were human and therefore indistinguishable by Western blot. Therefore, a substantial increase in E2 protein would be needed in AAV-treated animals over PBS-treated controls for the quantification software to distinguish a statistical change in band density, especially since there were large error values due to sample variability.

## 3.3.2 BCAA blood levels and survival

Logically, a small change in BCKDH enzyme activity in AAV treated animals, even if such a change was statistically insignificant, may be sufficient to decrease blood BCAA levels and therefore improve survival. However, no difference in survival between groups was observed (**Figure 15C**). For all treatment groups, approximately 50% of animals died by 7 days post-injection while  $\sim 22\%$  (n=2/9) of AAV2-treated animals and  $\sim 7.6\%$  (n=1/13) of AAV8-





iMSUD-PBS, iMSUD-AAV2, and iMSUD-AAV8 animals were analyzed for differences in **A.** BCKDH activity (expressed as a percentage of WT control activity), **B.** E2 protein by Western blot, **C.** Survival, and **D.** BCAA/alanine levels in bood. Normal BCAA/alanine levels are  $\sim 1 \mu mol/L$ . High variability between samples was observed in **A. & D.** There was no significant difference between treatment groups in panels **A-D.** The numbers on the bars of **A. & D.** indicate n values. All data in **A.**, **B.**, **& D.** were expressed as the mean +/- SEM.

treated animals survived longer than 27 days post-treatment, the maximum survival of PBS treated animals.

BCAA levels in serum, analyzed by MS-MS, also did not yield a significant difference between treatments likely due to substantial variability between samples (**Figure 15D**). The high variability between individuals agreed with iMSUD blood analysis completed previously (Homanics et al., 2006). High variability between individuals is not an uncommon attribute in patients with a metabolic disease displaying clinical heterogeneity such as MSUD (Chuang and Shih, 2001), but this phenomenon could be exacerbated by when the mouse last ate. Mice are nocturnal. Therefore, all blood samples were taken at ~1pm, which should correspond to low activity levels, to minimize fluctuations from ingested protein. However, only removing food several hours before blood collection would reliably eliminate that factor.

# 3.3.3 AAV DNA detection by Southern blot

Since no effect of AAV gene therapy was apparent in iMSUD treated mice, various tissues were analyzed by EcoRI restriction enzyme digest and subsequent Southern blot analysis for the presence of AAV genomic DNA. Three DNA probes were used: one specific for endogenous mouse E2, one specific for human E2 cDNA, and one specific for the TRE element of the TRE-E2 transgene. iMSUD mouse lines A and 525A differ only in the genomic location of the TRE-E2 transgene, which results in a difference in the DNA fragment size corresponding to TRE-E2 by Southern blot analysis (Homanics et al., 2006).

The ability of AAV to transduce cells was first tested in MEF cells. MEFs were infected with AAV2-Alb-hE2 *in vitro*. Uninfected MEF cells possessed only endogenous mouse E2 DNA while AAV-infected MEFs possessed both mouse and human E2 DNA (**Figure 16**, small
blot on right), which suggested that AAV vectors were functional. In addition, species specificity of E2 probes to human or mouse was verified. Infected MEFs were washed thoroughly prior to cell collection for analysis; therefore detected human E2 DNA was from AAV genomic DNA transduced inside of MEFs rather than from AAV particles present in the media external to cultured cells.

Genomic DNA isolated from kidney, liver, heart and muscle from iMSUD animals were analyzed by Southern blot for the presence of AAV DNA. However, AAV genomic DNA was not detectable in mouse tissue samples. A strong single band was identified when analyzed with a mouse E2 probe (Figure 16, top large blot) which corresponded to endogenous mouse E2. The mouse E2 probe hybridized to E2 exon 6 present in all iMSUD mice, thus serving as a positive control to determine DNA quality. The human E2 probe, specific to human E2 cDNA present in the TRE-E2 transgene and AAV viral vectors, identified one strong band, which differed in size by mouse line, with multiple less intense bands (Figure 16, middle large blot). The faint multiple bands may be the result of incomplete digestion of the genomic tissue DNA. A single strong band accompanied by multiple less intense bands in the same patterns as presented here for both mouse lines were routinely observed in untreated genomic tail DNA after digestion with EcoRI for Southern blot genotyping. The pattern of multiple bands was more distinct in iMSUD line A mice, which also agreed with prior results observed in Southern blot genotyping. Furthermore, DNA isolated from AAV- and PBS-treated animals (525A line) detected identical bands. Taken together, these data suggested the DNA fragments identified by the human E2 probe corresponded to E2 DNA present in the TRE-E2 transgene and not AAVs. The TRE element probe detected identical bands as the human E2 specific probe (Figure 16, bottom large blot), which verified human E2 DNA was transgenic in origin and not viral.



#### Figure 16. AAV DNA Southern blot.

Liver, kidney, heart, and muscle genomic DNA isolated from iMSUD animals treated with PBS, AAV2, or AAV8 were digested with EcoRI and analyzed for the presence of AAV DNA containing human E2. Probes for mouse E2 exon 6 (Left, top panel; positive control present in all mouse DNA), human E2 (Left, middle panel; specific for human E2 present in the TRE-E2 transgene and AAVs), and the transgenic TRE element (Left, bottom panel; specific for the TRE element present in the TRE-E2 transgene). iMSUD mouse lines A and 525A differ only in the genomic location of the TRE-E2 transgene. The ability for AAV to infect cells and the specificity of the human E2 probe was verified in cultured MEF cells (Right, bottom blot).

The inability to detect AAV DNA in tissue samples by Southern blot analysis could be explained in several ways. The AAV vectors were possibly not functional and were therefore unable to infect cells once injected *in vivo*. However, due to the presence of an intense human E2 band by Southern analysis following *in vitro* infection of MEF cells, this explanation is unlikely. AAV DNA was possibly lost over time after cell infection. However, hepatocytes are largely quiescent; therefore dilution of AAV DNA due to hepatocyte turnover is also unlikely. Finally, AAV DNA was possibly present at a concentration below the threshold of Southern blot analysis. This explanation is highly likely since it was later learned the dose administered to iMSUD animals was ~1 v.g./cell (Dr. H. Nakai, personal communication Sept 2007, University of Pittsburgh). This and other issues are discussed in greater detail in the Conclusions section of this chapter.

## 3.3.4 AAV hepatocyte infection

Freshly isolated adult mouse hepatocytes were infected in vitro to determine if AAV vectors were able to manufacture E2 protein in albumin expressing cells. Cell lysates were analyzed by Western blot and quantified. Unfortunately, no human E2 protein (54kD) was visible in cultured hepatocytes following infection with either AAV2 or AAV8 therapeutic vectors (Figure 17). Cultured hepatocytes normally expressed only endogenous mouse E2 (47kD). A heterozygous liver sample was included for direct comparison of AAV-infected hepatocytes since mouse and human E2 were present as a doublet. A statistical significance was observed for total E2 protein between controls [No AAV (n=6)] and AAV8 or AAV2 (n=9 for both) infected hepatocytes as determined by ANOVA [F(2,19)=7, p<0.005], though it was not in the expected direction. AAV-infected hepatocytes displayed a decrease in total E2 protein compared to No AAV controls; total E2 protein at 3 days post-infection was 52.7% +/- 4.7 SEM of control for AAV2 (p<0.001) and 64.4% +/- 4.4 SEM of control for AAV8 (p<0.01). E2 protein continued to decrease slightly at 5 and 7 days post-infection, though protein fluctuation between AAV-infected 3, 5, and 7 day cultures were not significant to each other. To further complicate interpretation of Western results, E2 protein also appeared to slightly decrease from day 0 to day 5 in No AAV controls, which suggested time in culture was negatively affecting endogenous E2. Significance could not be determined possibly due to small sample size (n=3 for each timepoint), however a decrease in E2 protein would not be surprising since culture media was not supplemented with BCAAs. In addition, visual comparison of the E2 band on day 5 in No AAV control and AAV-treated hepatocytes suggested AAV interaction was negatively affecting E2 expression, though this difference was not significant possibly due to small sample size (n=3 for No AAV control at day 5). Uninfected cell lysates were also collected from cultured hepatoctyes at 3 days but were not analyzed due to space restrictions on the Western gel. Collection of pre-infection hepatocytes was attempted at 7 days as well, however due to difficulties surrounding hepatocyte survival *in vitro*, cell numbers and quality were unsatisfactory for analysis. Each sample was analyzed in triplicate.

In addition to concerns suggesting AAVs were negatively affecting endogenous E2 expression, there were several possible explanations for the apparent lack of human E2 in infected cells as assessed by Western blot analysis. The most likely explanation was that AAVs required more time to translocate to the nucleus and begin production of human E2. In nondividing cells such as hepatocytes, AAV infection in the absence of helper virus is very slow - approximately 7-10 days (Dr. H. Nakai, personal communication Sept. 2007, University of Pittsburgh), and hepatocytes are difficult to sustain in culture beyond 7 days. If an established human hepatocyte cell line such as HepG2 was infected instead (since these cells divide rapidly in culture), AAV vectors would be able to more quickly infect cells and express protein. However, AAV-derived human E2 expression would likely not be robust enough to distinguish itself from baseline human E2 present in HepG2 cells or other immortalized liver lines to be Unfortunately established mouse hepatocyte cell lines are not available. convincing. Furthermore, AAV8 is not very effective in vitro regardless of cell type (Dr. H. Nakai, personal communication Sept. 2007, University of Pittsburgh). Other possible explanations were that human E2 protein was below the threshold level of the assay or that AAVs were unable to infect hepatocytes in culture. The latter explanation is unlikely since these vectors were able to infect cultured MEFs (Figure 16).



#### Figure 17. AAV infection of mouse hepatocytes in vitro.

WT adult mouse hepatocytes seeded onto cell culture plates at 5 x  $10^5$  cells/well were either mock infected (No AAV, n=6) or infected with  $10^3$  v.p/cell of AAV8- (n=9) or AAV2-Alb-hE2 (n=9). No AAV hepatocytes cultured for 0 and 5 and AAV-infected hepatocytes cultured for 3, 5, and 7 days were analyzed for E2 protein, albumin (functional hepatocyte control), and actin (loading control). Mouse liver heterozygous for the mouse E2 KO was also analyzed as a control: human (54kD) and mouse (47kD) E2 were visible as a doublet. No human E2 protein was visible in AAV infected cells. E2 was decreased in AAV-infected cells (p<0.01, AAV8; p<0.001, AAV2) when compared to No AAV controls suggesting AAV was negatively affecting endogenous mouse E2 expression.

# 3.4 CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS

I hypothesized that AAV-directed gene therapy could restore liver BCKDH activity to ultimately correct the disease phenotype in the iMSUD mouse model. Due to earlier studies that involved AAV8 specifically (Sarkar et al., 2004; Sun et al., 2005b; Xiao et al., 1998a), it was determined to be the vector of choice for our study. However, no significant improvement was successfully determined in AAV-treated iMSUD mice for survival, blood BCAA/ala levels, liver BCKDH enzyme activity compared to PBS-treated mice (**Figure 15**). AAV DNA was not detected in analyzed tissues from AAV-treated animals by Southern blot analysis (**Figure 16**). A significant difference was determined between E2 protein in mock-infected and AAV-infected hepatocytes in culture, however AAV-infected cells displayed a decrease in protein, not an increase as expected. The most likely reasons this study was unsuccessful was due to multiple issues, which involved a low treatment dose, use of the weak albumin promoter, and possible competition and interaction between AAV-derived and transgene-derived human E2. These issues and others are discussed in greater detail below.

AAV-derived human E2 was perhaps unable to improve the iMSUD phenotype due to a low administered treatment dose. AAV virus, injected IP, will infect a wide range of cell types; however, expression of E2 will only occur in hepatocytes due to transgene direction from the mouse albumin promoter. Therefore, a low dose would not be able to infect a significant number of hepatocytes and thus express a significant amount of E2 protein to correct the disease in iMSUD mice. The dose administered, 1x10<sup>11</sup> v.g./kg body weight, correlated to approximately 1 v.g./cell (Dr. H. Nakai, personal communication Sept 2007, University of Pittsburgh). In addition, IP injection may be too general an injection site for sufficient viral load to infect the liver and improve iMSUD phenotype, although preliminary data revealed high albumin-driven GFP expression in the liver from an AAV vector following IP administration (Xiao Xiao, UNC School of Pharmacy, unpublished data).

It was previously shown that an albumin promoter in AAV can effectively direct expression in liver cells (Jiang et al., 2001; Koeberl et al., 1999; Su et al., 1996; Xiao et al., 1998a). However, the albumin promoter was suggested to be a weak liver promoter. One such publication compared fifteen promoters for driving expression of luciferase in the mouse liver; the mouse albumin promoter placed  $15^{th}$  out of 15 tested liver-specific promoters (Al-Dosari et al., 2006). Furthermore, the mouse albumin promoter had ~5% the activity of the ApoHCR- $\alpha$ 1AT liver promoter commonly used in Dr. Nakai's laboratory (personal communication Sept. 2007, University of Pittsburgh).

The presence of c-myc tagged transgenic human E2 may have hindered AAV-derived human E2 function due to interaction or competition. It was reported that the carboxy terminal

94

end of E2 was important for subunit assembly of two enzyme complexes in the same family as the BCKDH complex, the pyruvate dehydrogenase and α-ketoglutarate complexes, which was discussed previously (Knapp et al., 2000; Mattevi et al., 1992). In both of these studies, a 6xHis tag incorporated onto the C-terminal end of the E2 subunit reduced the normally occuring 24mer to a trimer with significantly decreased activity. Therefore, since the BCKDH complex has the same protein structure and function as its two family members, it was logical to deduce that a c-myc tag at the C-terminal end of the BCKDH E2 subunit may also interfere with proper enzyme assembly reducing activity. Since c-myc tagged transgenic E2 and AAV treatmentderived E2 would compete for inclusion into the enzyme complex in the cell, any incorporated cmyc tagged E2 may disturb proper BCKDH complex formation and function. In addition, this may mean any treatment that uses the endogenous BCKDH complex machinery would also not be successful in this particular iMSUD mouse model.

As discussed in a previous section, human E2 may also not be compatible for optimum activity with endogenous mouse E1 and E3 subunits. The BCKDH E2 subunit is very well conserved across species, mouse and human E2 are 88% homologous when the leader sequence is included and 91% homologous when omitted at the protein level. 91% is a more accurate calculation of homology since leader sequences are cleaved and degraded once a protein has reached its intended place of function. However, even 9% difference in protein sequence homology may be sufficient to disrupt optimal assembly and function.

It was also possible that the AAV vector expressed E2 protein at a very low level or not at all. One potential issue was the fact that the AAV-Alb-hE2 vectors lacked an intron. The benefits for the presence or absence of an intron in AAV vectors are somewhat controversial. It has been suggested that sustained expression of AAV *in vivo* was sometimes strengthened by the presence of an intron (Ostedgaard et al., 2005). However, it has also been suggested that an intron was not required for expression and benefits are generally minimal (Wang et al., 2005b); many investigators omit it in order to conserve precious space.

Despite these negative data and many potential issues, it was likely the AAV-Alb-hE2 viral vectors were functional, albeit at a low level. Therefore, possible plans for the future will be to construct a new AAV viral vector using a stronger promoter to drive expression of E2, i.e., human alpha-1-antitrypsin (AAT). The human AAT promoter has been shown to be capable of directing high expression specifically in hepatocytes (Knapp and Liu, 2004; Nash et al., 2004). Incorporation of an intron to help strengthen sustained AAV expression *in vivo* is also planned. Hydrodynamic viral administration via the tail vein, which can have a 40% or greater hepatocyte transfection efficiency with a single injection (Liu et al., 1999; Zhu et al., 2006), should also help to transfect a greater number of hepatocytes in the iMSUD mouse model. In addition, a dose of  $10^{12}$  v.g./animal would be an optimal starting dose (Dr. H. Nakai, personal communication Sept. 2007, University of Pittsburgh).

# 4.0 HEPATOCYTE TRANSPLANT (HTx) THERAPY IN iMSUD MICE

<u>Hypothesis</u>: I hypothesize that liver-directed hepatocyte transplant (HTx) therapy can correct E2 deficiency, restore liver BCKDH activity, and ultimately correct the disease phenotype of the iMSUD mouse model.

# 4.1 BACKGROUND AND SIGNIFICANCE

MSUD, caused by a deficiency in the BCKDH complex, is a serious liver-based metabolic disorder with limited options for reliable treatment. However, it is known that 100% of whole body BCKDH activity is not needed to correct the disease phenotype. Human MSUD carriers expressing 50% of whole body BCKDH activity rarely display symptoms (Chuang and Shih, 2001), which was also true for iMSUD mice (Homanics et al., 2006). In MSUD patients, >30-40% residual whole body BCKDH activity (variant dependent; **Table 1**) is also rarely associated with disease phenotype. Importantly, transplantation of liver alone in MSUD patients was an adequate treatment for MSUD resulting in full or partial metabolic correction of disease phenotype (Bodner-Leidecker et al., 2000; Netter et al., 1994; Strauss et al., 2006; Wendel et al., 1999). The MSUD phenotype following orthotopic liver transplantation (OLT) was dependent upon the severity of initial disease presentation (Wendel et al., 1999). Therefore, it is reasonable to hypothesize that infusion of a small percentage of liver mass (i.e., HTx) may be sufficient to

correct metabolic function in the case of a mild MSUD variant, or partially correct severe cases to a milder and more manageable variant.

HTx has had initial clinical and laboratory successes in the treatment of inherited and metabolic liver disorders such as Crigler-Najjar syndrome (Fox et al., 1998; Groth et al., 1977; Matas et al., 1976; Vroemen, 1986), glycogen storage disease, type 1 (Muraca et al., 2002a), Wilson's disease (Irani et al., 2001), Factor VII (Dahwan et al., 2004), and a urea cycle disorder (Horslen et al., 2003). HTx has been successful at improving metabolic defects, such as albumin secretion (Moscioni et al., 1989; Oren et al., 1999) and tyrosinemia (Overturf et al., 1996). It has also been investigated and implemented as an exceptional "bridging" therapy to support liver function in times of liver injury or acute failure as the result of a variety of liver diseases (Bilir et al., 2000; Fisher et al., 2000; Strom et al., 1999; Strom et al., 1997).

HTx therapy holds many benefits over whole organ transplantation, and may serve as a therapeutic alternative to OLT. HTx is a nonsurgical procedure with less associated morbidity, has fewer less serious complications, and a reduced recovery time (Strom et al., 2006a). HTx also has a much lower economic cost (~5-10% of OLT). In patients with whole organ failure, HTx has been used to extend life until a donor organ becomes available, but for those with a metabolic disorder such as MSUD, HTx could be administered on an outpatient basis (Strom et al., 2006a). Transplantation of up to 5% of patient liver mass has been accomplished thus far with no adverse effects (Dhawan et al., 2004) with multiple HTx treatments being possible (Strom et al., 2006a). Cryopreservation of donor hepatocytes could also be employed so that cells are readily available upon demand. However, one disadvantage of HTx is that the most likely source for hepatocytes are rejected livers meant for whole organ transplantation (Strom et al., 2006a; Strom et al., 2006b). Therefore, high transplant-quality cells must be harvested from

organs deemed unsuitable for OLT due to >50% steatosis or other adverse factors. However, one donor liver could be used to transplant multiple HTx recipients, which would greatly help to relieve overwhelming donor organ shortages.

In light of these points, HTx was determined to be logical and appropriate for use with the novel iMSUD mouse model to restore liver BCKDH activity and perhaps ultimately correct the liver metabolic disorder of MSUD.

# 4.2 METHODS

All studies involving animals were reviewed and approved by the University of Pittsburgh's Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee.

# 4.2.1 Mouse colony breeding

Production of iMSUD mice was carried out as previously described in Methods Section 2.2, however only iMSUD mouse line A was used for this section's described experiments.

ROSA26 [B6.129S7-*Gt(ROSA)26Sor/*J; Jackson Laboratory stock #2192 (Friedrich and Soriano, 1991)] colony breeding was carried out by mating a heterozygous (+/-) ROSA26 mouse with a WT C57BL/6 mouse. This breeding strategy resulted in approximately 50% of offspring being ROSA26 +/- (LacZ positive), which were used as donors for hepatocyte transplantation.

## 4.2.2 PCR genotyping and analysis

ROSA26 +/- mice were genotyped at birth by PCR of genomic DNA isolated from a small amount of blood using Instagene (BioRad, Hercules, CA). The PCR primers and cycling parameters were outlined by Jackson Laboratories on the #2192 data sheet (JAX, 2008); reactions were carried out using PCR Supermix HiFi (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA). In summary, each DNA sample was analyzed with two sets of primers specific either to WT mouse DNA (present only in wildtype and heterozygous animals) or the LacZ/ROSA locus (present only in heterozygous and homozygous ROSA26 animals). WT primers (5' GGCTTAAAGGCTAACCTGATGTG 3' forward and 5' GGAGCGGGAGAAATGGATATG 3' reverse) amplified a 374 bp fragment. ROSA26 primers (5' AATCCATCTTGTTCAATGGCCGATC 3' forward and 5' CCGGATTGATGGTAGTGGTC 3' reverse) amplified a ~500bp fragment. Results were confirmed using a β-galactosidase (β-gal) Staining Kit (Mirus, Madison, WI) of a small tail clip (~0.1-0.2mm) at birth.

DNA (20ng/sample) from flash frozen mouse liver samples were also isolated for PCR analysis via the DNeasy kit (Qiagen, Germantown, MD), or using a standard phenol:chloroform purification protocol following tissue lysis. Primers and PCR cycling parameters were identical to those used for genotyping.

## 4.2.3 Southern blot genotyping

Southern blot analysis for genotyping of iMSUD mice was completed as previously described in Methods Section 2.2.

100

### 4.2.4 β-galactosidase activity assay

 $\beta$ -gal activity was quantified from ROSA26 +/- (LacZ positive), iMSUD-HTx, and WT control (LacZ negative) liver tissue homogenates using the High Sensitivity  $\beta$ -galactosidase Assay Kit (Stratagene, La Jolla, CA) following the manufacturer's instructions. Data was normalized to newborn ROSA26 +/- activity and expressed as the mean percent +/- SEM. Differences between groups were compared by ANOVA and post-hoc Fisher's test.

#### 4.2.5 ROSA26 +/- hepatocyte isolation

Hepatocytes from 1.5-2.5 week old ROSA26 +/- mice (Friedrich and Soriano, 1991) were isolated by collagenase perfusion (Strom et al., 1996). In brief, donor mice were sedated with 100mg/kg ketamine (Fort Dodge Animal Health, Ft. Dodge, IA) + 10mg/kg xylazene (Vedco, St. Joseph, MO) and a midline laparotomy performed. The inferior vena cava was then perfused and the portal vein sectioned within 5-10 seconds of the start of perfusion to allow the solution to flow through the liver. The liver was sequentially perfused at a rate of 2.5 mL/min with EGTA solution (HBSS without calcium or magnesium, EGTA 0.5 mM, HEPES 10 mM, pH 7.5 supplemented with 1% penicillin/streptomycin) for 5 minutes followed by collagenase solution for 10 min (EMEM with calcium/magnesium plus collagenase 0.1 mg/ml, HEPES 10 mM, pH 7.5 and 1% penicillin/streptomycin). Hepatocytes were removed by mechanical disassociation and filtered through sterile 150 mM nylon mesh. Cells were washed 3 times in EMEM media by centrifugation at 50 x g for 5 min and finally resuspended at a concentration of 2x10<sup>6</sup> cells/mL in PBS. The viability of donor hepatocytes was estimated by Trypan blue exclusion; only

suspensions with viability >80% were used for transplants. One mature liver was sufficient for 30+ transplant recipients.

#### 4.2.6 Hepatocyte transplantation

Isolated donor ROSA+/- hepatocytes with viability >80% were prepared at a concentration of  $2x10^6$  cells/mL PBS as described above. A sterile 30 gauge needle was used to administer 50µL of PBS alone or PBS containing 100,000 hepatocytes (approximately 1% of liver mass) directly through the abdomen of neonatal mice into the liver pulp; one injection was administered between the ages of 1-7 days and a second injection was administered approximately 3-7 days later. At this early age, the liver was clearly visible through the skin.

# 4.2.7 Histochemistry

Livers from iMSUD or ROSA26 +/- mice were either immediately flash frozen in liquid  $N_2$  or incubated in 30% sucrose for at least 24 hours. Tissue was cryopreserved in Optimum Cutting Temperature Compound (OCT; Tissue-Tek), sectioned at 30 $\mu$  using a Leica CM1850 cryostat, and mounted on slides. To visualize LacZ positive cells, liver sections were stained using the  $\beta$ -galactosidase Staining Kit (Mirus, Madison, WI) following the manufacturer's instructions for tissue. Sections were fixed for 2 minutes at room temperature with Cell Fixative Reagent, stained with Cell Staining Solution at 37°C for 2 hours, and washed briefly in PBS. Sections were then subjected to an ethanol dehydration series, xylenes, and coverslipped with Permount Mounting Medium (Fisher Scientific, Pittsburgh, PA).

## 4.2.8 BCKDH complex enzyme activity assay

iMSUD-PBS, untreated iMSUD, iMSUD-HTx, ROSA26 +/-, and WT control mouse livers were removed, flash frozen and stored at -80°C. BCKDH enzyme activity was completed as previously described in Methods Section 2.2.

# 4.2.9 Ion-exchange chromatography

Serum was isolated from whole blood collected by cardiac puncture at sacrifice through centrifugation for 10 minutes at 3000 x g. Whole brains were collected and immediately flash frozen in liquid N<sub>2</sub>. Serum and brains was stored at -80°C until analysis. Amino acids from mouse serum and brains were quantified using standard ion-exchange chromatography (IEC) with post-column ninhydrin derivatization (Slocum and Cummings, 1991). Data were analyzed by ANOVA and post-hoc Fischer's test. All analyses of whole brains and serum were completed by Dr. K.M. Gibson, University of Pittsburgh.

### 4.2.10 Blood BCAA levels

Blood samples were collected from the tail at weaning and approximately weekly until sacrifice. Blood samples were spotted on a Guthrie card and mailed to Pediatrix Screening Inc. (Bridgeville, PA) for processing as previously described (Methods Section 3.2) or given to Dr. Donald Chace (Pediatrix Screening Inc.) for analysis by MS-MS at the National Institute of Health.

### 4.2.11 HPLC detection of monoamines

Whole mouse brains were collected immediately after sacrifice and flash frozen in liquid N<sub>2</sub>. Brain tissue was stored at -80°C until time of analysis. Monoamine concentrations were determined by HPLC as described previously (Ogburn et al., 2006). Briefly, tissues were thawed and deproteinized with 5 volumes of perchloric acid (0.1M) containing DETAPAC (1mg/ml) and DTE (0.1mg/ml). After centrifugation 10µL of clear perchloric acid extract was injected directly into the HPLC system. Dopamine (DA), serotonin (5-HT) and their metabolites (DOPAC, HVA, 3-MT and 5-HIAA) were separated on an HPLC column (C18 250 x 3 mm, 5µ, Phenomenex, CA); at a flow rate of 0.5 ml/min with a mobile phase consisting of potassium phosphate (0.05 mM), octylsulfate (8.5 mg/50ml) and 14% methanol, adjusted to pH 2.65. Detection was performed using a coulometric electrochemical cell (model 5014B, ESA Inc, Chelmsford, MA) set to a potential of +400 mV. Data were acquired and processed using Coularray for Windows software (ESA Inc, Chelmsford, MA). All analyses of whole brains for monoamines were completed by Dr. T. Bottiglieri (Baylor College of Medicine, Houston, TX).

#### 4.2.12 Western blot analysis

Protein was isolated from liquid  $N_2$  flash frozen livers or cultured adult hepatocytes. Protein (25µg per sample) was analyzed as previously described in Methods Section 2.2.

## 4.2.13 Real Time qPCR

RNA was isolated from primary mouse hepatocytes (obtained from ROSA26 +/-, iMSUD, iMSUD-PBS, iMSUD-HTx, and WT controls) and primary human hepatocytes (obtained from liver disease patient resections) using TRIzol Reagent (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA) following the manufacturer's instructions. RNA was converted to cDNA using the High Capacity cDNA RT Kit (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA). Real Time qPCR was performed using the TaqMan Assays-on-Demand Gene Expression Products for β-actin (ID# Mm02619580 g1; Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA) following the manufacturer's protocol. In short, 100ng of cDNA template, 12.5µl of 2x Taqman Universal Master Mix, and 1.25µl of 20x Target Assay Mix were combined into 25ul reactions. Real Time qPCR was also performed using the SYBR Green system. Mouse E2 primers for SYBR Green qRTPCR (5' GGAAACCACTGATCGACATTGAGA 3' Forward; 5' ATTGCCAGCCGACGCACT 3' Reverse) were custom designed using a BLAST alignment (Figure 18) of the cMSUD deletion site in mouse E2 mRNA (bp 444-617; NCBI accession # NM 010022) and the corresponding human E2 sequence (bp 415-588; NCBI accession # NM 001918). Primers were chosen based upon the number of mismatches to human to ensure specificity to mouse only, and verified using BiosearchTech's (Novato, CA) free online RealTimeDesign software for primers. In short, 100ng of cDNA template, 12.5µl of 2x SYBR green PCR Master Mix, and 0.075µl of each 0.1mM primer were combined into 25µl reactions. Each sample was run in triplicate on an ABI 7000 Real-time PCR System (Applied Biosystems). Relative quantification of Real Time RT-PCR data was performed using the Comparative  $C_T (\Delta C_T)$  Method. In summary,  $C_T$  values were first converted to an arbitrary number using a standard calculation [arbitrary number = 1000000000<sup>(-0.69077552 \*</sup>

<sup>CT)</sup>]. The three arbitrary numbers (AN) for each sample were then averaged. Target gene expression levels were normalized to the corresponding actin endogenous control by calculating the  $\Delta C_T$  [ $\Delta C_T = _{ave}AN_{target gene} / _{ave}AN_{actin}$ ]. Data were presented as the mean +/- the SEM and analyzed by Student's T-test or ANOVA and post-hoc Fisher's test.

Forward Primer  $\rightarrow$ Exon 4 Exon 5 Mouse 444 ATCGCTTATGTGG**GGAAACCACTGATCGACATTGAGA**CAGAAGCTTTAAAGG**ATT**CAGAG 503 Human 415 ATTGCCTATGTGGGGAAGCCATTAGTAGACATAGAAACGGAAGCTTTAAAAG**ATT**CAGAA 474 504 GAAGATGTTGTTGAAACCCCCGCTGTGTCCCATGATGAGCACACTCACCAAGAGATAAAA 563 Mouse 475 GAAGATGTTGTTGAAACTCCTGCAGTGTCTCATGATGAACATACACCAAGAGATAAAG Human 534 ← Reverse Primer 564 GGCCAGAAAACACTAGCAACGCCTGC**AGTGCGTCGGCTGGCAAT**GGAAAACAAT Mouse 617 Human 535 GGCCGAAAAACACTGGCAACTCCTGCAGTTCGCCGTCTGGCAATGGAAAACAAT 588 84% identity

```
Figure 18. Mouse and human E2 mRNA alignment and SYBR Green qRTPCR primers.
```

The E2 mouse sequence (top, bp 444-617), which was deleted to create the cMSUD model, was aligned to the corresponding E2 human sequence (bottom, bp 415-588; 84% identity to mouse). Vertical lines connecting human and mouse base pairs indicate a match while the absence of a line indicates a mismatch. Primers for SYBR Green Real Time qPCR analysis are bolded and highlighted in grey. The bolded ATT codon designates the start of E2 Exon 5.

## 4.2.14 Weight and survival

Date of birth, date of treatment, weight at weaning (~21 days of age), and date of death

were recorded for iMSUD-HTx, iMSUD-PBS, untreated iMSUD, and WT control mice. Data

were analyzed via the Kaplan-Meier method and Log-Rank Test [survival (Kaplan and Meier,

1958; Mantel, 1966)], or ANOVA and post-hoc Fisher's test (weight).

# 4.3 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

# 4.3.1 ROSA26+/- hepatocyte characterization

Prior to injecting HTx into iMSUD mice, it was necessary to first characterize ROSA26 donor hepatocytes. Information acquired from the Jackson Laboratory ROSA26 data sheet (#2192) stated that while all cells expressed LacZ in the developing embryo, only "most cells" expressed LacZ in the adult animal. It was necessary to verify whether adult liver cells expressed LacZ, as well as determine the intensity of LacZ expression from ROSA +/- cells.

Liver sections from newborn (1 day old) ROSA +/- mice revealed significant  $\beta$ -gal enzyme activity, evidenced by a dark blue color in most liver cells with an apparent lack of  $\beta$ -gal activity in the connective tissue capsule (cells around the liver's outer edge and surrounding blood vessels; **Figure 19A**). However,  $\beta$ -gal activity was greatly reduced in adult (8-12 week old) ROSA26 +/- livers compared to newborn. Adult liver sections revealed patches of weakly  $\beta$ -gal positive hepatocytes and a more significant blue stain in the connective tissue capsule than was seen in newborn livers (**Figure 19A**). Compared to newborn livers, a reduction in hepatocyte  $\beta$ -gal activity was also observed in young (4-6 week old) ROSA26 +/- mice, although loss was not as extensive as in adult livers (data not shown). To confirm these results,  $\beta$ -gal activity was quantified using a High Sensitivity  $\beta$ -gal assay kit. A significant difference existed between genotypes as determined by ANOVA [F(2,9)=1247, p<0.0001]. Adult liver  $\beta$ -gal activity was determined to be ~50% (p<0.0001) of newborn liver activity (**Figure 19B**). Background expression in LacZ negative Control mice was negligible (<0.002% of newborn

activity +/- 0.001 SEM). Taken together, these data confirm that as ROSA26 mice aged, detectable LacZ expression and thus  $\beta$ -gal activity was gradually lost in hepatocytes.

BCKDH enzyme activity and E2 protein expression of newborn and adult ROSA26 +/livers were also analyzed. Liver BCKDH enzyme activities were not significantly different between the two age groups (**Figure 19C**). However, Western blot analysis revealed E2 protein expression in ROSA26 +/- newborn liver to be reduced ~48% (p<0.01) when compared to adult livers (**Figure 19D**). These data suggested the BCKDH complex functioned at an increased rate in newborn liver hepatocytes possibly due to a decrease in E2, and presumably other BCKDH subunits; E1 $\alpha$ , E1 $\beta$ , and E3 protein levels were not assessed. Therefore, despite changes in protein availability at the analyzed timepoints, enzyme activity remained at a constant "normal" level. Another possible explanation for these data could be that newborn BCKDH activity was stimulated by a recent meal. BCKDH enzyme activity can reportedly increase after a high protein diet (Harris et al., 1985; Soemitro et al., 1989). This phenomenon was hypothesized to be linked to increased glucagon in the portal circulation given that glucagon action is mediated by cAMP, which was also shown to upregulate BCKDH liver mRNA and increase enzyme flux (Chicco et al., 1994; Eisenstein et al., 1979).

In summary, despite a ~48% decrease in E2 protein in newborn liver tissue compared to adult, no significant difference between BCKDH enzyme activities were determined. Thus, ROSA26 +/- hepatocytes from either age would be equally beneficial for transplant to correct iMSUD mice due to similar BCKDH activities. However, detectable LacZ expression in ROSA26 +/- livers decreased as mice aged with a significant decrease apparent as early as 4 weeks. Therefore, it was concluded that hepatocytes for HTx were to be isolated from young (newborn to <3 week old) ROSA26 +/- mouse livers. LacZ expression would be used to identify





**A.** Newborn (1 day old) and adult (8-12 week old) mouse liver sections (30μ) were treated with a β-gal staining kit (10x magnification). Newborn LacZ expression was strong in most hepatocytes (dark blue staining) while expression in connective tissue capsule cells (outer liver edge and surrounding blood vessles) was reduced compared to hepatocytes. LacZ expression in adult hepatocytes was reduced compared to newborn with a high level of β-gal staining in the connective tissue capsule. **B.** Adult β-gal enzyme activity was reduced by ~50% compared to newborn livers (\*\*, p<0.0001 compared to control and newborn). Control liver β-gal activity was negligible (\*, p<0.0001 compared to newborn and adult). The numbers on the bars indicate n values. **D.** Western blot analysis of newborn (n=6) and adult (n=8) ROSA26 +/- liver determined newborn (NB) liver E2 protein to be reduced ~48% +/- SEM when compared to adult (p < 0.01). Control protein lanes were for reference only. GAPDH was used as a protein loading control. All data were expressed as the mean +/- SEM.

transplanted ROSA26 +/- donor cells in the host liver, which would allow for quantification of percent engraftment.

# 4.3.2 ROSA26 +/- HTx and long-term β-gal expression

Isolated ROSA26 +/- cells were verified to express LacZ prior to HTx injection, as indicated by a blue color when stained with a  $\beta$ -gal staining kit (**Figure 20**). Donor hepatocytes (1x10<sup>5</sup> cells in 50µL PBS) were injected directly into the livers of neonatal mouse pups 1-7 days of age and a second injection administered approximately 3-7 days later. HTx-treated mouse livers, all analyzed greater than 1 week post-transplantation, revealed no detectable  $\beta$ -gal staining and  $\beta$ -gal enzyme activity did not differ from untreated LacZ negative controls (data not shown).



Figure 20. Isolated Control and ROSA26 +/- hepatocytes.

ROSA26 +/- hepatocytes for HTx and control hepatocytes were isolated by collagenase perfusion and stained with a  $\beta$ -gal staining kit. Greater than ~80% of ROSA26 +/- hepatocytes expressed LacZ (blue cells). A blue color could not be visualized in any Control (LacZ -) hepatocytes. The difference in cell size was due to a difference in age (Control: ~2.5 weeks old; ROSA: ~1.5 weeks old). 100x magnification was used.

The lack of  $\beta$ -gal staining and activity in HTx treated livers may have been due to loss of LacZ expression as the engrafted donor hepatocytes aged, similar to what was seen in ROSA +/livers (**Figure 19A**). Small clusters or single  $\beta$ -gal positive hepatocytes may have also been difficult to identify. It is also possible ROSA26 +/- hepatocytes died or simply donor hepatocytes leaked into the peritonium following direct injection into the liver parenchyma. In an effort to determine the most likely explanation, a mouse was sacrificed 24 hours post-HTx and the liver examined.  $\beta$ -gal positive (blue) cells in liver sections (**Figure 21**, some identified by black arrows) determined that a large quantity of injected donor hepatocytes remained in the liver following HTx and that small clusters of engrafted LacZ +/- cells could be identified by a  $\beta$ -gal staining kit. One caveat of this experiment was that only a single mouse was analyzed 24 hours post-HTx; what was observed in this one mouse may not be representative of what occurred in all HTx-treated mice. However, the identification of blue cells verified that ROSA26





1.5 week old ROSA26 +/- hepatocytes (**Figure 20**) were isolated by collagenase perfusion and injected through the abdomen directly into the liver parenchyma of a neonatal mouse pup ( $1x10^5$  cells in 50µL PBS). 24 hours post-HTx, the liver was sectioned ( $30\mu$ ) and analyzed for the presence of β-gal positive (blue) cells with a β-gal staining kit. Selected blue cells are indicated by black arrows. 100x magnification was used.

+/- hepatocytes were delivered to and stayed in the liver following a direct injection. Cells were not leaking into the peritonium to a significant degree. HTx-treated livers were analyzed when ROSA26 +/- donor cells were 5-6+ weeks old, an age that corresponded to significant loss of LacZ gene expression in ROSA26 +/- livers. Therefore, inability to detect  $\beta$ -gal positive cells in recipient livers several weeks after HTx may be due to gradual inactivation of the LacZ gene or donor cell death. In summary, determination of  $\beta$ -gal activity was concluded to not be a reliable method for assessing percent engraftment in the liver of HTx mice.

## 4.3.3 HTx effects on blood amino acids of iMSUD mice around weaning

A highly significant difference in BCAA/ala ratios obtained from blood spots was determined between treatment groups by ANOVA analysis [F(3,20)=242, p<0.0001]. BCAA/ala serum levels were decreased by approximately 75% in iMSUD-HTx mice compared to untreated iMSUD mice (**Figure 22A**; p<0.0001). However, mean iMSUD-HTx blood BCAA/ala levels were not normalized to control levels; iMSUD-HTx BCAA/ala levels still suffered a 4-fold increase over Controls (p<0.0001). iMSUD-PBS values (15.9µmol/L blood +/- 6.4 SEM, n=8; data not shown) were not different from untreated iMSUD mice. The mean blood BCAA/ala ratio of Controls, either HTx-treated or untreated, was ~1µmol/L, which agreed with data reported previously (Homanics et al., 2006). These data suggested HTx had significantly improved BCAA turnover in iMSUD mice, but was unable to correct it to Control levels.

Blood was collected for analysis at weaning (~21 days of age), and some animals had blood taken at addition timepoints, ~1-2x/week, up to when mice were ~30 days of age. **Figure 22B** displays each analyzed blood spot as an individual data point for each iMSUD-HTx mouse (e.g., D7332, D7334, etc.). At a few analyzed timepoints iMSUD-HTx BCAA/ala blood ratios were at or very close to control levels (**Figure 22B**); however a great deal of variability existed between individual mice as well as between individual analyzed timepoints from the same mouse. Variability between data was not surprising since similar results were observed previously (Homanics et al., 2006). Blood BCAA variations were likely related to how much time had passed between protein ingestion and blood collection; for example, iMSUD-HTx mouse #D7332 had BCAA/ala levels of 4.3µmol/L blood at weaning age (21 days), 5.7µmol/L blood at 26 days of age, and 1.1µmol/L blood at 30 days of age (**Figure 22B**). Control values did not vary significantly between mice or timepoint. Therefore, although HTx by this protocol greatly improved BCAA turnover in iMSUD mice, it was unable to compensate for fluctuating BCAA levels and thus was not completely effective resulting in BCAA/ala spikes in blood levels dependent upon collection timepoint. Additional HTx administrations may completely or more effectively correct disease phenotype.





**A.** Mean BCAA/Ala values +/- SEM of untreated and HTx-treated iMSUD and Control mice were determined by MS-MS. iMSUD-HTx BCAA/ala ratios were reduced 75% compared to untreated iMSUD, but were still increased 4-fold above control values (\*, p<0.0001). Untreated iMSUD ratios were also significantly different from iMSUD-HTx and control values (p<0.0001). The number displayed on each bar indicates the n value. **B.** Some iMSUD-HTx mice had blood taken multiple times; once at weaning and then ~1-2x/week up to mice were 30 days of age. Each analyzed blood spot averaged in panel A was displayed as an individual data point for each iMSUD-HTx mouse (e.g., D7332). Individual iMSUD and Control data points represent a single mouse and correspond to the untreated (black) bars from panel A. The horizontal line indicates mean value. Blood was analyzed by Pediatrix Screening, Inc. (Bridgeville, PA).

#### 4.3.4 HTx effects on blood amino acids of iMSUD mice at sacrifice

Preliminary data were obtained by ion exchange chromatography (IEC) from total serum collected at the time of sacrifice (33-35 days of age). These data suggested that blood amino acid levels of iMSUD-HTx mice (n=2, 33 days of age at sacrifice) were not normalized to control values (**Figure 23**). However, due to a low sample size for iMSUD-HTx statistical significance between groups could not be determined. These data were very different from results obtained by MS-MS analysis at weaning, which was discussed above. Although blood spots and total serum were analyzed by different methods as well as by different investigators, both investigative groups were highly skilled, and MS-MS and IEC are able to provide sensitive and reliable results for serum amino acids. Therefore, these issues were unlikely to have contributed to differences in calculated results.

The preliminary results from iMSUD-HTx serum may be dependent on the time of death at day 33. The two iMSUD-HTx mice analyzed by IEC were also analyzed at weaning by MS-MS (**Figure 22B**; D7550 & D7552); a mean BCAA/ala level was determined to be 4.0µmol/L blood +/- 0.4 SEM at 21 days of age. At 33 days of age, IEC determined mean serum BCAA/ala levels to be ~12.5µmol/L blood. Therefore, since immunosuppression therapy was not used, the most likely explanation for these data was that perhaps at the time of sacrifice rejection of donor cells had begun to occur, thus pushing iMSUD-HTx mice into BCAA crisis.

Muscle protein mobilization into the blood stream around the time of death may also have compounded serum amino acid load. There were similarities between amino acid changes that occur during fasting of MSUD patients (Haymond et al., 1978; Schwahn et al., 1998) and iMSUD-HTx IEC results. This suggested that perhaps mice were not eating normally (i.e., fasting) because they were feeling sick. iMSUD-HTx animals displayed an increase in leucine, isoleucine, and valine, and a reduction in serum alanine compared to controls (Figure 23). Mobilized protein from muscle would be readily metabolized into BCAA/BCKAs, and alanine was shown to be reduced in fasting human MSUD patients (Haymond et al., 1978; Schwahn et al., 1998). However, interpretation was confounded since elevation of BCAAs are hallmark indicators of BCAA crisis in human patients (Morton et al., 2002; Wajner et al., 2000) and reduced alanine is also an expected amino acid aberration in human MSUD patients with elevated BCAAs (Morton et al., 2002). Glutamine was also reportedly readily released from muscle into the blood during times of fasting (Felig et al., 1976), and although serum glutamine in iMSUD-HTx mice appeared to be increased compared to untreated iMSUD mice, it was reduced compared to controls. Since so few iMSUD-HTx samples were analyzed, direct comparisons cannot be reliably made between groups. However, the presence of high levels of alloisoleucine in iMSUD-HTx serum, a sensitive and specific diagnostic marker for all MSUD variants (Schadewaldt et al., 1999), suggested that HTx treated mice were suffering from symptoms of their disease.

Stress was also reported to increase BCAA/BCKA levels in the human disease (Chuang and Shih, 2001). Amino acid anomalies found in serum at sacrifice may be due to stress triggered by excess noise and vibration from being wheeled down the mouse facility hallway. This experience occasionally triggered seizures which often resulted in death in untreated iMSUD animals (unpublished observations). However mice were subjected to the same experience when blood for MS-MS analysis was collected at weaning. Therefore, if stress was causing a spike in BCAA levels, iMSUD-HTx BCAA/ala levels from MS-MS data becomes even more impressive (**Figure 22**).

115





Total serum was collected from Controls (WT; n=5), untreated iMSUD (n=5), and iMSUD-HTx (n=2) mice by cardio puncture and analyzed by IEC. Results are reported as the mean +/- SEM. Statistical analysis comparing iMSUD-HTx mice to other groups could not be completed due to a small sample size, though trends suggested iMSUD-HTx blood AAs were not improved by HTx. Analyses were completed by Dr. K.M. Gibson, University of Pittsburgh.

In summary, preliminary data from IEC analysis of serum at sacrifice suggested HTx was no longer able to reduce BCAA/ala levels (**Figure 23**) despite a significant improvement observed in blood amino acid levels at weaning (**Figure 22**). Several explanations could explain these data, such as donor cell rejection, mobilizing protein from muscle, and stress. Nevertheless, the low number of HTx serum samples analyzed by IEC requires that more iMSUD-HTx be examined to elucidate the appropriate conclusion.

## 4.3.5 HTx effects on liver BCKDH and E2 protein levels

MS-MS results suggested that ROSA26 +/- donor hepatocytes were able to functionally engraft in the liver and participate in amino acid turnover to significantly reduce toxic BCAAs in iMSUD-HTx mouse blood at the time of weaning. Therefore, donor cells must have contributed to BCKDH enzyme activity at a discernable level over untreated iMSUD mice. To verify this, a BCKDH enzyme assay was performed with fresh liver homogenate.

Mean liver BCKDH enzyme activity of HTx treated animals was significantly improved over iMSUD-PBS mice (Figure 24A). iMSUD-HTx activity was increased ~2-fold over iMSUD-PBS animals from ~6.2% of Control activity to ~14.4% (p<0.005). BCKDH enzyme activity of untreated iMSUD mice (6.8% of Control activity, data not shown) was not different from PBS-treated iMSUD mice. These data confirmed that HTx treated animals indeed had a distinguishable and significant increase in BCKDH activity compared to iMSUD-PBS and untreated iMSUD mice. Supplemental BCKDH was hypothesized to be derived from engrafted donor hepatocytes, which supports the dramatic improvement assessed in iMSUD-HTx amino acid profiles from bloodspots (Figure 22).



Figure 24. HTx effects on liver BCKDH activity and E2 protein levels.

**A.** BCKDH enzyme activity was assessed for Controls, iMSUD-PBS, and iMSUD-HTx mice. iMSUD-HTx enzyme activity was significantly different from Control and iMSUD-PBS activities (\*\*, p<0.005). iMSUD-PBS enzyme activity was also significantly different from Control (\*, p<0.005). **B.** Western blot analysis assessed E2 protein in livers of Control (n=2 pools of 2 mice), untreated iMSUD (n=2 pools of 2 mice) and iMSUD-HTx (n=4 pools of 2 mice). Each lane represents a pool of two mouse protein samples. Under optimal conditions, a doublet corresponding to mouse (47kD) and human (54kD) E2 proteins can be visualized.

It was therefore theorized that since BCKDH enzyme activity of iMSUD-HTx had increased ~8% over untreated iMSUD mice, E2 protein may have also increased to a level that would be detectable by Western blot analysis. However, E2 liver protein levels, expressed as a percent of Control (n=4 pools of 2 mice, each analyzed in duplicate), were not significantly different between untreated iMSUD animals [64.9% +/- 3.5% SEM (n=2 pools of 2 mice, each analyzed in quadruplicate)] and iMSUD-HTx mice [72.9% +/- 4.0% SEM (n=4 pools of 2 mice, each analyzed in quadruplicate)]. Control samples contained a mixture of both human (54kD) and mouse (47kD) E2. E2 protein in iMSUD-PBS livers [n=4 pools of 2 mice, each analyzed in quadruplicate (data not shown)] was not statistically different from untreated iMSUD. These data were expected since injection of PBS should have no effect on protein levels. Pooled samples were analyzed since previously executed Western blots of iMSUD liver showed a large degree of variability between individuals (**Figure 8**). Pooling samples theoretically average the variability present in individual samples and should create a more representative example from each group to analyze.

I expected to see the presence of a small amount of mouse E2 protein, derived from donor ROSA26 +/- hepatocytes, in iMSUD-HTx mouse livers. However, only a single band corresponding to transgenic human E2 was discernable by Western blot. This may be due to minimum threshold limits of the assay. For example, anything below a measured 5% change acquired with the Kodak 1D quantification software can be considered background error. Therefore, it was possible E2 protein was increased below this set minimum threshold. Efforts to reveal mouse E2 protein by Western, such as with longer exposure times to X-ray film or loading more protein per lane, resulted in the eclipse of any mouse E2 that may have been present by the high concentration of human E2 protein in iMSUD-HTx samples. Therefore, first subjecting total liver homogenate to an affinity column to remove transgenic c-myc tagged human E2 protein may allow mouse E2 to be visualized. Loading double or triple the collected protein elutant (50 - 75µg) followed by exposure to x-ray film for an extended time may also help to resolve a mouse E2 band in iMSUD-HTx samples.

# 4.3.6 Confirmation of engrafted donor hepatocytes following HTx

Mouse E2 protein was not detected by Western blot analysis. Therefore, Real Time qPCR was employed to analyze for the presence of mouse E2 RNA in iMSUD-HTx livers. A significant difference between groups was determined by ANOVA [F(3,20)=9, p<0.0001]. iMSUD-HTx liver samples contained a significantly different, though small, amount of mouse E2 RNA [Figure 25, ~2.8% of mouse Control levels, (p<0.01)] compared to untreated iMSUD samples. A mean 2.8% of mouse E2/ $\beta$ -actin RNA in iMSUD-HTx livers would suggest a ~2.8% repopulation by HTx. However an increase of ~8% in BCKDH enzyme activity was determined over iMSUD-PBS mice (Figure 24A). These data would suggest each engrafted ROSA26 +/-

mouse cell was contributing to more enzyme activity than it would under normal conditions, an occurrence also described in Muraca et al. (2002b), a case of human HTx to treat glycogen storage disease type 1a. Stimulation by various hormones, or the presence of high protein, has also been reported to increase BCKDH activity (Chicco et al., 1994; Eisenstein et al., 1979). Human liver RNA samples, as well as untreated mouse iMSUD (**Figure 25**) and iMSUD-PBS liver samples (data not shown) all had undetectable levels of mouse E2 confirming SYBR Green primer specificity to mouse RNA. In addition, a comparison of WT controls determined no significant difference between ROSA26 +/- and Control mouse E2/β-actin RNA levels (data not shown).



Figure 25. Real Time qPCR of iMSUD treatment groups and controls.

qRTPCR SYBR Green primers spanned mouse E2 exons 4/5, and were contained within the E2 deletion used to create cMSUD mice (Figure 18). Mouse E2 RNA levels were normalized to mouse  $\beta$ -actin. Quantified E2/ $\beta$ -actin RNA from Controls (WT), iMSUD-HTx, untreated iMSUD (contains only transgenic human E2), and human hepatocyte samples were normalized to Control. [\*, significantly different from iMSUD and human (p<0.01) and Control (p<0.0001)]. N.D. = RNA levels were not detectable confirming primer specificity to mouse E2.

As a secondary method to verify ROSA26 +/- donor cell engraftment in iMSUD livers, a standard PCR using DNA isolated from liver was performed using Wildtype (WT, 374bp band) and LacZ (~500bp band) specific primers. WT primers served as a control to verify the quality of the DNA; all analyzed DNA samples displayed a band from WT primers. Control lanes produced the expected results: ROSA 26 +/- (R, **Figure 26**) exhibited a band at ~500bp indicating the presence of the LacZ gene, while LacZ negative liver DNA samples [Control (C), untreated iMSUD (U), and iMSUD-PBS (P); **Figure 26**] did not exhibit a LacZ specific band. All but one iMSUD-HTx DNA sample displayed a fainter but apparent LacZ specific band at ~500bp, which verified the presence of ROSA26 +/- cells in HTx livers in 6 of 7 DNA samples. The LacZ negative iMSUD-HTx DNA sample corresponded to the same sample determined to contain a markedly lower level of mouse E2/β-actin RNA by qRTPCR compared to other HTx samples. Therefore, it was likely ROSA26 +/- DNA present in that sample was below the level of detection for the assay.





Rosa26 +/- (R), WT control (C), untreated iMSUD (U), iMSUD-PBS (P), and iMSUD-HTx (HTx) DNA (20ng/reaction) from livers, and a Blank no DNA control (B), were analyzed. PCR primers specific for WT (~374bp) and LacZ (~500bp) were used. WT primers amplified a common DNA segment and were used as a control for DNA quality. LacZ primers were able to amplify the LacZ gene in 6/7 iMSUD-HTx DNA samples verifying the presence of the gene. The 1 unable to produce a band corresponded to a sample determined to have much lower RNA by qRTPCR compared to other iMSUD-HTx samples. LacZ DNA from ROSA26 +/- was therefore most likely below threshold level of the assay. Band size was determined with the 100bp Ladder.

#### 4.3.7 HTx effects on brain AA, neurotransmitters, and monoamines

To complement the blood spot and total serum amino acid levels, brain amino acids were also analyzed by IEC. Amino acid data obtained from brain suggested HTx was not having any effect at the time of sacrifice (~35 days of age), which supported total serum data obtained by the same methodology (Figure 23). Leucine, isoleucine, and valine were all significantly elevated in iMSUD-HTx brains while alanine, synthesized from either BCAA's or pyruvate and important to the Krebs cycle, was reduced compared to controls (Figure 27A). This produced a significant elevation in the brain BCAA/ala ratio in iMSUD-HTx mice, though BCAA/ala and individual leucine, isoleucine, and alanine values were not significantly different from untreated iMSUD. Of the dysregulated amino acids outlined in Figure 27B, aspartate (a metabolite of the Krebs Cycle which is able to interact with excitatory neurotransmitter receptors in the brain, and is a precursor of isoleucine), glutamine (a precursor of the inhibitory and excitatory neurotransmitters GABA and glutamate, respectively), and serine (a precursor of serotonin and glycine) concentrations in iMSUD-HTx brains were reduced compared to Controls. However, concentrations of these amino acids were unchanged relative to untreated iMSUD. Concentration of glycine (an inhibitory neurotransmitter in the CNS) and taurine (an amino acid able to interact with neuroinhibitory transmitter receptors) were both elevated in iMSUD-HTx brains compared to controls, however neither were significantly different relative to untreated iMSUD values. Brain phosphethanolamine, a precursor of the neurotransmitter acetylcholine, was also unchanged in iMSUD-HTx mice compared to untreated iMSUD animals. However, alloisoleucine (Figure 27C), a stereoisomer of isoleucine purported to be the most specific and sensitive diagnostic marker for all MSUD variants (Schadewaldt et al., 1999), and ornithine, a

metabolite important to the function of the urea cycle, were significantly reduced in HTx brains compared to untreated iMSUD.

Taken together, cumulative amino acid data shown in **Figure 27** suggested globally altered brain bioenergetics; disrupted energy metabolism was previously suggested to be secondary to BCAA and BCKA accumulation in the brain (Patel et al., 1973; Yudkoff et al., 2005). As BCAAs elevate, BCKAs, namely KIC, can inhibit pyruvate and  $\alpha$ -ketoglutarate dehydrogenases (Patel, 1974; Patel et al., 1973). Despite persistent amino acid abnormalities in iMSUD-HTx brains (**Figure 27A-B**), the observation that ornithine and alloisoleucine were normalized to control levels following HTx (**Figure 27C**) was nonetheless encouraging for the clinical implications of HTx.

IEC analysis of brain homogenate allowed for the discovery of several neurotransmitter and neurotransmitter precursor imbalances (**Figure 27B**). Considered with collaborative data (Zinnanti et al., 2008) revealing additional changes in GABA, dopamine (DA), and tryptophan [a precursor of serotonin (5-HT, 5-hydroxytryptophan)], we wanted to determine if any of these changes were resolved after HTx treatment. For reference, a schematic depicting some of the neurotransmitters and their related precursors and metabolites discussed in this section was shown in **Figure 28A**. HPLC analysis revealed a statistically significant reduction in the neurotransmitters GABA, glutamate, 5-HT, and DA (**Figure 28B**) in untreated iMSUD animals compared to control. Compared to untreated iMSUD mice, a significant change was determined for 5-HT (p<0.01) and DA (p<0.001) in iMSUD-HTx mice, although 5-HT was not normalized to control levels. In addition, DOPAC (dihydroxyphenylacetic acid, a metabolite of DA) was normalized in iMSUD-HTx mice (**Figure 28C**). Interestingly, the monoamines determined to have been corrected through HTx reside primarily in the synaptic cleft. Tetrahydrobiopterin



Figure 27. AAs, neurotransmitters, and relevant MSUD markers following HTx in brain.

IEC analysis of Control (WT; n=5, age 35d), iMSUD (n=6, age ~18d) and iMSUD-HTx (n=5, age ~35d) brains. A. Changes in BCAA (leu, ile, val) and alanine. All are hallmark aberrations of MSUD. A ratio of BCAA/ala is a sensitive indicator of disease. B. Changes in neurotransmitters and neurotransmitter precursors. C. Changes in diagnostic markers of MSUD. Analyses were completed by Dr. K.M. Gibson, University of Pittsburgh.


# Figure 28. Neurotransmitters and related precursors/metabolites following HTx.

of the neurotransmitters and their related biochemicals outlined in **B-D**, with regard to the synaptic cleft. **B.** Major brain neurotransmitters differed between groups. **C.** Changes in metabolites of dopamine and serotonin. Only DOPAC levels were significantly different between groups. **D.** There was no difference in BH<sub>4</sub> levels, a cofactor required for the production of DA and 5-HT. Analyses were completed by Dr. T. Bottiglieri, Baylor College Medicine, Houston, TX. HPLC analysis of Control (WT; n=5, age 35d), iMSUD (n=6, age ~18d) and iMSUD-HTx (n=5, age ~35d) brains. A. Diagram displaying the metabolic pathway

(BH<sub>4</sub>, a cofactor required for the production of both DA and 5-HT), 3-MT (3-methoxytyramine, a metabolite of DA), HVA (homovanillic acid, a metabolite of DA), and 5-HIAA (5-hydroxyindoleacetic acid, a metabolite of 5-HT) were all not significantly changed between treatment groups (**Figure 28C-D**).

### 4.3.8 HTx increases iMSUD weight at weaning and survival

Following HTx, animals were monitored closely for changes in health. A statistical difference between groups was determined by ANOVA [F(2,28)=59, p<0.0001]. Body weight of iMSUD-HTx animals were significantly increased compared to iMSUD-PBS (p<0.0001) but were significantly less than controls (p<0.001; **Figure 29A**). It should be noted that at the time of weaning (~21 days of age) PBS-treated iMSUD disease models were typically very thin and sickly-looking with unkempt fur; mice sat hunched and unmoving. All iMSUD-PBS animals became moribund at or shortly after weaning and were humanely sacrificed (**Figure 29B**). HTx-treated animals behaved similarly to healthy control animals actively exploring with bright eyes and a smooth coat.

Survival of HTx animals [70% survival at 37 days (n = 7/10)] was significantly improved over PBS treated animals [0% survival at 37 days (n = 0/9); p<0.0001] and untreated animals [0% survival at 37 days (n = 0/9); p<0.0001, **Figure 29B**]. All PBS and untreated animals had died or were found moribund and humanely sacrificed on or before day 24. There was no statistical difference in survival between untreated and PBS-treated iMSUD animals.



Figure 29. Effect of HTx on body weight and survival.

A. Body weight at weaning of Control (WT; n=15), iMSUD-PBS (n=9) and iMSUD-HTx (n=7) was assessed. [\*, (p<0.0001) compared to iMSUD-HTx and Control; \*\*, (p<0.001) compared to Control]. B. Survival was compared between iMSUD-PBS (PBS), iMSUD (untreated), and iMSUD-HTx (HTx) mice. PBS animals (n=9) all died by day 24. Untreated animals (n=9) all died by day 22. HTx animals (n=10) displayed 70% survival at 37 days, which was significantly different from untreated and PBS (\*, p<0.0001). There was no difference in survival between untreated and PBS-treated animals.

# 4.4 CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS

I hypothesized that liver-directed HTx therapy would correct the E2 deficiency, restore liver BCKDH activity, and correct the disease phenotype in the iMSUD mouse model. Excitingly, analysis at weaning (21 days, n = 9) revealed a dramatic 75% reduction in BCAA/ala levels compared to untreated and PBS-treated iMSUD controls. BCKDH enzyme activity in iMSUD-HTx animals was increased ~8% over untreated iMSUD and iMSUD-PBS controls, though an increase in mouse E2 protein could not be detected by Western blot analysis. Real Time qPCR determined mouse E2 RNA to be present at 2.8% of control levels in iMSUD-HTx liver samples suggesting a 2.8% liver engraftment. However, since enzyme activity increased ~8% over disease controls, this suggested each engrafted cell contributed more activity than it would under normal circumstances. This phenomenon was documented in a case of human HTx in 2002 (Muraca et al., 2002b). PCR was performed as a secondary method to confirm ROSA26 +/- hepatocyte engraftment, and LacZ specific bands were detected in 6 of 7 samples. The negative sample corresponded to one with significantly lower mouse E2 RNA as determined by qRTPCR, and therefore the negative result by PCR was most likely due to limits of the assay. Brain analysis revealed an increase in BCAAs and a decrease in alanine compared to controls. The neurotransmitter alterations (Glu, Gly, 5-HT, GABA, DA) and neurotransmitter precursor alterations observed in brain mirrored imbalances in the human disorder (McKenna et al., 1998; Wajner et al., 2000). Following HTx, DA and 5-HT, along with a related metabolite (DOPAC), were corrected to control levels. Interestingly, all of these reside primarily in the synaptic cleft. Finally, and perhaps most importantly, body weight at weaning, a sensitive measure of health, and survival were significantly improved in iMSUD mice that received HTx. In conclusion, these findings of partial metabolic correction of iMSUD in a mouse model by HTx were very encouraging. HTx has already been used clinically to treat metabolic diseases as an alternate treatment to OLT, and multiple manipulations are possible to further enhance engraftment with HTx (Fisher and Strom, 2006; Strom et al., 2006a). Therefore, we suggest HTx represents a promising therapeutic intervention for human MSUD which should be investigated further.

HTx at birth was determined to be the most beneficial timepoint for treatment of iMSUD mice for several reasons. Although iMSUD mice were indistinguishable from healthy littermates at birth (Homanics et al., 2006), by weaning (~21 days of age) disease models have become sickly and fragile. Weanling iMSUD mice were significantly smaller than healthy littermates (**Figure 7**) and had high BCAA/ala serum and brain levels accompanied by neurological dysfunction (Homanics et al., 2006; Zinnanti et al., 2008). Seizures were also observed in disease models at this age, which were often triggered by loud noise or excess handling

presumably from an increase in animal stress, which occasionally resulted in death (unpublished observations). Stress is also a documented trigger for BCAA crisis in human MSUD patients (Chuang and Shih, 2001). If treatment was delayed until weaning, when mice would be large enough to undergo surgery to transplant hepatocytes into the spleen, the neurological damage HTx was meant to prevent may already be irreversible. It was hypothesized that the reduced metabolic function and excess BCAAs/BCKAs present in the iMSUD mouse model would provide a sufficient growth advantage for transplanted cells over endogenous hepatocytes. Therefore toxic chemical treatments, such as retrorsine and CCl<sub>4</sub>, which would likely negatively affect survival after treatment, were not used for these first experiments. Once HTx significantly improved disease phenotype and survival beyond weaning age, additional splenic HTx injections would be possible.

Plans for the future include a more aggressive HTx treatment of iMSUD mice. HTx injections would begin at birth, as described previously in this section, but donor cells per injection would be increased. In this study approximately 1% of newborn liver mass  $(1x10^5)$  was directly injected into the liver parenchyma. However human clinical cases of HTx have determined that a much larger percentage of liver mass (up to 5%) can be tolerated without incident (Dhawan et al., 2004). HTx was able to significantly extend iMSUD lifespan and improve health past weaning; therefore additional HTx injections would be given around that time (~21 days of age) into the spleen to attempt to more completely correct disease phenotype and improve survival out several months. Numerous studies in animal models have indicated that hepatocytes transplanted into the spleen or the portal vein display normal hepatic function and can survive for the life-time of the recipient (Gupta et al., 1991; Holzman et al., 1993; Mito et al., 1979; Ponder et al., 1991). It has also been demonstrated that within two minutes of

injection, ~55% of cells migrate via the splenic and portal vein into the liver (Ponder et al., 1991), which is presumably much more accurate than a direct injection into liver through the abdomen.

Selective regeneration pressure may also give transplanted hepatocytes a greater growth advantage. For example, fetal hepatocytes have been shown to repopulate the liver ~15-25% without selective regeneration pressure (Lilja et al., 1997; Nierhoff et al., 2005) and upwards of 80% with selective regeneration pressure (Cantz et al., 2003; Nierhoff et al., 2005). Therefore, preconditioning with retrorsine and CCl<sub>4</sub> treatments are possible (Gupta et al., 1999; Laconi et al., 1998), as well as partial hepatectomy to stimulate liver repopulation. Finally, the presence of immune response markers following HTx would be investigated since some results discussed previously (IEC serum and brain amino acid data) suggested that cell rejection may be occurring. Therefore, immunosuppression would be administered if needed to prevent cell rejection.

### 5.0 EMBRYONIC STEM CELL (ESC) THERAPY

<u>Hypothesis</u>: I hypothesize liver-directed differentiated embryonic stem cell (ESC) therapy can correct E2 deficiency, restore liver BCKDH activity, and ultimately correct the disease phenotype of the iMSUD mouse model.

### 5.1 BACKGROUND AND SIGNIFICANCE

ESC therapies to treat disease are fairly new advances that have generated a great deal of attention in the scientific community. ESCs are derived from early embryos, can be maintained and expanded *in vitro* indefinitely, are pluripotent, and hold great therapeutic promise (Trounson, 2005). Recently, proof of principal for using ESCs to correct an inherited liver defect, Factor IX (FIX), was reported (Fair et al., 2005). To date, differentiated ESCs have also been transplanted into mice to correct induced hepatic failure (Hu et al., 2006; Ishii et al., 2007; Soto-Gutiérrez et al., 2006; Tabei et al., 2005) and a fumaryl acetoacetate deficiency (Sharma et al., 2008).

During development, it has been suggested that the liver develops from the ventral foregut endoderm through fibroblast growth factor (FGF) and bone morphogenic protein signals expressed from cardiac mesoderm (Ang et al., 1993). Fair, et al. (2003) determined that murine ESCs stimulated *in vitro* with chick cardiac mesoderm differentiated into cells with a putative endodermal phenotype. Fair et al. (2005) later determined that murine ESC stimulated *in vitro* 

with FGF caused differentiation into putative endodermal precursor cells (PEPs), which engrafted in the liver following direct injection into liver parenchyma. These cells functioned normally *in vivo* and cured a FIX deficiency in a mouse model (Fair et al., 2005).

Although several problems are associated with the use of ESCs for cellular therapies, the most serious being lack of transplant function, homograft rejection, and teratoma formation, Fair et al. (2005) overcame two of these three problems: Following liver injection of non-syngenic PEPs, no evidence of rejection or antibody response was detected while transplant function was high enough to correct the disease phenotype. In addition, teratoma rate was very low, ~6.2% (Fair et al., 2005). However, strain 129 mice, the source of ESCs used by this group, are notorious for a high spontaneous teratoma rate relative to other laboratory mouse strains (Fair et al., 2005; Stevens, 1973). Therefore, C57BL/6J derived ESCs may reduce teratoma rate to negligible levels, which formed the rationale behind using ESCs derived from both 129/Sv and C57BL/6J mice for the studies presented in this section.

In summary, ESC therapy is logical and appropriate for use with the novel iMSUD model to increase liver BCKDH activity and effectively correct MSUD. Proof of principle experiments, described previously in Section 4.0, determined that two injections of  $1 \times 10^5$  healthy donor hepatocytes given at birth were able to increase enzyme activity ~8% over untreated iMSUD controls (**Figure 23A**) resulting in partial metabolic correction of the disease phenotype. Differentiation of ESCs into liver-like cells has the potential to work equally well. The use of differentiated ESCs for transplantation could potentially reduce, or perhaps eliminate, the need for precious donor livers for cellular transplantation. As a first step toward using differentiated ESCs to correct MSUD, PEPs were first characterized *in vitro*, and wildtype mice were used to determine the engraftment efficiency of transplanted cells *in vivo*.

132

### 5.2 METHODS

All studies involving animals were reviewed and approved by the University of Pittsburgh's Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee.

# 5.2.1 Mouse colony breeding

Production of iMSUD and control mice was carried out as previously described in Methods Section 2.2.

# 5.2.2 Southern blot genotyping

Genotyping by Southern blot analysis was completed as previously described in Methods Section 2.2.

### 5.2.3 Differentiation of ESC

R1 ESCs, which were derived from the 129/Sv mouse strain (Nagy et al., 1993), or C57BL/6 mouse strain-derived ESCs expressing green fluorescent protein [GFP; both generous gifts from Dr. Khillan, University of Pittsburgh, Pittsburgh, PA)] were cultured on p100 plates (BD Falcon, Franklin Lakes, NJ) with a mouse embryonic fibroblast (MEF) feeder layer. Cells were cultured in "R1 Media," which is DMEM media (Gibco, Grand Island, NY) supplemented with 0.3% leukemia inhibitory factor (LIF; Gibco), 15% fetal bovine serum (FBS; Gibco), 1% L-glutamine (Chemicon International, Temecula, CA), and  $4\mu$ L  $\beta$ -mercaptoethanol (Sigma-

Aldrich, St. Louis, MO )/500mL media] until ESC colonies reached ~75% confluency. ESCs were then trypsinized, centrifuged briefly, and the media removed. Then ~5mL "MEF media" (R1 Media without the addition of LIF) was added, the cells vortexed briefly, and incubated at room temperature for 10 minutes to allow the MEF cells to settle to the bottom. The top 1-2mL of media containing ESCs were then cultured on a 0.05 mg/mL rat tail collagen-coated 6-well plate (BD Falcon) and differentiation was induced *in vitro* with 100µg/mL FGF (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO) <u>or</u> 100µg/mL FGF + 100µg/mL Activin A (Sigma-Aldrich) in MEF Media for 0, 3, 6, 7, 9, or 12 days. PEPs were then either lysed with RadioImmuno Precipitation Assay Lysis and Extraction Buffer (Pierce, Rockford, IL) for Western blot analysis or harvested for differentiated ESC therapy.

### **5.2.4** Differentiated ESC therapy

Adult WT iMSUD mice (6-8 weeks of age) were anesthetized with 100mg/kg ketamine (Fort Dodge Animal Health, Ft. Dodge, IA) + 10mg/kg xylazene (Vedco, St. Joseph, MO) and the spleen or liver exposed by laparotomy. Mouse ESCs were stimulated *in vitro* with 100µg/mL FGF <u>or</u> 100µg/mL FGF + 100µg/mL Activin A as described above for 7 days to create PEPs. A single injection of PEPs was administered directly into the spleen or liver parenchyma ( $\sim$ 1x10<sup>5</sup> cells/50µL PBS) and the incision was sutured and stapled. Mock-treated control animals were subjected to the same surgical procedure and injected with sterile PBS. ESC therapy was administered at 28 days of age. Mice were sacrificed at 3 hours or 1 month and the livers analyzed.

### 5.2.5 Western blot analysis

Protein isolated from PEP and mouse livers were analyzed as previously described in Methods Section 2.2. In addition to what was previously described, blots were individually probed with several additional primary antibodies: rabbit anti-α1-antitrypsin (#sc-30121; Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Santa Cruz, CA), rabbit anti-albumin (#ab19196; AbCam, Cambridge, MA), goat anti-α-fetoprotein (#sc-8108; Santa Cruz Biotechnology), and rabbit anti-OCT4 (#AB3209; Chemicon International, Temecula, CA). Corresponding commercially available secondary antibodies conjugated to HRP [goat anti-rabbit-HRP (#NB730H; Novus Biologicals, Littleton, CO) and donkey anti-goat-HRP (#NB7357, Novus Biologicals)] was used for detection via the Western Lightning chemiluminescence kit.

# 5.2.6 Immunohistochemistry

Following PEP transplant, livers from WT mice were fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde overnight for no more than 24 hours. Tissue was then incubated in 30% sucrose for at least 24 hours followed by cryopreservation in Optimum Cutting Temperature Compound (OCT; Tissue-Tek), and sectioned at 30µ using a Leica CM1850 cryostat. Tissue sections were mounted on slides, blocked in 10% normal goat serum (NGS) in PBS, and treated with an Avidin Biotin Blocking Kit (Vector Labs, Burlingame, CA). This step was necessary since anti-biotin was reported to be a highly specific detection method for mitochondria, which results in high background staining when using a 3,3-diamino-benzidine tetrahydrochloride (DAB) detection method (Hollinshead et al., 1997). Sections were then incubated with a polyclonal rabbit anti-GFP primary antibody (#NB600-303, Novus Biologicals, Littleton, CO) overnight at 4°C in a

humidified chamber and later incubated in a goat-anti-rabbit biotin-congugated secondary antibody (#NB730B; Novus Biologicals). Sections were then treated with Avidin Biotin Complex (Vector Labs, Burlingame, CA) for 30 minutes followed by DAB (Sigma-Aldrich) for 10 minutes. Sections were then subjected to a series of dehydrating ethanol and xylene washes and coverslipped with Permount Mounting Medium (Fisher Scientific, Pittsburgh, PA). Tissue was visualized with an Olympus Ix71 inverted microscope.

### 5.2.7 BCKDH complex enzyme activity assay

In addition to determination of BCKDH activity from liver tissue as described previously in Methods Section 2.2, ESCs and PEPs were also analyzed. Following differentiation for 12 days with 100µg/mL of FGF and PEP formation, cells were collected from a p100 plate (BD Falcon), spun down and the media removed. Cells were then homogenized and further prepared for the BCKDH enzyme assay as previously described in Methods Section 2.2.

### 5.3 **RESULTS AND DISCUSSION**

### 5.3.1 Verification of GPF expression in ESCs

Prior to any cellular manipulations, R1-GPF and C57BL/6-GFP ESCs were first verified to be intense expressers of GFP by visualization by fluorescence microscopy. This step was important since GFP expression was used as a marker to identify cells once they were injected into mouse liver. GFP expression was determined microscopically to be present in 100% of

ESCs of both cell lines (**Figure 30**). Expression was not limited to any specific organelle, such as the nucleus, but instead present throughout the cell. This suggested that GFP was translocated to the cytoplasm upon translation.



### Figure 30. R1-GFP ESC prior to differentiation.

R1-GFP embryonic stem cells were visualized under a fluorescence microscope to verify GPF expression. Expression was present in 100% of R1-GPF cells. Intensity was strong and appeared to be present throughout the entire cell, most likely localized to the cytoplasm.

# 5.3.2 Differentiated ESCs expressed liver-specific markers

There was no determinable difference between the two tested differentiation protocols (FGF or FGF + activin A), or between mouse ESC lines (R1-GFP or C57BL/6); therefore, R1-GFP ESCs differentiated with FGF will be focused upon in this section (**Figure 31**). Albumin, a hepatocyte specific marker, was abundantly expressed in liver tissue controls as expected, and an apparent band was detected in ESCs following the first timepoint (3 days) of FGF differentiation. Albumin levels appeared to remain constant with longer differentiation timepoints.  $\alpha$ -fetoprotein (AFP), a marker of immature hepatocytes, was robustly expressed in day 1 mouse liver tissue and was undetectable in 20 and 56 day old livers. AFP was also detectable at a high level in R1-GFP ESCs after only 3 days in differentiation media and appeared to slightly

decrease with longer differentiation timepoints.  $\alpha$ -1-antitrypsin (AAT), a marker of mature hepatocytes, was not detectable in mouse liver tissue at any age for unknown reasons. AAT should be detectable at all liver tissue ages analyzed since expression initiates in the fetal liver and is therefore present before birth (Dr. S. Strom, personal communciation July 2008, University of Pittsburgh). However, AAT was strongly expressed in ESCs differentiated at all timepoints in FGF. As determined previously, E2 was strongly expressed in all analyzed mouse livers regardless of age. E2 was also strongly expressed in undifferentiated R1-GFP (Figure 31) ESCs. BCKDH subunits are normally localized to the mitochondria and are therefore present in all cells containing mitochondria, so this finding was not surprising. Upon initiation of differentiation, E2 protein levels appeared to decrease slightly at all timepoints compared to Day 0. However, GAPDH (loading control) protein also appeared to decrease slightly upon initiation of differentiation (Figure 31). Therefore, the observed change is likely due to a difference in protein loading and not an effect of differentiation. Oct4, a specific marker of undifferentiated ESCs, was present at a low level in Day 0 ESCs collected prior to the addition of differentiation media, and was very faintly detectable in subsequent timepoints after differentiation. This suggested that some cells were still undifferentiated even after 12 days of FGF stimulation. Therefore, prior to transplantation of PEPs into a recipient, a cell sorting step to remove undifferentiated cells may be beneficial to reduce the likelihood of teratoma (Damjanov and Solter, 1974; Sherman and Solter, 1975). The observed difference in GAPDH protein level between ESCs and liver tissue was due to the difference in cell type, not due to a mistake in protein loading.

ESC lines were differentiated by two different protocols in an attempt to determine the more efficient method to produce further differentiated hepatocyte-like cells. One differentiation

138

protocol used was 100µg/mL of FGF supplemented in culture media, which was used previously to differentiate PEPs from mouse ESCs by Fair et al. (2005). FGF is required to initiate early embryonic liver development (Fair et al., 2005; Jung et al., 1999). The second differentiation protocol used consisted of 100µg/mL FGF used in conjunction with 100µg/mL activin A supplemented in culture media. Activins are members of the transforming group beta (TGβ) superfamily of proteins, and activin A, a dimer of two TGβA subunits, is vitally involved in apoptosis, cell growth, and tissue architecture in the healthy liver (Deli et al., 2008). Activin A was used previously to enhance stimulation of ESCs along a hepatocyte lineage (Hay et al., 2008; Kubo et al., 2004). In a recent publication in which several different growth factors to induce hepatic differentiation in human ESCs were compared, ESC culture in the presence of activin A produced the greatest number of AFP-producing cells after treatment on both collagen and matrigel coated plates (Ishii et al., 2008).





Western blot analysis of **LEFT**: livers from 1, 20, and 56 day old control mice and, **RIGHT**: R1-GFP ESCs prior to addition of differentiation media (day 0), and R1-GFP ESCs differentiated with 100µg/mL FGF for 3, 6, 9, and 12 days. Samples were analyzed for hepatocyte markers (albumin, AFP, AAT), BCKDH E2, an undifferentiated ESC marker (Oct4), and a loading control (GAPDH). Liver markers in differentiated ESCs were apparent after 3 days in culture. Oct4 expression in differentiated ESCs indicated some cells remained undifferentiated even after 12 days in differentiation media. 25µg of protein was loaded/lane.

Although both mouse ESC lines differentiated equally well by both differentiation methods as determined by Western blot, variations in cell growth was evident, particularly after addition of differentiation media. In standard R1 media, cellular growth of C57BL/6-GFP cells was much slower than R1-GFP cells typically requiring an extra 3-5 days to arrive at confluency. ESCs from either line were able to form healthy colonies and survive standard cell culture manipulations (trypsinization, media washes, plate splitting) without issue. Upon addition of differentiation media, no change in R1-GFP cell growth was detected. However, C57BL/6-GFP cell growth decreased dramatically upon initiation of differentiation; a majority of cells were dead after only 1 day of exposure to differentiation media. Collection of sufficient differentiated C57BL/6-GFP cells for protein and enzymatic analysis for all timepoints was therefore difficult. Also, since >90% of C57BL/6-GFP cells died during the differentiation process, acquiring enough cells for multiple mouse transplantations would require a greater number of cells to start with and thus a much larger volume of differentiation media. This was a problem due to the high economic cost associated with both FGF and activin A. For these reasons, R1-GFP ESCs were used for all subsequent experiments. In addition, due to equal success in producing PEPs using either differentiation protocol, FGF differentiation media without activin A was used for differentiation in all subsequent experiments.

### 5.3.3 Differentiated ESC BCKDH activity

Expression of hepatocyte protein markers in PEPs suggested that differentiation by FGF was able to stimulate ESCs along a hepatocyte lineage (**Figure 31**). Therefore, R1-GFP derived PEP BCKDH enzyme activity was analyzed and compared to mouse liver tissue and undifferentiated ESCs.



**Figure 32.** BCKDH enzyme assay of R1-GFP ESC differentiated for 12 days. BCKDH enzyme activity assay displaying undifferentiated R1-GFP ESC [R1-GFP (-FGF)], differentiated R1-GFP ESC PEPs [R1-GFP (+FGF)], and mouse liver (1, 20, and 56 days of age). R1-GFP (+FGF) was increased significantly over R1-GFP (-PBS); \*, p<0.001). Control (WT) livers were shown to serve as a reference for normal enzyme activity levels. The numbers either on or above data columns represent the group n value.

BCKDH activity of differentiated R1-GFP (+FGF) ESCs was significantly different compared to undifferentiated R1-GFP (- FGF) controls (**Figure 32**; p<0.001). Undifferentiated ESC activity was approximately 3.2% of the mean WT control activity (1, 20, and 56 day livers) while differentiated ESC PEP activity was ~5.4%. There was no significant difference in enzyme activity between 1, 20, and 56 day old mouse livers, and the averaged WT control enzyme activity from all mouse liver ages was similar to values previously determined by this assay. While any additional BCKDH enzyme activity may ameliorate symptoms to some small degree, 5.4% activity is insufficient to correct MSUD in iMSUD mice. iMSUD disease models were determined to have 5-6% of BCKDH activity, which corresponded to the 3-30% range for human iMSUD (Chuang and Shih, 2001; Homanics et al., 2006). An additional 5-6% of activity provided by differentiated ESCs would still be in the enzyme activity range associated with human iMSUD. However, once engrafted in the mouse liver exposed to endogenous liverspecific cues, PEPs may further differentiate along a hepatocyte lineage (Chinzei et al., 2002) and BCKDH enzyme activity may increase to a more significant level.

# 5.3.4 PEPs were able to engraft in the wildtype mouse liver

Preliminary experiments transplanting PEPs into WT mice were completed prior to testing the procedure in iMSUD mice.  $1x10^5$  PEPs/50µL PBS were injected either directly into the liver parenchyma, as was done previously to correct a FIX deficiency (Fair et al., 2005), or the spleen. The livers were analyzed for the presence of GFP by immunohistochemistry either 3 hours or 1 month post-transplant. Mock-transplanted animals (n=4) injected with 50µL PBS either into the liver or spleen had no DAB positive staining indicating the absence of GFPpositive cells, as expected (Figure 33A). This control also confirmed the absence of nonspecific primary or secondary antibody binding to liver tissue. Small colonies of GFP-positive cells directly injected into the spleen (n=3) were detectable 1 month after transplantation (Figure 33B, middle and right panels, dark staining). All splenic transplanted mice had small, distinct colonies of engrafted GFP-positive cells, though observed colonies were somewhat rare. Splenic transplantation of hepatocytes in mice was determined through HTx to be a direct avenue to the liver resulting in the migration of ~55% of cells within two minutes of injection (Ponder et al., 1991) and engraftment and survival of cells displayed normal hepatic function for the life-time of the recipient (Gupta et al., 1991; Holzman et al., 1993; Mito et al., 1979; Ponder et al., 1991). As a positive liver transplant control, PEPs were transplanted directly into the liver and analyzed 3 hours later (n=3) to determine whether cells were able to stay in the liver once directly injected as well as test our ability to identify engrafted GFP-positive cells (Figure 33C, middle and right





Control (WT) livers either injected with **A.** PBS (mock) or **B.-C.** R1-GPF derived PEPs. PEPs were injected either directly into the **B.** spleen and harvested 1 month later, or **C.** liver and harvested 3 hours later as a positive control. A no primary (1°) antibody control was done for each treatment to assess background staining (left panels, **A-C.**). The dark areas in the middle and right panels in **B-C.** indicate GFP-positive staining by DAB of engrafted PEPs. Tissue section thickness was 30µ, 40x magnification.

panels, dark staining). As expected, large clusters of GPF-positive cells confirmed  $\alpha$ -GFP antibody specificity as well as our ability to identify engrafted cells following transplantation.

Experiments to inject PEPs into liver (and analysis at 1 month) and PEP injection into spleen (and analysis at 3 hours) were initiated, but could not be completed due to technical difficulties. Issues encountered involved defective FGF stocks from Sigma-Aldrich, the high cost of replacement FGF, one animal death immediately following PEP injection, and substandard fixation in paraformaldehyde of liver tissue following collection resulting in poor tissue quality for analysis.

### 5.4 CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS

Based upon previously published data reporting correction of an inherited metabolic liver disorder (Fair et al., 2005), I hypothesized ESCs differentiated into hepatocyte-like PEPs could functionally engraft in the livers of transplanted mice. Using ESCs that expressed a high level of GFP protein, PEP cell liver engraftment was verified up to 1 month later in WT mice (**Figure 33B**) though only small colonies were identified. Injecting a larger volume of cells or multiple injections into the spleen at later timepoints could potentially increase the total number of engrafted cells.

Differentiated ESCs were able to express liver-specific markers after only 3 days in culture (**Figure 31**) and BCKDH activity of R1-GFP derived PEPs was significantly higher than undifferentiated control ESC populations (**Figure 32**). The average activity of PEPs differentiated for 12 days with FGF was just 5.4% of averaged WT mouse liver activity, which was lower than initially hoped. However, it was hypothesized that once engrafted in the liver

and surrounded by endogenous liver cues, average BCKDH activity may increase due to cells further differentiating down a hepatocyte lineage. For example, ESCs differentiated into embryoid bodies *in vitro* formed albumin-producing cells *in vivo* after transplantation into mouse livers (Chinzei et al., 2002).

Fair et al. (2005) noted a small percentage ( $\sim 6.2\%$ ) of teratoma attributed to the use of 129-derived ESC, which were reported to cause a statistically higher incidence of spontaneous teratoma relative to other laboratory mouse lines (Stevens, 1973). Therefore, two ESC mouse lines were used for these experiments, 129 derived R1 cells and C57BL/6 cells. Both R1-GFP and C57BL/6-GFP ESCs were able to express liver markers after only three days in the two tested differentiation mediums (100µg/mL FGF or 100µg/mL FGF + 100µg/mL activin A; Figure 31). However, due to increased sentitivity of C57BL/6 ESCs to the differentiation media, which caused high mortality and poor growth, R1-GFP ESCs were used for enzymatic analysis and transplantation studies. Transplantation of undifferentiated ESCs carry the risk of teratoma formation (Chinzei et al., 2002; Choi et al., 2002; Teramoto et al., 2005; Thomson et al., 1998). However, there was no incidence of teratoma in any of the PEP transplanted mice. This was despite Oct4 expression in cells exposed to differentiation media, which suggested not all cells in a PEP population had differentiated even after 12 days in culture (Figure 32). If the incidence of teratoma in PEP injected mice becomes an issue in future studies, a previous publication suggested that longer culture times significantly decreased the incidence of teratoma in vivo (Chinzei et al., 2002), or a cell sorting step could be completed prior to transplantation to separate out undifferentiated ESCs.

Possible plans for the future involve a larger scale analysis of hepatocyte markers by Real Time qPCR. qRTPCR is a highly sensitive assay which may detect very low levels of liver-

145

specific gene expression that may otherwise be undetectable by other methods. Also, a larger panel of investigated hepatocyte markers is needed to more specifically establish how well differentiated the ESCs become. In addition to the markers analyzed here (albumin, AAT, AFP), liver markers tested in other publications comparing ESC-to-hepatocyte differentiation methods (Lavon and Benvenisty, 2005) could be analyzed (e.g., FOXA1, FOXA2, CEBPA, CEBPB, Functional hepatocyte-specific assays could also be utilized, such as urea HNF4, etc.). production. Following a more complete characterization of PEP cells, PEP injection into iMSUD mice would also be attempted. PEP therapy would most likely employ the HTx protocol described in Section 4.1 since early treatment of iMSUD disease model mice would be most beneficial. Untreated iMSUD mice are very fragile and unhealthy by weaning age when surgery for CTx would be most feasible, and most do not survive long beyond weaning (Figure 29B). CTx at birth, identical to HTx treatment (described in the previous section), has the potential to improve health to the same degree as HTx so that a more aggressive treatment protocol could be established around weaning age. Administration of a larger volume of PEPs could be transplanted into the spleen of iMSUD animals, and multiple injections at later timepoints would The presence of immune response markers following CTx would also be be possible. investigated since they were not examined in the preliminary studies described here. If needed, immunosuppression could be administered to prevent cell rejection. As an alternative to ESCs, human stem cells isolated from human umbilical cord blood could also be transplanted into mice to correct the iMSUD disease phenotype. Cord blood reportedly has less immunogenic issues, less incidence of host rejection, and a reduction in the incidence and severity of graft-vs-host disease (Brown and Boussiotis, 2008).

### 6.0 DISSERTATION SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS

This dissertation focused primarily upon evaluation of new therapeutic approaches to correct MSUD in a novel mouse model of this disease. Although the BCKDH complex, responsible for the permanent degradation of BCKAs in the body, reportedly functions in all tissues containing mitochondria (e.g., heart, skeletal muscle, liver, brain, kidney, etc.), BCKDH in tissues other than liver is largely kept in an inactivated state (Harper et al., 1984). Furthermore, OLT in MSUD patients has demonstrated that restoration of BCKDH in liver alone was sufficient to correct the disease, or at least relieve symptoms to those associated with a very mild phenotype, greatly improving long-term health and survival (Bodner-Leidecker et al., 2000; Netter et al., 1994; Strauss et al., 2006; Wendel et al., 1999). My research focused on alternative liver-directed therapies to provide rationale for their future clinical development and use. The first section of this chapter will address the use of animal models to test novel treatments eventually intended for human use. The similarities between the iMSUD mouse model and the human disease will also be discussed. The second section addresses the problems encountered with AAV gene therapy and the possible causes behind these issues. Intended courses of action to improve gene therapy approaches for MSUD are presented. The third section describes the partial metabolic correction of the iMSUD mouse model observed through HTx therapy. The anticipated potential for differentiated "liver-like" ESCs to provide similar disease protection is also discussed. Possible issues and future studies intended to improve upon these results are presented. The final section addresses the relevance of this work towards a greater understanding of how MSUD causes disease and the importance of the further development of liver-directed therapies. This may not only benefit MSUD, but other liver-based metabolic diseases as well.

# 6.1 GENETICALLY ENGINEERED MOUSE MODELS OF DISEASE

Once a patient has succumbed to a disease, the study of cadavers can often be informative. However, cadavers cannot determine what contributed to disease onset or how disease progression occurred. Only the resulting cause of death can be established. Study of a disease in a living being in real time can determine the root cause and thus elucidate a way to prevent or correct the disease. The study of animal models in research has provided invaluable opportunities to determine the pathophysiology associated with a specific disease from animal development *in utero* to death. Once the disease mechanism is identified, novel therapies or drugs can be investigated.

Relevance of an animal model to the human disease is of great concern. Occasionally a spontaneous animal model of a known human disease becomes available, such as the Polled Shorthorn and Polled Hereford bovine models of MSUD (Harper et al., 1989; Harper et al., 1986). However, although homologous genes were affected in both human and cow, the disease pathogenesis and presentation were different. Therefore, bovine MSUD was not an ideal animal model due to dissimilarities between it and the human disease. If a model must be generated, some thought must be put into the genetic design. A genetic knockout may be most ideal in some cases while a knockin may provide additional benefits in others. Genetic knockouts carry

some limitations (i.e., compensation, lethality) since the change is global. Interpretation of data to determine a gene of interest's function may be difficult when results could be due to modification of a gene of interest or compensatory changes in other genes. However, for models of disease, compensation may be an advantage rather than a limitation. Compensatory changes occurring in a disease model are likely also occurring in humans, thereby creating a more relevant model. However, a model's relevance would be lost if compensatory effects are due to genes without a corresponding human ortholog. In cases where early lethality was an issue (i.e., cMSUD), knockin or transgenic animals (i.e., iMSUD) may provide a more useful tool for study.

A specific model's relevance may change depending upon the final objective of the research. Similar genetic disruptions and pathophysiology between an animal model and the corresponding human disease is useful when determination of the mechanism of disease is the goal. However, that same model may not be the most relevant to test novel therapies for later clinical use. For example, mdx mice are one of the most widely used models to mimic Duchenne's muscular dystrophy (DMD) (Bulfield et al., 1984). However, since mouse muscles are so tiny, disease phenotype was very mild despite total dystrophin loss (Vainzof et al., 2008). Therefore mdx mice did not generate reliable data for clinical trials. In this case, a canine model with much larger muscles comprises a better model for therapeutic study. The choice of therapy may also play a role in the relevancy of an animal model. For example, cellular immune responses to AAV capsid proteins were recently acknowledged in clinical trials (Mingozzi and High, 2007). These immune responses did not occur in previous animal studies with the vector (Li et al., 2007). Therefore, due to the presence of a unique cell population in humans not present in mice, mice may not make the most ideal model for AAV pre-clinical trials.

Human and mouse genomes are very similar; over 99% of mouse genes have a corresponding human homologue while 96% of mouse proteins are shared with humans (Okazaki et al., 2002; Venter et al., 2001; Waterston et al., 2002). Mice have been widely accepted to reliably model a multitude of human diseases (Huttenlocher, 2000; Thompson, 2008; Vainzof et al., 2008). Furthermore, a mouse model of iMSUD (Homanics et al., 2006), characterized further in Section 2.0 of this dissertation, has thus far proved to be highly similar compared to the human disease (Table 9). iMSUD was modeled through standard genetic engineering techniques to create a deficiency in the BCKDH E2 subunit by mouse E2 knockout and subsequent introduction of transgenic human E2. Mouse and human E2 are 91% homologous at the protein level [NCBI accession # NM 010022 (mouse), # NM 001918 (human)] and were expected to function interchangeably. iMSUD mice exhibited developmental delay, seizures, reduced BCKDH enzyme activity, dysregulated blood and brain amino acids, disrupted brain monoamines, and physical brain abnormalities [KJS dissertation, 2008; (Homanics et al., 2006; Zinnanti et al., 2008)], all consistent with human cases of disease (Chuang and Shih, 2001; Crome et al., 1961; McKenna et al., 1998; Silberman et al., 1961; Wajner et al., 2000; Zinnanti et al., 2008).

Transgenic human E2 resulted in 5-6% of normal BCKDH activity (**Figure 5B**), thus providing a superior disease model of iMSUD. However, despite many similarities to human MSUD, transgenic E2 may be functioning suboptimally *in vivo*. Therefore, testing certain therapies may be restricted in this model due to the possible disruption of proper enzyme formation and function from inclusion of a C-terminal c-myc tag on transgenic E2 [**Figure 4** (Knapp et al., 2000; Mattevi et al., 1992)]. Competition for inclusion into BCKDH could likely occur between transgenic E2 and therapeutic-derived E2 and therefore any complexing of the

two may produce a similar reduction in enzyme activity. In addition, although mouse and human E2 are highly homologous, it is unknown whether human E2 can function optimally with mouse BCKDH subunits. Improper trafficking of E2 to mitochondria may also have been to blame. Therefore, further studies to definitively identify why BCKDH activity was reduced in the iMSUD model are required.

Prior to the creation of the iMSUD model, leucine interaction in the brain was theorized to cause neurological dysfunction; however the precise mechanism was poorly understood (Chuang and Shih, 2001; Wajner et al., 2000). In MSUD, deficient levels of BCKDH increase leucine, isoleucine, and valine in the blood and tissues, including the brain. Leucine was shown to be 30-fold higher in MSUD patients compared to normal levels while isoleucine and valine suffered less dramatic increases (9 and 3 times higher than normal, respectively) (Wajner et al., 2000). In addition, increased leucine concentrations alone corresponded to reduced large neutral amino acids (i.e., BCAAs, tryptophan, tyrosine, phenylalanine, and methionine) in the serum. Recently, through study of the iMSUD animal model, a mechanism for MSUD has been proposed (Zinnanti et al., 2008) based upon these previous publications. Systematic exposure to high and low protein diets and subsequent analysis at various ages confirmed the relationship between high BCAA/BCKA in the brain and neurophysiological abnormalities (Zinnanti et al., 2008). Dietary studies were conducted involving norleucine, an atypical amino acid previously determined to compete at the blood brain barrier for access at the same transporter as leucine (Tews and Harper, 1991). Norleucine was shown to reduce leucine and KIC levels in the brain compared to untreated iMSUD animals (Zinnanti et al., 2008). Disrupted bioenergics were also restored and survival increased in both cMSUD and iMSUD models.

The proposed disease mechanism (Figure 34) was originally reported in Zinnanti et al. (2008). Increased leucine competes at the large neutral amino acid transporter with other essential amino acids at the blood brain barrier for entrance into the brain. As a result, reduced large neutral amino acids caused a reduction in neurotransmitters along with related precursors and metabolites (Figure 34 part 1). Decreased essential brain amino acids caused a reduction in protein synthesis, dysmyelinization, and growth restriction in the brain. In the astrocytes and neurons, KIC accumulation caused reverse BCAT flux to reproduce leucine (Figure 34 part 2). An increase in leucine also increased  $\alpha$ -ketoglutarate ( $\alpha$ KG), an important intermediate in the Krebs cycle and precursor to glutamate and GABA. As a result, glutamate and aspartate were reduced. Aspartate is metabolized from oxaloacetate, another important intermediate in the Krebs cycle, and is involved in the malate/aspartate shuttle. This shuttle relies on equal exchange of aspartate for glutamate and translocates electrons across the impermeable inner mitochondrial membrane for oxidative phosphorylation and generation of ATP. Increased  $\alpha KG$ coupled with decreased glutamate alters ATPase activity inhibiting conversion of lactate to pyruvate, also important to Krebs cycle function (Figure 34 part 3). Disrupted energy metabolism was previously suggested to be secondary to BCAA and BCKA accumulation in the brain (Patel et al., 1973; Yudkoff et al., 2005). In support of this, KIC was proposed to inhibit pyruvate dehydrogenase (PDH) and  $\alpha$ - ketoglutarate dehydrogenase ( $\alpha$ KGDH) in the mitochondria causing Krebs cycle dysfunction and reduced bioenergics. Reduction in required cellular energy and ATPase function caused cell swelling and cerebral edema in iMSUD animals (Zinnanti et al., 2008). Treatment with norleucine competed with leucine at the blood brain barrier, which effectively reduced leucine and KIC levels in the brain and thus diminished



Figure 34. Proposed MSUD disease mechanism causing neuropathology.

Adapted from (Zinnanti et al., 2008). (1) During MSUD crisis, increased leucine competes at the blood brain barrier with other essential amino acids, in turn causing reduced precursors for monoamines. Protein synthesis is reduced causing growth restriction of the brain. This, paired with dysregulation of BCAAs, impairs myelination. (2) Ketoisocaproate (KIC) accumulation causes reverse BCAT flux to reproduce leucine, which increases  $\alpha$ ketoglutarate ( $\alpha$ KG) and reduces glutamate and aspartate. (3) Increased  $\alpha$ KG and decreased glutamate alters ATPase activity inhibiting conversion of lactate to pyruvate, important to Krebs cycle function. Additionally, KIC inhibits pyruvate dehydrogenase (PDH) and  $\alpha$ -ketoglutarate dehydrogenase ( $\alpha$ KGDH) in the mitochondria causing Krebs cycle dysfunction and reduced bioenergics. Reduction in required cellular energy and ATPase function causes cell swelling and cerebral edema. Norleucine competes with leucine at the blood brain barrier reducing leucine and KIC levels in the brain and thus improving dysregulation of bioenergics and amino acids. dysregulation of amino acids and the Krebs cycle improving body bioenergics. Data reported in Section 4.0 was found to support the proposed model. 5-HT (metabolized from tryptophan), DA (a metabolite of phenylalanine and tyrosine), glutamate, and GABA (synthesized from glutamate) were reduced in iMSUD mice compared to controls (**Figure 28**). Alanine (synthesized from pyruvate), alloisoleucine, ornithine, and aspartate were also reduced (**Figure 27**).

# 6.2 LIVER-TARGETED AAV GENE THERAPY IN IMSUD MICE

Results reported here suggested that AAV-mediated gene therapy to direct human E2 to the liver was unable to increase BCKDH activity and reduce the MSUD phenotype in a mouse model. This was unexpected considering previous studies targeting liver to cure inherited liver diseases such as hemophilia in humans, mice, and dogs (Manno et al., 2003; Manno et al., 2006; Sarkar et al., 2004; Scallan et al., 2003; Wang et al., 2005a), as well as inborn errors of metabolism in mice (Conlon et al., 2005; Ding et al., 2006; Harding et al., 2006; Mochizuki et al., 2004; Sun et al., 2005a). No discernable difference was determined in survival, E2 protein or BCKDH activity in liver, or BCAA levels in the blood between iMSUD treatment groups (**Figure 15**). At the time of sacrifice, no AAV genomes were identified in any analyzed tissues (**Figure 16**). This may correspond to a loss of AAV concatemers in targeted cells. However, liver cells are largely quiescent with liver turnover occurring on average 1-2 times per year. Therefore, dilution of AAV genomes due to cell division was unlikely. It was more likely our results were due to a low treatment dose, which correlated to approximately 1 v.g./cell.

Administration by IP injection rather than the tail or portal vein may potentially reduce this number even more.

Additional issues with the vector may also have contributed to the failure of these studies. The mouse albumin promoter, although able to direct expression in hepatocytes (Jiang et al., 2001; Koeberl et al., 1999; Su et al., 1996; Xiao et al., 1998a), was determined to be the weakest out of a panel of recently evaluated liver-specific promoters (Al-Dosari et al., 2006). The incorporation of an intron, absent in our therapeutic vectors, was also previously suggested to strengthen AAV expression (Ostedgaard et al., 2005). However, others (Wang et al., 2005b) reported minimal benefits suggesting lack of an intron did not significantly damage our chances for success.

As alluded to above, potential molecular issues concerning the iMSUD model may be interfering with gene therapy function. Competition for inclusion into BCKDH is likely occurring between transgenic E2 and AAV-derived E2. Therefore, if transgenic E2 can disrupt proper enzyme formation and function due to inclusion of a C-terminal c-myc tag (Knapp et al., 2000; Mattevi et al., 1992), transgenic E2 complexed with AAV-derived E2 will likely produce a similar effect. In addition, although mouse and human E2 are highly homologous, it is unknown whether human E2 can function optimally with mouse BCKDH subunits.

With regard to AAV gene therapy approaches in general, recent events may make clinical testing more difficult to approve. A patient in a Phase 1 clinical trial to cure active inflammatory arthritis died on July 24, 2007 (Weiss, 2007). All AAV clinical trials were temporarily halted and a federal investigation was begun (Kaiser, 2007); thus far no link has been found between the viral vector and the recent death. In addition, a known humoral response to AAV exists, which may limit readministration of therapeutic vectors (Hernandez et al., 1999; Moskalenko et

al., 2000). However, this issue was overcome through the use of transient immunosuppression following re-administration of a serotype (Halbert et al., 1997; Hernandez et al., 1999; Manning et al., 1998). More recently, a cellular immune response to AAV capsid proteins reportedly occurred in clinical trials (Mingozzi and High, 2007) which did not exist in previous animal studies (Li et al., 2007). It may be possible to overcome cellular immune responses with immunosuppression use as well.

### 6.2.1 Future studies

Despite many potential issues, it was likely the therapeutic AAV vectors used here were functional, albeit at a low level. However, before improvements are made to the gene therapy vectors to improve liver targeting and expression, certain questions must first be answered regarding the iMSUD model. Gene therapy, and potentially any therapy that requires the use of endogenous BCKDH cellular components, may not work in this particular model if transgenic c-myc tagged E2 disrupts enzyme function. Therefore, an experiment proposed previously in this dissertation, which would compare human, mouse, and c-myc tagged E2, may establish if the iMSUD model is indeed a relevant choice to test gene therapy. If needed, another model of iMSUD may be made. Engineering a new transgenic mouse model from the current one may take as little as 6 months – 1 year. The cMSUD model may also be used, though establishment of a special diet is needed to keep them alive long enough for the therapy to work. Another mouse model of classic MSUD, in which E1 $\alpha$  is disrupted, may also be available shortly (Dr. S. Hutson, Wake Forest University, Winston-Salem, NC; personal communication).

To improve the therapeutic vectors to cure MSUD, a stronger promoter could be used in place of the mouse albumin promoter. For example, the human AAT promoter directed high

expression specifically in hepatocytes (Knapp and Liu, 2004; Nash et al., 2004). Other investigators have incorporated multiple copies of enhancers before a liver-specific promoter to increase expression (Harding et al., 2006; Wang et al., 1999). Pseudotyped AAV2/8 vectors have also demonstrated improved liver targeting and expression over other AAV serotypes (Gao et al., 2002; Harding et al., 2006; Sarkar et al., 2004). Addition of an intron may help strengthen sustained AAV expression *in vivo*; however it must be omitted if space requirements do not allow for its incorporation. A higher dose (10<sup>12</sup> v.g./animal) paired with hydrodynamic viral administration via the tail vein, which can have a 40% or greater hepatocyte transfection efficiency with a single injection (Liu et al., 1999; Zhu et al., 2006), could also greatly increase transfection efficiency and subsequent gene expression in the iMSUD mouse model.

### 6.3 LIVER-DIRECTED CELLULAR THERAPIES

Previously discussed molecular issues involving the iMSUD model may limit the therapeutic use of certain genetic cures in this model. However, infusion of whole healthy cells into the liver may bypass these problems. Cellular therapies function independently from dysfunctional endogenous cells and therefore would not interact with the transgenic human E2 present in iMSUD cells. HTx, discussed below, was able to partially correct the metabolic defect in iMSUD mice. ESC therapy may prove to be equally, or perhaps even more, effective.

### 6.3.1 Hepatocyte transplantation

Data presented here demonstrated that HTx therapy (2x liver injections of  $1 \times 10^5$ cells/50µL during the first two weeks of life) was able to improve the MSUD disease phenotype in iMSUD mice. During the course of these experiments, 236 mice were given HTx at birth. Of these animals, 21 ( $\sim$ 8%) were found to be iMSUD disease models. Dead pups were very rarely found during daily checks for new litters. However, dead pups may have been removed by animal care or cannibalized by the parents prior to daily checks. In addition, the transgenic A Line of iMSUD mice used for these studies corresponded to a lower survival rate at weaning and beyond compared to the 525A Line used in previous studies (Homanics et al., 2006). The number of live pups was typically recorded between 0-3 days after birth. All pups recorded at that time were still alive at weaning. Untreated iMSUD animals rarely survived any significant length of time beyond weaning. It is unknown why expected Mendelian genetics were skewed. Dead pups or body parts were not genotyped to determine whether those that did not survive were iMSUD animals. It was possible some iMSUD pups died in utero and were reabsorbed, though this is unlikely since in the human disease, human babies are protected by the mother until birth (Chuang and Shih, 2001).

Analysis of blood at weaning (~21 days of age) revealed a 75% reduction in BCAA/ala levels compared to untreated and PBS-treated iMSUD controls (**Figure 22**). Body weight at weaning, a sensitive measure of health, was also significantly improved (**Figure 29A**). However, elevated serum and brain BCAAs coupled with reduced alanine at the time of sacrifice (~35 days of age) suggested HTx therapy was not as effective at this later timepoint (**Figures 23** & **27**). Because immunosuppression was not utilized, a loss of donor cell function or death may be the cause. Immunosuppression is typically used to avoid cell rejection in HTx both clinically

(Strom et al., 2006a) and in laboratory animals (Bissiq et al., 2007; Puppi et al., 2008).  $\beta$ -gal expression could also not be identified in HTx livers several weeks after transplant, which may also indicate cell rejection (data not shown). However, ROSA26 liver characterization suggested failure to identify  $\beta$ -gal activity may be due to gradual hepatic LacZ gene silencing as mice aged (**Figure 19**).

Despite potential cell rejection at the time of sacrifice, survival was significantly improved in iMSUD-HTx mice (**Figure 29B**). Therefore, partial metabolic correction provided at earlier timepoints was effectively able to delay more severe MSUD symptoms and lengthen survival. In addition, mouse E2 RNA was present at a level of 2.8% of control and BCKDH enzyme activity in iMSUD-HTx animals was increased ~8% over untreated and iMSUD-PBS animals (**Figures 24A & 25**). BCKDH enzyme activity, when considered with the level of mouse RNA present, suggested each donor cell was more active than usual. A similar occurrence was documented in a case of human HTx (Muraca et al., 2002b).

Alterations in neurotransmitters and their related precursors/metabolites in iMSUD mice reported here and in an upcoming manuscript (Zinnanti et al., 2008) mirrored imbalances in the human disorder (McKenna et al., 1998; Wajner et al., 2000). Correction of DA, 5-HT, and DOPAC in iMSUD-HTx brains (**Figure 28**), the site of injury for MSUD, was very encouraging from a clinical perspective. In addition, a significant reduction in alloisoleucine, a sensitive diagnostic marker for MSUD (Schadewaldt et al., 1999), and ornithine was observed in HTx brains compared to untreated iMSUD mice (**Figure 27**). However, many disruptions remained unchanged following HTx compared to untreated disease models [(i.e., asp, gln, GABA, ser, gly, tau, and phosphoethanolamine); **Figure 27 & 28**]. Perhaps at weaning, correction of brain amino acids and monoamines would have been enhanced if rejection was prevented (assuming rejection was indeed occurring at the time of sacrifice).

Disrupted energy metabolism was previously suggested to be secondary to BCAA and BCKA accumulation in the brain (Patel et al., 1973; Yudkoff et al., 2005). Data presented here and by Zinnanti et al. (2008) support the occurrence of severely altered bioenergics and Krebs cycle dysfunction in the iMSUD model. A mechanism illustrating how this occurs and also explaining how MSUD causes brain injury was discussed previously (**Figure 34**).

### 6.3.2 Differentiated "liver-like" ESCs

Donor livers for OLT, and potentially HTx, are in very high demand (Strom et al., 2006a; Strom et al., 1999). Therefore, ESCs are viewed as a promising alternate source of cells for CTx. Similar to studies with HTx, ESCs differentiated into endodermal "liver-like" cells have successfully corrected liver failure (Hu et al., 2006; Ishii et al., 2007; Soto-Gutiérrez et al., 2006; Tabei et al., 2005) and two inherited liver disorders (Fair et al., 2005; Sharma et al., 2008) in animal models. Also similar to HTx, the presence of both a humoral and cellular immune response to transplanted ESC cells in mice suggested a need for immunosuppressive therapy (Kofidis et al., 2005). Alternately, the recent creation of iPS cells, which could be made from a patient's own cells, may solve immunogenic issues associated with traditional ESCs (Takahashi et al., 2007).

Data presented in Section 5.0 of this dissertation demonstrated that differentiation with FGF alone or FGF + activin A produced cells able to express high levels of liver-specific markers [(albumin, AAT, AFP); **Figure 31**]. This was consistent with other studies using these differentiation agents (Hu et al., 2004; Imamura et al., 2004; Ishizaka et al., 2002; Kubo et al.,
2004). BCKDH activity was also significantly increased from  $\sim 3.2\%$  +/- 0.2% SEM of wildtype control liver activity (undifferentiated ESCs) to  $\sim 5.4\%$  +/- 0.3% SEM in FGF differentiated PEPs (**Figure 32**). However, persistent, albeit low, Oct4 expression in cells differentiated *in vivo* for 12 days suggested not all cells were able to form PEPs (**Figure 31**). Transplantation of pluripotent stem cells could potentially result in teratoma formation (Chinzei et al., 2002; Choi et al., 2002; Teramoto et al., 2005; Thomson et al., 1998). Despite this concern, no evidence of teratoma was observed in adult PEP-injected mice analyzed here. However, such a small group of animals (n=3 were followed for 1 month post-transplant) does not likely represent what may occur in all mice. Finally, GFP-positive cells could be identified in the livers of all three animals analyzed 1-month post-transplant (**Figure 33B**) suggesting at least some engrafted cells were still present. Markers of transplant rejection were not assessed; therefore the possibility of rejection cannot be eliminated.

## 6.3.3 Future studies

With regard to differentiated ESC populations, longer culture times may reduce the incidence of possible teratoma formation (Chinzei et al., 2002). Alternately, a cell sorting step may be added to remove undifferentiated ESCs from those intended for animal transplantation. For further and more complete characterization of PEP cells, a more comprehensive panel of liver-specific markers and functional assays may also prove useful.

Partial metabolic correction of MSUD by HTx served as an exciting proof-of-concept study both for clinical HTx and differentiated ESC cellular transplant despite evidence suggesting cell rejection was occurring. In addition to hepatocytes and differentiated ESCs, transplantation of human placental cord blood cells (McGuckin and Forraz, 2008; Prasad et al.,

2008) are also proposed for the future. Plans to improve liver engraftment largely involve a more aggressive treatment of iMSUD mice. Cell injections would begin at birth as described for HTx. However, since human clinical cases of HTx have determined that a much larger percentage of liver mass (up to 5%) can be tolerated without incident (Dhawan et al., 2004), cells per injection could be increased. In addition, supplementary splenic injections (Gupta et al., 1991; Holzman et al., 1993; Mito et al., 1979; Ponder et al., 1991) could be given at weaning age since significant improvement in body weight and BCAA/ala blood levels were observed at that time (**Figures 22 & 29A**). In order to further enhance liver repopulation, selective regeneration pressure, such as preconditioning with retrorsine and CCl<sub>4</sub> (Gupta et al., 1999; Laconi et al., 1998) and/or partial hepatectomy, may be used to give transplanted hepatocytes a greater growth advantage over endogenous cells. Finally, the presence of immune response markers following transplant could be investigated since some HTx results suggested cell rejection may be occurring. Immunosuppression could be administered if needed.

## 6.4 RELEVANCE TO HUMAN METABOLIC DISEASES

This work has potential importance to human MSUD and possibly other human metabolic diseases. MSUD and other inborn errors of metabolism are often very serious with few options for treatment. Further characterization of the iMSUD mouse model reported here supports its value as an ideal tool to identify the specific role of genes/gene products in the biological action and pathophysiology of human MSUD. Stemming from recent work with the cMSUD and iMSUD models, a disease mechanism has already been proposed (Zinnanti et al.,

2008). A better understanding of the causative mechanism behind the human disease may lead to new or improved therapies to treat or potentially cure the disorder.

In addition to the iMSUD model accurately mimicking human MSUD, it may also prove useful as a model of other disorders. For example, MSUD dysfunction occurs in mitochondria, which results in Krebs cycle dysregulation and decreased bioenergics (Patel et al., 1973; Yudkoff et al., 2005). Therefore, the iMSUD model may be a viable model for other mitochondrial diseases with impaired bioenergics. iMSUD animals are also prone to seizures when stressed or exposed to loud noise, which often leads to death (unpublished observations). Therefore, iMSUD mice may be valuable as a seizure model as well. In addition, a dysfunction in fatty acid metabolism occurs in MSUD, which results in cuticular delamination (Jones et al., 1996; Smith and Swift, 2005). Therefore, the iMSUD model may also be useful in the dermatology field.

Results presented in Section 4.0 of this dissertation of partial metabolic correction in iMSUD mice by HTx were very encouraging. Although HTx has already been used clinically to treat other metabolic diseases as an alternate treatment to OLT (Bodner-Leidecker et al., 2000; Netter et al., 1994; Strauss et al., 2006; Wendel et al., 1999), these studies provided further rationale to pursue cellular therapies for the clinical treatment of MSUD. Furthermore, other liver-based diseases or inborn errors of metabolism may also be benefited by cellular therapy approaches. In addition, many advantages of CTx exist over OLT, such as cost, it's a non-invasive procedure, and the possibility of multiple manipulations to further enhance liver engraftment and repopulation, among others (Fisher and Strom, 2006; Strom et al., 2006a). Therefore, CTx may represent a promising therapeutic intervention for human MSUD and other liver-based metabolic disorders which should be investigated further.

163

Despite AAV's failed ability to demonstrate any improvement in iMSUD mice, AAV gene therapy may still represent a promising therapeutic alternative to a low BCAA diet or OLT. Aside from other reported AAV-mediated animal studies with metabolic disease, recently a mouse model of phenylketonuria, a liver-based inborn error of metabolism that is also controlled by diet much like MSUD, was subjected to AAV gene therapy. Both liver-directed (Ding et al., 2006; Mochizuki et al., 2004) and muscle-directed (Ding et al., 2008) approaches achieved complete correction. Because BCKDH also has substantial activity in the skeletal muscles of a normal person (Tessari et al., 1996), muscle-directed approaches may also be viable to correct MSUD if enough cells can be transfected. However, the iMSUD model must be further evaluated before AAV studies can be continued.

## BIBLIOGRAPHY

AAMC (2007). Somatic Cell Nuclear Transfer (Therapeutic Cloning) http://www.aamc.org/advocacy/library/research/res0003.htm (Washington, D.C., AAMC).

Abad, J. D., Wrzensinski, C., Overwijk, W., De Witte, M. A., Jorritsma, A., Hsu, C., Gattinoni, L., Cohen, C. J., Paulos, C. M., Palmer, D. C., *et al.* (2008). T-cell receptor gene therapy of established tumors in a murine melanoma model. J Immunother *31*, 1-6.

Abe, K., Niwa, H., Iwase, K., Takiguchi, M., Mori, M., Abe, S. I., and Yamamura, K. I. (1996). Endoderm-specific gene expression in embryonic stem cells differentiated to embryoid bodies. Exp Cell Res *229*.

Adachi, K., Fujino, M., Kitazawa, Y., Funeshima, N., and Li, X. K. (2006). Genetic heterogeneity and efficiency of two different methods of adenovirus-mediated gene transfer in a rat liver transplantation model. 36 *4*.

Adhikary, S., and Eilers, M. (2005). Transcriptional regulation and transformation by Myc proteins. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol *6*, 635-645.

Aghi, M., Rabkin, S., and Martuza, R. L. (2006). Effect of chemotherapy-induced DNA repair on oncolytic herpes simplex viral replication. J Natl Cancer Inst *98*, 38-50.

Aiuti, A., Slavin, S., Aker, M., Ficara, F., Deola, S., Mortellaro, A., Morecki, S., Andolfi, G., Tabucchi, A., Carlucci, F., *et al.* (2002). Correction of ADA-SCID by stem cell gene therapy combined with nonmyeloablative conditioning. Science *296*, 2410-2413.

Albarran, Y., Carvajal, A., de la Garza, A., Cruz Quiroz, B. J., Vazquez Zea, E., Díaz Estrada, I., Mendez Fuentez, E., López Contreras, M., Andrade-Manzano, A., Padilla, S., *et al.* (2007). MVA E2 recombinant vaccine in the treatment of human papillomavirus infection in men presenting intraurethral flat condyloma: a phase I/II study. BioDrugs *21*, 47-59.

Albertini, M. R., Emler, C. A., Schell, K., Tans, K. J., King, D. M., and Sheehy, M. J. (1996). Dual expression of human leukocyte antigen molecules and the B7-1 costimulatory molecule (CD80) on human melanoma cells after particle-mediated gene transfer. Cancer Gene Ther *3*, 192-201.

Alberts, B., Johnson, A., Lewis, J., Raff, M., Roberts, K., and Walter, P. (2002). Intracellular compartments and protein sorting. In Molecular Biology of the Cell, M. S. Anderson, and B. Singer, eds. (New York, Garland Science).

Al-Dosari, M., Zhang, G., Knapp, J. E., and Liu, D. (2006). Evaluation of viral and mammanlian promoters for driving transgene expression in mouse liver. Biochem Biophys Res Commun *339*, 673-678.

Ang, S. L., Wierda, A., Wong, D., Stevens, K. A., Cascio, S., Rossant, J., and Zaret, K. S. (1993). The formation and maintenance of the definitive endoderm lineage in the mouse: involvement of HNF3/forkhead proteins. Development *119*, 1301-1315.

Anthony, J. C., Anthony, T. G., Kimball, S. R., and Jefferson, L. S. (2001). Signaling pathways involved in translational control of protein synthesis in skeletal muscle by leucine. J Nutr *131*, 856S-860S.

Araujo, P. R., Wassermann, G. F., Tallini, K., Furlandetto, V., Vargas, C. R., Wannmacher, C. M., Dutra-Filho, C. S., Wyse, A. T., and Wajner, M. (2001). Reduction of large neutral amino acids in plasma and brain in hyperleucinemic rats. Neurochem Int *38*, 529-537.

Atchison, R. W., Casto, B. C., and Hammon, W. M. (1965). Adenovirus-associated defective virus particles. Science *149*, 754-756.

Avunduk, A. M., and Tekelioglu, Y. (2006). Therapeutic use of limbal stem cells. Curr Stem Cell Res Ther *1*, 231-238.

Baird, K., and Pavletic, S. Z. (2006). Chronic graft versus host disease. Curr Opin Hematol 13, 426-435.

Bartlett, J. S., Wilcher, R., and Samulski, R. J. (2000). Infectious entry pathway of adenoassociated virus and adeno-associated virus vectors. J Virol 74, 2777-2785.

Batshaw, M. L., Wilson, J. M., Yudkoff, M., Raper, S., and Robinson, M. B. (1999). Recombinant adenoviral gene transfer in adults with partial ornithine transcarbanylase deficiency (OTCD). Hum Gene Ther *10*, 2419-2437.

Beal, M. F. (2001). Experimental models of Parkinsons's disease. Nat Rev Neurosci 2, 325-334.

Beal, M. F., Brouillet, E., Jenkins, B. G., Ferrante, R. J., Kowall, N. W., Miller, J. M., Storey, E., Srivastava, R., Rosen, B. R., and Hyman, B. T. (1993). Neurochemical and histological characterization of striatal excitotoxic lesions produced by the mitochondrial toxin 3-nitropropionic acid. J Neurosci *13*, 4181-4192.

Bellon, G., Michel-Calemard, L., Thouvenot, D., Jagneaux, V., Poitevin, F., Malcus, C., Accart, N., Layani, M., Aymard, M., Bernon, H., *et al.* (1997). Aerosol administration of a recombinant adenovirus expressing CFTR to cystic fibrosis patients: a phase 1 clinical trial. Hum Gene Ther *8*, 15-25.

Bhatia, M. (2003). The ultimate source of human hematopoietic stem cells: thinking outside the marrow. Cloning Stem Cells *5*, 89-97.

Bilir, B. M., Guinette, D., Karrer, F., Kumpe, D. A., Krysl, J., Stephens, J., McGavran, L., Ostrowska, A., and Durham, J. (2000). Hepatocyte transplantation in acute liver failure. Liver Transplantation *6*, 32-40.

Bissiq, K. D., Le, T. T., Woods, N. B., and Verma, I. M. (2007). Repopulation of adult and neonatal mice with human hepatocytes: a chimeric animal model. Proc Natl Acad Sci *104*, 20507-20511.

Blacklow, N. R., Hoggan, M. D., Kapikian, A. Z., Austin, J. B., and Rowe, W. P. (1968). Epidemiology of adenovirus-associated virus infection in a nursery population. Am J Epidemiol *88*, 368-378.

Bodner-Leidecker, A., Wendel, U., Saudubray, J. M., and Schadewaldt, P. (2000). Branchedchain L-amino acid metabolism in classical maple syrup urine disease after orthotopic liver transplantation. J Inher Metab Dis *23*, 805-818.

Boissier, M. C., Lemeiter, D., Clavel, C., Valvason, C., Laroche, L., Begue, T., and Bessis, N. (2007). Synoviocyte infection with adeno-associated virus (AAV) is neutralized by human synovial fluid from arthritis patients and depends on AAV serotype. Hum Gene Ther *18*, 525-535.

Bolesta, E., Kowalczyk, A., Wierzbicki, A., Eppolito, C., Kaneko, Y., Takiguchi, M., Stamatatos, L., Shrikant, P. A., and Kozbor, D. (2006). Increased level and longevity of protective immune responses induced by DNA vaccine expressing the HIV-1 Env glycoprotein when combined with IL-21 and IL-15 gene delivery. J Immunol *177*, 177-191.

Bosnakovski, D., Mizuno, M., Kim, G., Takagi, S., Okumura, M., and Fujinaga, T. (2006). Chondrogenic differentiation of bovine bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) in different hydrogels: influence of collagen type II extracellular matrix on MSC chondrogenesis. Biotechnol Bioeng *93*, 1152-1163.

Boucher, R. C., Knowles, M. R., Johnson, L. G., Olsen, J. C., Pickles, R., J.M., W., Engelhardt, J., Yang, Y., and Grossman, M. (1994). Gene therapy for cystic fibrosis using E1-deleted adenovirus: a phase I trial in the nasal cavity. Hum Gene Ther *5*, 615-639.

Boviatsis, E. J., Park, J. S., and Sena-Esteves, M. (1994). Long term survival of rats harbouring brain neoplasms treated with gancyclovir and herpes simplex virus vector that retains an active thymidine kinase gene. Cancer Res *54*, 5745-5761.

Brown, J. A., and Boussiotis, V. A. (2008). Umbilical cord blood transplantation: basic biology and clinical challenges to immune reconstitution. Clin Immunol *127*, 286-297.

Bulfield, G., Siller, W. G., Wight, P. A., and Moore, K. J. (1984). X chromosome-linked muscular dystrophy (mdx) in the mouse. Proc Natl Acad Sci *81*, 1189-1192.

Burt, R. K., Verda, L., Kim, D. A., Oyama, Y., Luo, K., and Link, C. (2004). Embryonic stem cells as an alternate marrow donor source: engraftment without graft-versus-host disease. J Exp Med *199*, 895-904.

Calingasana, N. Y., Hoa, D. J., Willea, E. J., Campagnaa, M. V., Ruana, J., Dumonta, M., Yanga, L., Shib, Q., Gibsonb, G. E., and Beal, M. F. (2008). Influence of mitochondrial enzyme deficiency on adult neurogenesis in mouse models of neurodegenerative diseases. Neuroscience *153*, 986-996.

Cantz, T., Sharma, A. D., Jochheim-Richter, A., Arseniev, L., Klein, C., Manns, M. P., and Ott, M. (2004). Reevaluation of bone marrow-derived cells as a source for hepatocyte regeneration. Cell Transplantation *13*, 659-666.

Cantz, T., Zuckerman, D. M., Burda, M. R., Dandri, M., Goricke, B., Thalhammer, S., Heckl, W. M., Manns, M. P., Petersen, J., and Ott, M. (2003). Quantitative gene expression analysis reveals transition of fetal liver progenitor cells to mature hepatocytes after transplantation in uPA/RAG-2 mice. Am J Path *162*, 37-45.

Cerna, L., Wenchich, L., Hansikova, H., Kmoch, S., Peskova, K., Chrastina, P., Brynda, J., and Zeman, J. (2001). Novel mutations in a boy with dihydrolipoamide dehydrogenase deficiency. Med Science Monit 7, 1319-1325.

Chambers, I., Silva, J., Colby, D., Nichols, J., Nijmeijer, B., Robertson, M., Vrana, J., Jones, K., Grotewold, L., and Smith, A. (2007). Nanog safeguards pluripotency and mediates germline development. Nature *450*, 1230-1234.

Chen, H., Yao, H., Huang, L., Shen, Q., Jia, W., and Xue, J. (2006). Expression of human factor IX gene in murine plasma through lentiviral vector-infected haematopoietic stem cells. Clin Exp Pharmacol Physiol *33*, 1196-1201.

Chi, C., Tsai, C., Chen, L., Lee, H., Mak, B., Yang, S., Wang, T., Shu, S., and Chen, C. (2003). Maple syrup urine disease in the Austronesian aboriginal tribe Paiwan of Taiwan: a novel DBT (E2) gene 4.7 kb founder deletion caused by a nonhomologous recombination between LINE-1 and Alu and the carrier-frequency determination. Eur J Hum Genet *11*, 931-936.

Chicco, A. G., Adibi, S. A., Liu, W. Q., Morris, S. M. J., and Paul, H. S. (1994). Regulation of gene expression of branched-chain keto acid dehydrogenase complex in primary cultured hepatocytes by dexamethasone and a cAMP analog. J Biol Chem *269*, 19427.

Chinzei, R., Tanaka, Y., Shimizu-Saito, K., Hara, Y., Kakinuma, S., Watanabe, M., Teramoto, K., Arii, S., Takase, K., Sato, C., *et al.* (2002). Embryoid-body cells derived from a mouse embryonic stem cell line show differentiation into functional hepatocytes. Hepatology *36*, 22-29.

Choi, D., Oh, H. J., Chang, U. J., Koo, S. K., Jiang, J. X., Hwang, S. Y., Lee, J. D., Yeoh, G. C., Shin, H. S., J.S., L., and Oh, B. (2002). In vivo differentiation of mouse embryonic stem cells into hepatocytes. Cell Transplantation *11*, 359-368.

Choi, V. W., McCarty, D. M., and Samulski, R. J. (2005). AAV Hybrid Serotypes: improved vectors for gene delivery. Curr Gene Ther *5*, 299-310.

Chowdhury, J. R., Grossman, M., Gupta, S., Chowdhury, N. R., Baker, J. R. J., and Wilson, J. M. (1991). Long-term improvement of hypercholesterolemia after ex vivo gene therapy in LDLR-deficient rabbits. Science *254*, 1802-1805.

Chu, Y. W., and Gress, R. E. (2008). Murine models of chronic graft-versus-host disease: insights and unresolved issues. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant *14*, 365-378.

Chuang, D. T., Chuang, J. L., and Wynn, R. M. (2006). Lessons from genetic disorders of branched-chain amino acid metabolism. J Nutr *136*, 234S-239S.

Chuang, D. T., Davie, J. R., Wynn, R. M., Chuang, J. L., Koyata, H., and Cox, R. P. (1995). Molecular basis of maple syrup urine disease and stable correction by retroviral gene transfer. J Nutr *125*, 1766S-1772S.

Chuang, D. T., and Shih, V. E. (1995). Maple syrup urine disease. In The Metabolic Basis of Inherited Diseases, C. R. Schriver, A. L. Beaudet, S. Sly, and D. Valle, eds. (New York, McGraw-Hill), pp. 1239-1277.

Chuang, D. T., and Shih, V. E. (2001). Maple Syrup Urine Disease (Branched-Chain Ketoaciduria). In The Metabolic and Molecular Basis of Inherited Disease, C. R. Scriver, A. L. Beaudet, W. S. Sly, D. Valle, B. Childs, K. W. Kinzler, and B. Vogelstein, eds. (New York, McGraw-Hill Medical Publishing), pp. 1971-2005.

Chuang, J., Wynn, R., Moss, C., Song, J., Li, J., Awad, N., Mandel, H., and Chuang, D. (2004). Structural and biochemical basis for novel mutations in homozygous Israeli maple syrup urine disease patients: a proposed mechanism for the thiamin-responsive phenotype. J Biol Chem 279, 17792-17800.

Chuang, J. L., Cox, R. P., and Chuang, D. T. (1996). Maple syrup urine disease: the E1beta gene of human branched-chain alpha-ketoacid dehydrogenase complex has 11 rather than 10 exons, and the 3-prime UTR in one of the two E1-beta mRNAs arises from intronic sequences. Am J Hum Genet *58*, 1373-1377.

Chuang, J. L., Cox, R. P., and Chuang, D. T. (1997). E2 Transacylase-deficient (Type II) Maple Syrup Urine Disease: Aberrant Splicing of E2 mRNA Caused by Internal Intronic Deletions and Association with Thiamine-responsive Phenotype. J Clin Invest *100*, 736-744.

Conlon, T. J., Cossette, T., Erger, K., Choi, Y. K., Clarke, T., Scott-Jorgensen, M., Song, S., Campbell-Thompson, M., Crawford, J., and Flotte, T. R. (2005). Efficient Hepatic Delivery and Expression from a Recombinant Adeno-Associated Virus 8 Pseudotyped alpha1-antitrypsin Vector. Mol Therapy *12*, 867-875.

Conover, J. C., Ip, N. Y., Poueymirou, W. T., Bates, B., Goldfarb, M. P., deChiara, T. M., and Yanacopoulos, G. D. (1993). Ciliary neutrotrophic factor maintains the pluripotentiality of embryonic stem cell. Development *119*, 559-565.

Copeland, S., Tuerck, J., and Paradise, L. (2004). Maple Syrup Urine Disease. Paper presented at: NW Regional Newborn Screening Program (Portland, OR, OHSU).

Costa-Pinto, F. A., Basso, A. S., Britto, L. R., Malucelli, B. E., and Russo, M. (2005). Avoidance behavior and neural correlates of allergen exposure in a murine model of asthma. Brain Behav Immun *19*, 52-60.

Cowan, C. A., Atienza, J., Melton, D. A., and Eggan, K. (2005). Nuclear reprogramming of somatic cells after fusion with human embryonic stem cells. Science *309*, 1369-1373.

Cox, R. P., and Chuang, D. T. (1993). Maple syrup urine disease: clinical and molecular genetic considerations. In The Molecular and Genetic Basis for Neurological Disease., R. Rosenberg, S. Prusiner, R. DiMauro, R. Barchi, and L. Kunkel, eds. (Boston, Butterworth-Heinemann), pp. 189-207.

Crome, L., Dutton, G., and Ross, C. F. (1961). Maple syrup urine disease. J Pathol Bacteriol 81, 379-384.

Crystal, R. G. (1995). Transfer of genes to humans: early lessons and obstacles to success. Science *270*, 404-410.

Cyranoski, D. (2008). Stem cells: 5 things to know before jumping on the iPS bandwagon. Nature *452*, 406-408.

Dahwan, A., Mitry, R. R., Hughes, R. D., Lehee, S., Terry, C., Bansal, S., Arya, R., Wade, J. J., Verma, A., Heaton, N. D., *et al.* (2004). Hepatocyte transplantation for inherited factor VII deficiency. Transplantation *78*, 1812-1814.

Damjanov, I., and Solter, D. (1974). Experimental teratoma. Curr Top Pathol 59, 69-130.

Damuni, Z., Merryfield, M. L., Humphreys, J. S., and Reed, L. J. (1984). Purification and properties of branched-chain alpha-keto acid dehydrogenase phosphatase from bovine kidney. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA *81*, 4335-4338.

Dancis, J., Hutzler, J., and Levitz, M. (1960). Metabolism of the white blood cells in maple syrup urine disease. Biochem Biophys Acta 43, 342-343.

Dang, D. T., Pevsner, J., and Yang, V. W. (2000). The biology of the mammalian Kruppel-like family of transcription factors. Int J Biochem Cell Biol *32*, 1102-1121.

Danner, D. J., and Doering, C. B. (1998). Human mutations affecting branched chain a-ketoacid dehydrogenase. Frontiers in Bioscience *3*, 517-524.

Danner, D. J., Litwer, S., Herring, W. J., and Pruckler, J. (1989). Construction and nucleotide sequence of a cDNA encoding the full-length preprotein for human branched chain acyltransferase. J Biol Chem *264*, 7742-7746.

Deconinck, N., Ragot, T., Maréchal, G., Perricaudet, M., and Gillis, J. M. (1996). Functional protection of dystrophic mouse (mdx) muscles after adenovirus-mediated transfer of a dystrophin minigene. PNAS *93*, 3570–3574.

Deli, A., Kreidl, E., Santifaller, S., Trotter, B., Seir, K., Berger, W., Schulte-Hermann, R., Rodgarkia-Dara, C., and Grusch, M. (2008). Activins and activin antagonists in hepatocellular carcinoma. World J Gastroenterol *14*, 1699-1709.

Dénes, B., Yu, J., Fodor, N., Takátsy, Z., Fodor, I., and Langridge, W. H. (2006). Suppression of hyperglycemia in NOD mice after inoculation with recombinant vaccinia viruses. Mol Biotechnol *34*, 317-327.

Dennis, J. A., and Healy, P. J. (1999). Definition of the mutation responsible for maple syrup urine disease in Poll Shorthorns and genotyping Poll Shorthorns and Poll Herefords for maple syrup urine disease alleles. Res Vet Sci *67*, 1-6.

Dhawan, A., Mitry, R. R., and Hughes, R. D. (2004). Hepatocyte transplantation for inherited factor VII deficiency. Transplantation *78*, 1812.

Ding, W., Zhang, L., Yan, Z., and Engelhardt, J. F. (2005). Intracellular trafficking of adenoassociated viral vectors. Gene Ther *12*, 873-880.

Ding, Z., Georgiev, P., and Thöny, B. (2006). Administration-route and gender-independent long-term therapeutic correction of phenylketonuria (PKU) in a mouse model by recombinant adeno-associated virus 8 pseudotyped vector-mediated gene transfer. Gene Ther *13*, 587-593.

Ding, Z., Harding, C. O., Rebuffat, A., Elzaouk, L., Wolff, J. A., and Thöny, B. (2008). Correction of murine PKU following AAV-mediated intramuscular expression of a complete phenylalanine hydroxylating system. Mol Therapy *16*, 673-681.

DiPaola, R. S., Plante, M., Kaufman, H., Petrylak, D. P., Israeli, R., Lattime, E., Manson, K., and Schuetz, T. (2006). A phase I trial of pox PSA vaccines (PROSTVAC-VF) with B7-1, ICAM-1, and LFA-3 co-stimulatory molecules (TRICOM) in patients with prostate cancer. J Transl Med *4*, 1.

Dodd, P. R., Williams, S. H., Gundlach, A. L., Harper, P. A., Healy, P. J., Dennis, J. A., and Johnston, G. A. (1992). Glutamate and gamma-aminobutyric acid neurotransmitter systems in the acute phase of maple syrup urine disease and citrullinemia encephalopathies in newborn calves. J Neurochem *59*, 582-590.

Dodge, J. C., Clarke, J., Song, A., Bu, J., Yang, W., Taksir, V., Griffiths, D., Zhao, M. A., Schuchman, E. H., Cheng, S. H., *et al.* (2005). Gene therapy of human acid sphingomyelinase corrects neuropathy and motor deficits in a mouse model of Niemann-Pick type A disease. PNAS *102*, 17822-17827.

Doetschman, T. C., Eistetter, H., Katz, M., Schmidt, W., and Kemler, R. (1985). The in vitro development of blastocyst-derived embryonic stem cell lines: formation of visceral yolk sac, blood island and myocardium. J Embryol Exp Morphol *87*, 27-45.

Dong, J. Y., Fan, P. D., and Frizzell, R. A. (1996). Quantitative analysis of the packaging capacity of recombinant adeno-associated virus. Hum Gene Ther 7, 2101-2112.

Dorrell, L., Yang, H., Ondondo, B., Dong, T., di Gleria, K., Suttill, A., Conlon, C., Brown, D., Williams, P., Bowness, P., *et al.* (2006). Expansion and diversification of virus-specific T cells following immunization of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 (HIV-1)-infected individuals with a recombinant modified vaccinia virus Ankara/HIV-1 Gag vaccine. J Virol *80*, 4705-4716.

Duncan, S. A. (2003). Mechanisms controlling early development of the liver. Mech Dev *120*, 19-33.

During, M. J., Naegele, J. R., and O'Malley, K. L. (1994). Long term behavioural recovery in parkinsonian rats by an HSV vector expressing tyrosine hydroxylase. Science *266*, 1399-1403.

Edelmann, L., Wasserstein, M. P., Kornreich, R., Sansaricq, C., Snyderman, S., and Diaz, G. A. (2001). Maple Syrup Urine Disease: Identification of carrier frequency determination of a novel founder mutation in the Ashkenazi Jewish population. Am J Hum Genet *33*, 139a.

Eisenstein, A. B., Strack, I., Gallo-Torres, H., Georgiadis, A., and Miller, O. N. (1979). Increased glucagon secretion in protein-fed rats: lack of relationship to plasma amino acids. Am J Physiol *236*, E20-E27.

Eliyahu, H., Barenholz, Y., and Domb, A. J. (2005). Polymers for DNA Delivery. Molecules 10, 34-64.

Elpeleg, O. N., Shaag, A., Glustein, J. Z., Anikster, Y., Joseph, A., and Saada, A. (1997). Lipoamide dehydrogenase deficiency in Ashkenazi Jews: an insertion mutation in the mitochondrial leader sequence. Hum Mutation *10*, 256-257.

Emery, S., Workman, C., Puls, R. L., Bloch, M., Baker, D., Bodsworth, N., Anderson, J., Crowe, S. M., French, M. A., Hoy, J., *et al.* (2005). Randomized, placebo-controlled, phase I/IIa evaluation of the safety and immunogenicity of fowlpox virus expressing HIV gag-pol and interferon-gamma in HIV-1 infected subjects. Hum Vaccination *1*, 232-238.

Enders, J. F., Bell, J. A., Dingle, J. H., T., F., Hilleman, M. R., Huebner, R. J., and Payne, A. M. (1956). Adenoviruses: group name proposed for new resiratory-tract viruses. Science *124*, 119-120.

Evans, M. J., and Kaufman, M. H. (1981). Establishment in culture of pluripotent cells from mouse embryo. Nature *292*, 154-156.

Fair, J. H., Caims, B. A., LaPaglia, M. A., Caballero, M., Pleasant, W. A., Hatada, S., Kim, H., Gui, T., Pevny, L., Meyer, A. A., *et al.* (2005). Correction of factor IX deficiency in mice by embryonic stem cells differentiated in vitro. PNAS *102*, 2958-2963.

Fair, J. H., Cairns, B. A., Lapaglia, M., Wang, J., Meyer, A. A., Kim, H., Hatada, S., Smithies, O., and Pevny, L. (2003). Induction of hepatic differentiation in embryonic stem cells by co-culture with embryonic cardiac mesoderm. Surgery *134*, 189-196.

Farber, E. (1956). Similarities in the sequence of early histological changes induced in the liver of the rat by ethionine, 2-acetylamino-fluorene, and 3'-methyl-4-dimethylaminoazobenzene. Cancer Res *16*, 142-148.

Feero, W. G., Li, S., Rosenblatt, J. D., Sirianni, N., Morgan, J. E., Partridge, T. A., Huang, L., and Hoffman, E. P. (1997). Selection and use of ligands for receptor-mediated gene delivery to mygenic cells. Gene Ther *4*, 664-667.

Felig, P., Pozefsky, T., Marliss, E., and Cahill, G. F. (1976). Alanine: key role in gluconeogeneisis. Science *167*.

Fields, P. A., Arruda, V. R., Armstrong, E., Chu, K., Mingozzi, F., Hagstrom, J. N., Herzog, R. W., and High, K. A. (2001). Risk and prevention of anti-factor IX formation in AAV-mediated gene transfer in the context of a large deletion of F9. Mol Therapy, 3.

Fisher, C. W., Lau, K. S., Fisher, C. R., Wynn, R. M., Cox, R. P., and Chuang, D. T. (1991). A 17-bp insertion and a phe215-to-cys missense mutation in the dihydrolipoyl (e2) mRNA from a thiamine-responsive maple syrup urine disease patient WG-34. Biochem Biophys Res Commun *174*, 804-809.

Fisher, R. A., Bu, D., Thompson, M., Tisnado, J., Prasad, U., Stirling, R., Posner, M., and Strom, S. (2000). Defining hepatocellular chimerism in a liver failure patient bridged with hepatocyte infusion. Transplantation *69*, 303-307.

Fisher, R. A., and Strom, S. C. (2006). Human hepatocyte transplantation: worldwide results. Transplantation *82*, 441-449.

Fox, I. J., Chowdhury, J. R., Kaufman, S. S., Goertzen, T. C., Chowdhury, N. R., Warkentin, P. I., Dorko, K., Sauter, B. V., and Strom, S. C. (1998). Treatment of the Crigler–Najjar Syndrome Type I with Hepatocyte Transplantation. N Eng J Med *338*, 1422-1426.

Friedmann, T., and Roblin, R. (1972). Gene Therapy for Human Genetic Disease? Science 175, 949-955.

Friedrich, G., and Soriano, P. (1991). Promoter traps in embryonic stem cells: a genetic screen to identify and mutate developmental genes in mice. Genes Dev 5, 1513-1523.

Gao, G. P., Alvira, M. R., Wang, L., Calcedo, R., Johnston, J., and J.M., W. (2002). Novel adeno-associated viruses from rhesus monkeys as vectors for human gene therapy. Proc Natl Acad Sci *99*, 11854-11859.

Gao, X., and Huang, L. (1995). Cationic liposome-mediated gene transfer. Gene Ther 2, 710-722.

Gaspar, H. B., Parsley, K. L., Howe, S., King, D., Gilmour, K. C., Sinclair, J., Brouns, G., Schmidt, M., Von Kalle, C., Barington, T., *et al.* (2004). Gene therapy of X-linked severe combined immunodeficiency by use of a pseudotyped gammaretroviral vector. Lancet *364*, 2181-2187.

Gerber, M. A., Thung, S. N., Shen, S., Stromeyer, F. W., and Ishak, K. G. (1983). Phenotypic characterization of hepatic proliferation. Antigenic expression by proliferating epithelial cells in fetal liver, massive hepatic necrosis, and nodular transformation of the liver. Am J Pathol *110*, 70-74.

Gietzen, D. W., and Magrum, L. J. (2001). Molecular mechanisms in the brain involved in the anorexia of branched-chain amino acid deficiency. J Nutr *131*, 851s-855s.

Goncalves, M. A. (2005). Adeno-associated virus: from defective virus to effective vector. Virology 2, 43-59.

Gooderham, P. A., Gagnon, R. F., and Gill, K. (2004). Attenuation of the alcohol preference of C57BL/6 mice during chronic renal failure. J Lab Clin Med *143*, 292-300.

Gouon-Evans, V., Boussemart, L., Gadue, P., Nierhoff, D., Koehler, C. I., Kubo, A., Shafritz, D. A., and Keller, G. (2006). BMP-4 is required for hepatic specification of mouse embryonic stem cell-derived difinitive endoderm. Nature Biotechnology *24*, 1402-1411.

Grafakou, O., Oexle, K., Van den Heuvel, L., Smeets, R., Trijbels, F., Goebel, H. H., Bosshard, N., Superti-Furga, A., Steinmann, B., and Smeitink, J. (2003). Leigh syndrome due to compound heterozygosity of dihydrolipoamide dehydrogenase gene mutations: description of the first E3 splice site mutation. Europ Pediat *162*, 714-718.

Graham, F. L., and Prevec, L. (1995). Methods for construction of adenoviral vectors. Mol Biotechnol *3*, 207-220.

Grossman, M., Rader, D. J., Muller, D. W., Kolansky, D. M., Kozarsky, K., Clark, B. J. r., Stein, E. A., Lupien, P. J., Brewer, H. B. J., Raper, S. E., and al., e. (1995). A pilot study of ex vivo gene therapy for homozygous familial hypercholesterolaemia. Nat Med *1*, 1148-1154.

Grossman, M., Raper, S. E., Kozarsky, K., Stein, E., Engelhardt, J. F., Muller, D., Lupien, P. J., and J.M., W. (1994). Successful ex vivo gene therapy directed to liver in a patient with familial hypercholesterolaemia. Nat Genet *6*, 335-341.

Groth, C., Arborgh, B., Bjorken, C., Sundberg, B., and Lundgren, G. (1977). Correction of hyperbilirubinemia in the glucuronyltransferase-deficient rat by intraportal hepatocyte transplantation. Transplant Proc *9*, 313-316.

Guha, C., Deb, N., Sappal, B., Ghosh, S., Roy-Chowdhury, N., and Roy-Chowdhury, J. (2001). Amplification of engrafted hepatocytes by preparative manipulation of the host liver. Artif Organs *25*, 522-528.

Guo, D., Fu, T., Nelson, J. A., Superina, R. A., and Soriano, H. E. (2002). Liver repopulation after cell transplantation in mice treated with retrorsine and carbon tetrachloride. Transplantation 73, 1818-1824.

Gupta, S., Aragona, E., Vemuru, R. P., Bhargava, K. K., Burk, R. D., and Chowdhury, J. R. (1991). Permanent engraftment and function of hepatocytes delivered to the liver: implications for gene therapy and liver repopulation. Hepatology *14*, 144-149.

Gupta, S., Rajvanshi, P., Aragona, E., Lee, C. D., Yerneni, P. R., and Burk, R. D. (1999). Transplanted hepatocytes proliferate differently after CCl4 treatment and hepatocyte growth factor infusion. Am J Physiol *276*, G629-G638.

Habibullah, C. M., Syed, I. H., Qamar, A., and Taher-Uz, Z. (1994). Human fetal hepatocyte transplantation in patients with fulminant hepatic failure. Transplantation *58*, 951-952.

Hacein-Bey-Abina, S. (2003). LMO2-associated clonal T cell proliferation in two patients after gene therapy for SCID-X1. Science *302*, 415-419.

Hacein-Bey-Abina, S., Le Deist, F., Carlier, F., Bouneaud, C., Hue, C., De Villartay, J. P., Thrasher, A. J., Wulffraat, N., Sorensen, R., Dupuis-Girod, S., *et al.* (2002). Sustained correction of X-linked severe combined immunodeficiency by ex vivo gene therapy. N Eng J Med *346*, 1185-1193.

Halbert, C. L., Standaert, T. A., Aitken, M. L., Alexander, I. E., Russell, D. W., and Miller, A. D. (1997). Transduction by adeno-associated virus vectors in the rabbit airway: efficiency, persistence, and readministration. J Virol *71*, 5932-5941.

Hamazaki, T., Iiboshi, Y., Oka, M., Papst, P. J., Meacham, A. M., Zon, L. I., and Terada, N. (2001). Hepatic maturation in differentiating embryonic stem cells in vitro. FEBS Letters *497*, 15-19.

Hamman, K., Clark, H., Montini, E., Al-Dhalimy, M., Grompe, M., Finegold, M., and Harding, C. O. (2005). Low therapeutic threshold for hepatocyte replacement in murine phenylketonuria. Mol Ther *12*, 337-344.

Han, X. D., Lin, C., Chang, J. C., Sadelain, M., and Kan, Y. W. (2007). Fetal gene therapy of a-thalassemia in a mouse model. PNAS *104*, 9007-9011.

Hanna, J., Wernig, M., Markoulaki, S., Sun, C. W., Meissner, A., Cassady, J. P., Beard, C., Brambrink, T., Wu, L. C., Townes, T. M., and Jaenisch, R. (2007). Treatment of sickle cell anemia mouse model with iPS cells generated from autologous skin. Science *318*, 1920-1923.

Harding, C. O., Gillingham, M. B., Hamman, K., Clark, H., Goebel-Daghighi, E., Bird, A., and Koeberl, D. D. (2006). Complete correction of hyperphenylalaninemia following liver-directed, recombinant AAV2/8 vector-mediated gene therapy in murine phenylketonuria. Gene Ther *13*, 457-462.

Harper, A. E., Miller, R. H., and Block, K. P. (1984). Branched-chain Amino Acid Metabolism. Annual Reviews 4, 409-454.

Harper, P. A., Dennis, J. A., Healy, P. J., and Brown, G. K. (1989). Maple syrup urine disease in calves: a clinical, pathological and biochemical study. Aust Vet J 66, 46-49.

Harper, P. A., Healy, P. J., and Dennis, J. A. (1986). Maple syrup urine disease as a cause of spongiform encephalopathy in calves. Vet Rec *119*, 62-65.

Harris, R. A., Joshi, M., and Jeoung, N. H. (2004). Mechanisms responsible for regulation of branched-chain amino acid catabolism. Biochem Biophys Res Commun *313*, 391-396.

Harris, R. A., Powell, S. M., Paxton, R., Gillim, S. E., and Nagae, H. (1985). Physiological covalent regulation of rat liver branched-chain alpha-ketoacid dehydrogenase. Arch Biochem Biophys *243*, 542-555.

Hay, D. C., Zhao, D., Fletcher, J., Hewitt, Z. A., McLean, D., Urruticoechea-Uriguen, A., Black, J. R., Elcombe, C., Ross, J. A., Wolf, R., and Cui, W. (2008). Efficient differentiation of hepatocytes from human embryonic stem cells exhibiting markers recapitulating liver development in vivo. Stem Cells *26*, 894-902.

Haymond, M. W., Ben-Galim, E., and Strobel, K. E. (1978). Glucose and alanine metabolism in children with maple syrup urine disease. J Clin Invest *62*, 398-405.

Healy, P. J., and Dennis, J. A. (1994). Molecular heterogeneity for bovine maple syrup urine disease. Anim Genet 25, 329-332.

Heng, B. C., Cao, T., Liu, D., and Phan, T. T. (2005). Directing stem cells into the keratinocyte lineage in vitro. Exp Dermatol 14, 1-16.

Heng, B. C., Cao, T., Stanton, L. W., Robson, P., and Olsen, B. (2004a). Strategies for directing the differentiation of stem cells into the osteogenic lineage in vitro. 19 9.

Heng, B. C., Haider, H. K., Sim, E., Cao, T., and Ng, S. C. (2004b). Strategies for directing the differentiation of stem cells into the cardiomyogenic lineage in vitro. Cardiovasc Res *62*, 34-42.

Hernandez, Y. J., Wang, J., Kearns, W. G., Loiler, S., Poirier, A., and Flotte, T. R. (1999). Latent adeno-associated virus infection elicits humoral but not cell-mediated immune responses in a nonhuman primate model. J Virol *73*, 8549-8958.

Hilliges, C., Awiszus, D., and Wendel, U. (1993). The intellectual performance of patients with maple syrup urine disease (MSUD). Eur J Pediatr *152*, 144-147.

Hiroyama, T., Miharada, K., Sudo, K., Danjo, I., Aoki, N., and Nakamura, Y. (2008). Establishment of mouse embryonic stem cell-derived erythroid progenitor cell lines able to produce functional red blood cells. PLoS ONE *3*, e1544.

Hogan, B., Beddington, R., Costantini, F., and Lacy, E. (1994). Isolation, culture and manipulation of embryonic stem cells. In Manipulating the Mouse Embryo. A Laboratory Manual (New York, Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory Press), pp. 254-290.

Hollinshead, M., Sanderson, J., and Vaux, D. J. (1997). Anti-biotin antibodies offer superior organelle-specific labeling of mitochondria over avidin or streptavidin. J Histochem Cytochem *45*, 1053-1057.

Holzman, M. D., Rozga, J., Neuzil, D. F., Griffin, D., Moscioni, A. D., and Demetriou, A. A. (1993). Selective intraportal hepatocyte transplantation in analbuminemic and Gunn rats. Transplantation *55*, 1213-1219.

Homanics, G. E., Skvorak, K., Ferguson, C., Watkins, S., and Paul, H. S. (2006). Production and characterization of murine models of classic and intermediate maple syrup urine disease. BMC Med Gen *7*.

Hong, Y. S., Korman, S. H., Lee, J., Ghoshal, P., Wu, Q., Barash, V., Kang, S., Oh, S., Kwon, M., Gutman, A., *et al.* (2003). Identification of a common mutation (Gly194Cys) in both Arab Moslem and Ashkenazi Jewish patients with dihydrolipoamide dehydrogenase (E3) deficiency: Possible beneficial effect of vitamin therapy. J Inherit Metab Dis *26*, 816-818.

Horslen, S. P., McCowan, T. C., Goertzen, T. C., Warkentin, P. I., Cai, H. B., Strom, S. C., and Fox, I. J. (2003). Isolated Hepatocyte Transplantation in an Infant With a Severe Urea Cycle Disorder. Pediatrics *111*, 1262-1267.

Hoshi, M., Harada, A., Kawase, T., Uyemura, K., and Yazaki, T. (2000). Antitumoral effects of defective herpes simplex virus-mediated transfer of tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinases-2 gene in malignant glioma U87 in vitro: consequences for anti-cancer gene therapy. Cancer Gene Ther *7*, 799-805.

Hu, A. B., Cai, J. Y., Zheng, Q. C., He, X. Q., Shan, Y., Pan, Y. L., Zeng, G. C., Hong, A., Dai, Y., and Li, L. S. (2004). High-ratio differentiation of embryonic stem cells into hepatocytes in vitro. Liver Int *24*, 237-245.

Hu, A. B., He, X. S., Zheng, Q. C., and Cai, J. Y. (2006). Curative effects of transplantation of hepatocytes differentiated from embryonic stem cells on treatment of fulminant hepatic failure: experiment with mice. Zhonghua Yi Xue Za Zhi *12*, 3280-3284.

Hung, C. F., Tsai, Y. C., He, L., Coukos, G., Fodor, I., Qin, L., Levitsky, H., and Wu, T. C. (2007). Vaccinia virus preferentially infects and controls human and murine ovarian tumors in mice. Gene Ther *14*, 20-29.

Hutson, S. M., Berkich, D., Drown, P., Xu, B., Aschner, M., and LaNoue, K. F. (1998). Role of branched-chain aminotransferase isoenzymes and gabapentin in neurotransmitter metabolism. J Neurochem *71*, 863-874.

Hutson, S. M., and Hall, T. R. (1993). Identification of the mitochondrial branched chain aminotransferase as a branched chain alpha-keto acid transport protein. J Biol Chem *268*, 3084-3091.

Huttenlocher, P. R. (2000). The neuropathology of phenylketonuria: human and animal studies. Eur J Pediatr *159*, S102-S106.

Hwang, W. S., Lee, B. C., Lee, C. K., and Kang, S. K. (2005). Human embryonic stem cells and therapeutic cloning. J Vet Sci *6*, 87-96.

Ikeda, S., Mitaka, T., Harada, K., Sugimoto, S., Hirata, K., and Mochizuki, Y. (2002). Proliferation of rat small hepatocytes after long-term cryopreservation. J Hepatol *37*, 7-14.

Imamura, T., Cui, L., Teng, R., Johkura, K., Okouchi, Y., Asanuma, K., Ogiwara, N., and Sasaki, K. (2004). Embryonic stem cell-derived embryoid bodies in three-dimensional culture system form hepatocyte-like cells in vitro and in vivo. Tissue Eng *10*, 1716-1724.

Irani, A. N., Malhi, H., Slehria, S., Gorla, G. R., Volenberg, I., Schilsky, M. L., and Gupta, S. (2001). Correction of liver disease following transplantation of normal rat hepatocytes into Long-Evans Cinnamon rats modeling Wilson's disease. Mol Ther *3*, 302-309.

Ishii, T., Fukumitsu, K., Yasuchika, K., Adachi, K., Kawase, E., Suemori, H., Nakatsuji, N., Ikai, I., and Uemoto, S. (2008). The effects of extracellular matrices and growth factors on the hepatic differentiation of human embryonic stem cells. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol *ePub*.

Ishii, T., Yasuchika, K., Machimoto, T., Kamo, N., Komori, J., Konishi, S., Suemori, H., Nakatsuji, N., Saito, M., Kohno, K., *et al.* (2007). Transplantation of embryonic stem cell-derived endodermal cells into mice with induced lethal liver damage. Stem Cells *25*, 3252-3260.

Ishizaka, S., Shiroi, A., Kanda, S., Yoshikawa, M., Tsujinoue, H., Kuriyama, S., Hasuma, T., Nakatani, K., and Takahashi, K. (2002). Development of hepatocytes from ES cells after transfection with the HNF-3beta gene. FASEB J *16*.

Isner, J. M., Walsh, K., and Symes, J. (1995). Arterial gene therapy for therapeutic angiogenesis in patients with peripheral artery disease. Circulation *91*, 2687-2692.

JAX (2008). Gt(ROSA)26Sor, Gt(ROSA)26Sortm1Sho, Version 1 Genotyping Protocol <u>http://jaxmice.jax.org/pub-cgi/protocols/protocols.sh?objtype=protocol&protocol\_id=1433</u> (Bar Harbor, ME, The Jackson Laboratory).

Jiang, X. C., Qin, S., Qiao, C., Kawano, K., Lin, M., Skold, A., Xiao, X., and Tall, A. R. (2001). Apolipoprotein B secretion and atherosclerosis are decreased in mice with phospholipid-transfer protein deficiency. Nat Med *7*, 847-852.

Johnson, M. T., Yang, H.-S., Magnuson, T., and Patel, M. S. (1997). Targeted disruption of the murine dihydrolipoyl dehydrogenase gene (Dld) results in perigastrulation lethality. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA *94*, 14512-14517.

Jones, L. N., Peet, D. J., Danks, D. M., Negri, A. P., and Rivett, D. E. (1996). Hairs from patients with maple syrup urine disease show a structural defect in the fiber cuticle. J Invest Dermatol *106*, 461-464.

Jung, J., Zheng, M., Goldfarb, M. P., and Zaret, K. S. (1999). Initiation of mammalian liver development from endoderm by fibroblast growth factors. Science *284*, 1998-2003.

Kaiser, J. (2007). CLINICAL RESEARCH: Death Prompts a Review of Gene Therapy Vector. Science *317*, 580.

Kaludov, N., Brown, K. E., Walters, R. W., Zabner, J., and Chiorini, J. A. (2001). Adenoassociated virus serotype 4 (AAV4) and AAV5 both require sialic acid binding for hemagglutination and efficient transduction but differ in sialic acid linkage specificity. J Virol 75, 6884-6893.

Kamei, A., Takashima, S., Chan, F., and Becker, L. E. (1992). Abnormal dendritic development in maple syrup urine disease. Pediatr Neurol *8*, 145-147.

Kamiya, A., Kinoshita, T., Ito, Y., Matsui, T., Morikawa, Y., Senba, E., Nakashima, K., Taga, T., Yoshida, K., Kishimoto, T., and Miyajima, A. (1999). Fetal liver development requires a paracrine action of oncostatin M through the gp130 signal transducer. EMBO J *18*, 2127-2136.

Kanazawa, Y., and Verma, I. M. (2003). Little evidence of bone marrow-derived hepatocytes in the replacement of injured liver. PNAS *100 (Suppl 1)*, 11850-11853.

Kaplan, E. L., and Meier, P. (1958). Nonparametric estimation from incomplete observations. J Amer Statistical Association *53*, 457-481.

Kaplan, P., Mazur, A., Field, M., Berlin, J. A., Berry, G. T., Heidenreich, R., Yudkoff, M., and Segal, S. (1991). Intellectual outcome in children with maple syrup urine disease. J Pediatr *119*, 46-50.

Kaplitt, M. G., Feigin, A., Tang, C., Fitzsimons, H. L., Mattis, P., Lawlor, P. A., Bland, R. J., Young, D., Strybing, K., Eidelberg, D., and During, M. J. (2007). Safety and tolerability of gene therapy with an adeno-associated virus (AAV) borne GAD gene for Parkinson's disease: an open label, phase I trial. Lancet *369*, 2097-2105.

Kaufmann, A. M., Stern, P. L., Rankin, E. M., Sommer, H., Nuessler, V., Schneider, A., Adams, M., Onon, T. S., Bauknecht, T., Wagner, U., *et al.* (2002). Safety and immunogenicity of TA-HPV, a recombinant vaccinia virus expressing modified human papillomavirus (HPV)-16 and HPV-18 E6 and E7 genes, in women with progressive cervical cancer. Clin Cancer Res *8*, 3676-3685.

Keller, G. (2005). Embryonic stem cell differentiation: emergence of a new era in biology and medicine. Genes Dev *19*, 1129-1155.

Kirn, D. H., Hermiston, T., and McCormick, F. (1998). Onyx-15: clinical data are encouraging. Nat Med *4*, 1341-1342.

Kistner, A., Gossen, M., Zimmermann, F., Jerecic, J., Ullmer, C., Lubbert, H., and Bujard, H. (1996). Doxycycline-mediated quantitative and tissue-specific control of gene expression in transgenic mice. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA *93*, 10933-10938.

Klivenyi, P., Starkov, A. A., Calingasan, N. Y., Gardian, G., Browne, S. E., Yang, L., Bubber, P., Gibson, G. E., Patel, M. S., and Beal, M. F. (2004). Mice deficient in dihydrolipoamide dehydrogenase show increased vulnerability to MPTP, malonate and 3-nitropropionic acid neurotoxicity. J Neurochem *88*, 1352-1360.

Knapp, J. E., Carroll, D., Lawson, J. E., Ernst, S. R., Reed, L. J., and Hackert, M. L. (2000). Expression, purification, and structural analysis of the trimeric form of the catalytic domain of the Escherichia coli dihydrolipoamide succinyltransferase. Protein Sci *9*, 37-48.

Knapp, J. E., and Liu, D. (2004). Hydrodynamic delivery of DNA. Methods Mol Biol 245, 245-250.

Kobayashi, N., Fujiwara, T., Westernman, K. A., Inoue, Y., Sakaguchi, M., Noguchi, H., Miyazaki, M., Cai, J., Tanaka, N., Fox, I. J., and Leboulch, P. (2000). Prevention of acute liver failure in rats with reversibly immortalized human hepatocytes. Science *287*, 1258-1262.

Kochanek, S., Clemens, P. R., Mitani, K., Chen, H. H., Chan, S., and Caskey, C. T. (1996). A new adenoviral vector: Replacement of all viral coding sequences with 28 kb of DNA independently expressing both full-length dystrophin and beta-galactosidase. PNAS *93*, 5731-5736.

Koczot, F. J., Carter, B. J., Garon, C. F., and Rose, J. A. (1973). Self-complementarity of terminal sequences within plus or minus strands of adeno-associated virus DNA. Proc Natl Acad Sci *70*, 215-219.

Koeberl, D. D., Alexander, I. E., Halbert, C. L., Russel, D. W., and Miller, A. D. (1997). Persistent expression of human clotting factor IX from mouse liver after intravenous injection of adeno-associated virus vectors. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA *94*, 1426-1431.

Koeberl, D. D., Bonham, L., Halbert, C. L., Allen, J. M., Birkebak, T., and Miller, A. D. (1999). Persistent, therapeutically relevant levels of human granulocyte colony-stimulating factor in mice after systemic delivery of adeno-associated virus vectors. Hum Gene Ther *10*, 2133-2140.

Kofidis, T., deBruin, J. L., Tanaka, M., Zwierzchoniewska, M., Weissman, I., Fedoseyeva, E., Haverich, A., and Robbins, R. C. (2005). They are not stealthy in the heart: embryonic stem cells trigger cell infiltration, humoral and T-lymphocyte-based host immune response. Eur J Cardiothorac Surg *28*, 461-466.

Koyata, H., Cox, R. P., and Chuang, D. T. (1993). Stable correction of maple syrup urine disease in cells from a Mennonite patient by retroviral-mediated gene transfer. Biochem J *295 (Pt 3)*, 635-639.

Kruskal, W. H., and Wallis, W. A. (1952). Use of ranks in one criterion variance analysis. J Amer Statistical Association *47*, 583-621.

Kubo, A., Shinozaki, K., Shannon, J. M., Kouskoff, V., Kennedy, M., Woo, S., Fehling, H. J., and Keller, G. (2004). Development of definitive endoderm from embryonic stem cells in culture. Development *131*, 1651-1662.

Laconi, E., Oren, R., Mukhopadhyay, D. K., Hurston, E., Laconi, S., Pani, P., Dabeva, M. D., and Shafritz, D. A. (1998). Long-term, near-total liver replacement by transplantation of isolated hepatocytes in rats treated with retrorsine. Am J Path *153*, 319-329.

Lagasse, E., Connors, H., Al-Dhalimy, M., Reitsma, M., Dohse, M., Osborne, L., Wang, X., Finegold, M., Weissman, I., and Grompe, M. (2000). Purified hematopoietic stem cells can differentiate into hepatocytes in vivo. Nat Med *6*, 1229-1234.

Lavon, N., and Benvenisty, N. (2005). Study of Hepatocyte Differentiation Using Embryonic Stem Cells. J Cellular Biochem *96*, 1193-1202.

Layman, D. K. (2003). The role of leucine in weight loss diets and glucose homeostasis. J Nutr *133*, 261S-267S.

Le Cam, A., and Freychet, P. (1977). Neutral amino acid transport. Characterization of the A and L systems in isolated rat hepatocytes. J Biol Chem 252, 148-156.

Lee, C. K., and Piedrahita, J. A. (2003). Transgenesis and germ cell engineering in domestic animals. Asian-Australias J Anim Sci *16*, 910-927.

Lee, S. H., Lumelsky, N., Studer, L., Auerbach, J. M., and McKay, R. D. (2000). Efficient generation of midbrain and hindbrain neurons from mouse embryonic stem cells. Nat Biotechnol *18*, 675-679.

Lemaigre, F., and Zaret, K. S. (2004). Liver development update: New embryo models, cell lineage control, and morphogenesis. Curr Opin Genet Dev *14*, 582-590.

Lengerke, C., and Daley, G. Q. (2005). Patterning definitive hematopoietic stem cells from embryonic stem cells. Exp Hematol *33*, 971-979.

Levinson-Dushnik, M., and Benvenisty, N. (1997). Involvement of hepatocyte nuclear factor 3 in endoderm differentiation of embryonic stem cells. Mol Cell Biol *17*, 3817-3822.

Li, H., Murphy, S. L., Giles-Davis, W., Edmonson, S., Xiang, Z., Li, Y., Lasaro, M. O., High, K. A., and Ertl, H. C. (2007). Pre-existing AAV capsid-specific CD8+ T cells are unable to eliminate AAV-transduced hepatocytes. Mol Ther *15*, 792-800.

Lilja, H., Arkadopoulos, N., Blanc, P., Eguchi, S., Middleton, Y., Meurling, S., Demetriou, A. A., and Rozga, J. (1997). Fetal rat hepatocytes: isolation, characterization, and transplantation in the Nagase analbuminemic rats. Transplantation *64*, 1240-1248.

Linden, R. M., and Berns, K. I. (2000). Molecular biology of adeno-associated viruses. Contrib Microbiology *4*, 68-84.

Liu, F., Song, Y., and Liu, D. (1999). Hydrodynamics-based transfection in animals by systemic administration of plasmid DNA. Gene Ther *6*, 1258-1266.

Liu, F., Yang, J., Huang, L., and Liu, D. (1996). New cationic lipid formulations for gene transfer. Pharm Res 13, 1856-1860.

Liu, J., Wolfe, D., Hao, S., Huang, S., Glorioso, J. C., Mata, M., and Fink, D. J. (2004). Peripherally delivered glutamic acid decarboxylase gene therapy for spinal cord injury pain. Mol Therapy *10*, 57-66.

Lusby, E., Fife, K. H., and Berns, K. I. (1980). Nucleotide sequence of the inverted terminal repetition in adeno-associated virus DNA. J Virol *34*, 402-409.

Malhi, H., Irani, A. N., Gagandeep, S., and Gupta, S. (2002). Isolation of human progenitor liver epithelial cells with extensive replication capacity and differentiation into mature hepatocytes. J Cell Sci *115*, 2679-2688.

Mann, H. B., and Whitney, D. R. (1947). On a test of whether one of two random variables is stochastically larger than the other. Ann Math Statistics *18*, 50-60.

Manning, W. C., Zhou, S., Bland, M. P., Escobedo, J. A., and Dwarki, V. (1998). Transient immunosuppression allows transgene expression following readministration of adeno-associated viral vectors. Hum Gene Ther *9*, 477-485.

Manno, C. S., Chew, A. J., Hutchison, S., Larson, P. J., Herzog, R. W., Arruda, V. R., Tai, S. J., Ragni, M. V., Thompson, A., Ozelo, M. C., *et al.* (2003). AAV-mediated factor IX gene transfer to skeletal muscle in patients with severe hemophilia B. Blood *101*, 2963-2972.

Manno, C. S., Pierce, G. F., Arruda, V. R., Glader, B., Ragni, M., Rasko, J. J., Ozelo, M. C., Hoots, K., Blatt, P., Konkle, B., *et al.* (2006). Successful transduction of liver in hemophilia by AAV-Factor IX and limitations imposed by the host immune response. Nat Med *12*, 342-347.

Mantel, N. (1966). Evaluation of survival data and two new rank order statistics arising in its consideration. Cancer Chemother Reports *50*, 163-170.

Markoulaki, S., Meissner, A., and Jaenisch, R. (2008). Somatic cell nuclear transfer and derivation of embryonic stem cells in the mouse. Methods 45, ePub.

Marshall, E. (2002). Gene Therapy a Suspect in Leukemia-like Disease. Science 298, 34-35.

Marshall, L., and DiGeorge, A. (1981). Maple syrup urine disease in the old order Mennonites. Am J Hum Genet *33*, 139a.

Martin, G. R. (1981). Isolation of pluripotent cell line from early mouse embryos cultured in medium conditioned by teratocarcinoma stem cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci 78, 7634-7638.

Martin, M. J., Muotri, A., Gage, F., and Varki, A. (2005). Human embryonic stem cells express an immunogenic nonhuman sialic acid. Nat Med 11.

Matas, A. J., Sutherland, D. E., Steffes, M. W., Mauer, S. M., Sowe, A., Simmons, R. L., and Najarian, J. S. (1976). Hepatocellular transplantation for metabolic deficiencies: decrease of plasma bilirubin in Gunn rats. Science *192*, 892-894.

Matsumoto, K., Yoshitomi, H., Rossant, J., and Zaret, K. S. (2001). Liver organogenesis promoted by endothelial cells prior to vascular function. Science *294*, 559-563.

Mattevi, A., Obmalova, G., Schulze, E., Kalk, K. H., Westphal, A. H., de Kok, A., and Hol, W. G. J. (1992). Atomic structure of the cubic core of pyruvate dehydrogenase multienzyme complex. Science *255*, 1544-1550.

McAneny, D., Ryan, C. A., Beazley, R. M., and Kaufman, H. L. (1996). Results of a phase I trial of a recombinant vaccinia virus that expresses carcinoembryonic antigen in patients with advanced colorectal cancer. Ann Surg Oncol *3*, 495.

McCarty, D. M., Monahan, P. E., and Samulski, R. J. (2001). Self-complementary recombinant adeno-associated virus (scAAV) vectors promote efficient transduction independently of DNA synthesis. Gene Ther *8*.

McGuckin, C. P., and Forraz, N. (2008). Umbilical cord blood stem cells--an ethical source for regenerative medicine. Med Law 27, 147-165.

McKenna, M. C., Sonnewald, U., Huang, X., Stevenson, J., Johnsen, S. F., Sande, L. M., and Zielke, H. R. (1998). Alpha-ketoisocaproate alters the production of both lactate and aspartate from [U-13C]glutamate in astrocytes: a 13C NMR study. J Neurochem *70*, 1001-1008.

Mendelson, E., Trempe, J. P., and Carter, B. J. (1986). Identification of trans-acting Rep proteins of adeno-associated virus by antibodies to a synthetic oligopeptide. J Virol *60*, 823-832.

Menkes, J., Hurst, P., and Craig, J. (1954). A new syndrome: progressive familial infantile cerebral dysfunction associated with an unusual urinary substance. Pediatrics *14*, 462-466.

Michalopoulos, G. K., Bowen, W. C., Zajac, V. F., Beer-Stolz, D., Watkins, S. C., Kostrubsky, V., and Strom, S. C. (1999). Morphogenetic events in mixed cultures of rat hepatocytes and nonparenchymal cells maintained in biological matrices in the presence of hepatocyte growth factor and epidermal growth factor. Hepatology *29*, 90-100.

Miller, A. D. (1992). Human gene therapy comes of age. Nature 357, 455-460.

Mingozzi, F., and High, K. A. (2007). Immune Responses to AAV Clinical Trials. Current Gene Therapy 7, 316-324.

Mitaka, T., Sattler, G. L., Pitot, H. C., and Mochizuki, Y. (1992). Characteristics of small cell colonies developing in primary cultures of adult rat hepatocytes. Virchows Arch B Cell Pathol Incl Mol Pathol *62*, 329-335.

Mito, M., Ebata, H., Kusano, M., Onishi, T., Saito, T., and Sakamoto, S. (1979). Morphology and function of isolated hepatocytes transplanted into rat spleen. Transplatation *28*, 499-505.

Mitsui, K., Tokuzawa, Y., Itoh, H., ., Segawa, K., Murakami, M., Takahashi, K., Maruyama, M., Maeda, M., and Yamanaka, S. (2003). The homeoprotein Nanog is required for maintenance of pluripotency in mouse epiblast and ES cells. Cell *113*, 631-642.

Miyanohara, A., Johnson, P. A., Elam, R. L., Dai, Y., Witztum, J. L., Verma, I. M., and Friedmann, T. (1992). Direct gene transfer to the liver with herpes simplex virus type 1 vectors: transient production of physiologically relevent levels of circulating factor IX. New Biol *4*, 238-246.

Mizuno, Y., Suzuki, K., and Ohta, S. (1990). Postmortem changes in mitochondrial respiratory enzymes in brain and a preliminary observation in Parkinson's disease. J Neurol Sci *96*, 49-57.

Mochizuki, S., Mixukami, H., Ogura, T., Kure, S., Ichinohe, A., Kojima, K., Matsubara, Y., Kobayahi, E., Okada, T., Hoshika, A., *et al.* (2004). Long-term correction of hyperphenylalaninemia by AAV-mediated gene transfer leads to behavioral recovery in phenylketonuria mice. Gene Ther *11*, 1081-1086.

Morton, D. H., Strauss, K. A., Robinson, D. L., Puffenberger, E. G., and Kelley, R. I. (2002). Diagnosis and Treatment of Maple Syrup Urine Disease: A Study of 36 Patients. Pediatrics *109*, 999-1008.

Moscioni, A. D., Roy-Chowdhury, J., Barbour, R., Brown, L. L., Roy-Chowdhury, N., Competiello, L. S., Lahiri, P., and Demetriou, A. A. (1989). Human liver cell transplantation. Prolonged function in athymic-Gunn and athymic-analbuminemic hybrid rats. Gastroenterology *96*, 1546-1551.

Moskalenko, M., Chen, L., van Roey, M., Donahue, B. A., Snyder, R. O., McArthur, J. G., and Patel, S. D. (2000). Epitope Mapping of Human Anti-Adeno-Associated Virus Type 2 Neutralizing Antibodies: Implications for Gene Therapy and Virus Structure. J Virol 74, 1761-1766.

Moss, R. B., Milla, C., Colombo, J., Accurso, F., Zeitlin, P. L., Clancy, J. P., Spencer, L. T., Pilewski, J., Waltz, D. A., Dorkin, H. L., *et al.* (2007). Repeated aerosolized AAV-CFTR for treatment of cystic fibrosis: a randomized placebo-controlled phase 2B trial. Hum Gene Ther *18*, 726-732.

Mount, J. D., Herzog, R. W., Tillson, D. M., Goodman, S. A., Robinson, N., McCleland, M. L., Bellinger, D., Nichols, T. C., Arruda, V. R., Lothrop, C. D., and High, K. A. (2002). Sustained phenotypic correction of hemophilia B dogs with a factor IX null mutation by liver directed gene therapy. Blood *99*, 2670-2676.

Mueller, G. M., McKenzie, L. R., Homanics, G. E., Watkins, S. C., Robbins, P. D., and Paul, H. S. (1995). Complementation of defective leucine decarboxylation in fibroblasts from a maple syrup urine disease patient by retrovirus-mediated gene transfer. Gene Ther *2*, 461-468.

Müller, A. M., and Dzierzak, E. A. (1993). ES cells have only a limited lymphopoietic potential after adoptive transfer into mouse recipients. Development *118*, 1343-1351.

Mulligan, R. C. (1993). The basic science of gene therapy. Science 260, 926-932.

Munsie, M. J., Michalska, A. E., O'Brien, C. M., Trounson, A. O., Pera, M. F., and Mountford, P. S. (2000). Isolation of pluripotent embryonic stem cells from reprogrammed adult mouse somatic cell nuclei. Curr Biol *10*, 989-992.

Muraca, M., Gerunda, G., Neri, D., Vilei, M., Granato, A., Feltracco, P., Meroni, M., Giron, G., and Burlina, A. (2002a). Hepatocyte transplantation as a treatment for glycogen storage disease type 1a. Lancet *359*, 317-318.

Muraca, M., Gerunda, G., Neri, D., Vilei, M. T., Granato, A., Feltracco, P., Meroni, M., Giron, G., and Burlina, A. B. (2002b). Hepatocyte transplantation as a treatment for glycogen storage disease type 1a. Lancet *359*, 317-318.

Nagata, H., Ito, M., Cai, J., Edge, A. S., Platt, J. L., and Fox, I. J. (2003). Treatment of cirrhosis and liver failure in rats by hepatocyte xenotransplantation. Gastroenterology 2.

Nagy, A., Rossant, J., Nagy, R., Abramow-Newerly, W., and Roder, J. C. (1993). Derivation of completely cell culture-derived mice from early-passage embryonic stem cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA *90*, 8424-8428.

Nakagawa, M., Koyanagi, M., Tanabe, K., Takahashi, K., Ichisaka, T., Aoi, T., Okita, K., Mochiduki, Y., Takizawa, N., and Yamanaka, S. (2008). Generation of induced pluripotent stem cells without Myc from mouse and human fibroblasts. Nat Biotechnol *26*, 101-106.

Nakai, H., Storm, T. A., and Kay, M. A. (1996). Recruitment of single-stranded recombinant adeno-associated virus vector genomes and intermolecular recombinanation are responsible for stable transduction of liver in vivo. J Virol *74*, 9451-9463.

Nakano, T., Kodama, H., and Honjo, T. (1994). Generation of lymphohematopoietic cells from embryonic stem cells in culture. Science *265*, 1098-1101.

Nam, H. J., Lane, M. D., Padron, E., Gurda, B., McKenna, R., Kohlbrenner, E., Aslanidi, G., Byrne, B. J., Muzyczka, N., Zolotukhin, S., and Agbandje-McKenna, M. (2007). Structure of adeno-associated virus serotype 8, a gene therapy vector. J Virol *81*, 12260-12271.

Nash, K. L., Jamil, B., Maguire, A. J., Alexander, G. J., and Lever, A. M. (2004). Hepatocyte-specific gene expression from integrated lentiviral vectors. J Gene Med *6*, 974-983.

Naujok, O., Francini, F., Jörns, A., and Lenzen, S. (2008). An efficient experimental strategy for mouse embryonic stem cell differentiation and separation of a cytokeratin-19-positive population of insulin-producing cells. Cell Prolif, ePub.

Nebes, V. L., and Morris, S. M. J. (1988). Regulation of messenger ribonucleic acid levels for five urea cycle enzymes in cultured rat hepatocytes. Requirements for cyclic adenosine monophosphate, glucocorticoids, and ongoing protein synthesis. Mol Endocrinol *2*, 444-451.

Nemunaitis, J., Senzer, N., Sarmiento, S., Zhang, Y. A., Arzaga, R., Sands, B., Maples, P., and Tong, A. W. (2007). A phase I trial of intravenous infusion of ONYX-015 and enbrel in solid tumor patients. Cancer Gene Ther *14*, 885-893.

Netter, J. C., Cossarizza, G., Narcy, C., Hubert, P., Ogier, H., Revillon, Y., Rabier, D., and Saudubray, J. M. (1994). Mid-term outcome of 2 cases with maple syrup urine disease: role of liver transplantation in the treatment. Arch Pediatr *1*, 730-734.

Nguyen, D. M., Wiehle, S. A., Roth, J. A., and Cristiano, R. J. (1997). Gene delivery into malignant cells in vivo by a conjugated adenovirus DNA complex. Cancer Gene Ther *4*, 183-190.

Nguyen, T. H., and Ferry, N. (2004). Liver gene therapy: advances and hurdles. Gene Ther 11, S76-S84.

Nicholas, J., Chambers, I., and Smith, A. (1994). Derivation of germline competent embryonic stem cells with a combination of interleukin-6 receptor. Exp Cell Res *215*, 237-239.

Nierhoff, D., Ogawa, A., Oertel, M., Chen, Y. Q., and Shafritz, D. A. (2005). Purification and characterization of mouse fetal liver epithelial cells with high in vivo repopulation capacity. Hepatology *42*, 130-139.

NIH (2006). Federal Policy <u>http://stemcells.nih.gov/policy/</u>. In Stem Cell Information (Bethesda, MD, National Institutes of Health, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services).

NIH (2007). NIH human embryonic stem cell registry <u>http://stemcells.nih.gov/research/registry/</u>. In Stem Cell Information (Bethesda, MD, National Institutes of Health, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services).

Nishikawa, S. I., Nishikawa, S., Hirashima, M., Matsuyoshi, N., and Kodama, H. (1998). Progressive lineage analysis by cell sorting and culture identifies FLK1+VE-cadherin+ cells at a diverging point of endothelial and hemopoietic lineages. Development *125*, 1747-1757.

Nishizaki, T., Takenaka, K., Yoshizumi, T., Yanaga, K., Soejima, Y., Shirabe, K., and Sugimachi, K. (1995). Alteration in levels of human hepatocyte growth factor following hepatectomy. J Am Coll Surg *181*, 6-10.

Nissen, S. L., and Abumrad, N. N. (1997). Nutritional role of the leucine metabolite b-hydroxy b-methylbutyrate (HMB). Nutr Biochem *8*, 300-311.

Nobukuni, Y., Mitsubuchi, H., Endo, F., Akaboshi, I., Asaka, J., and Matsuda, I. (1990). Maple syrup urine disease: complete primary structure of the E1-beta subunit of human branched-chain alpha-ketoacid dehydrogenase complex deduced from the nucleotide sequence and a gene analysis of patients with this disease. J Clin Invest *86*, 242-247.

Nobukuni, Y., Mitsubuchi, H., Endo, F., and Matsuda, I. (1989). Complete primary structure of the transacylase (E2b) subunit of the human branched chain alpha-keto acid dehydrogenase complex. Biochem Biophys Res Commun *161*.

Ogburn, K. D., Bottiglieri, T., Wang, Z., and Figueiredo-Pereira, M. E. (2006). Prostaglandin J2 reduces catechol-O-methyltransferase activity and enhances dopamine toxicity in neuronal cells. Neurobiol Dis *22*, 294-301.

Ogier de Baulny, H., and Saudubray, J. M. (2002). Branched-chain organic acidurias. Semin Neonatol 7, 65-74.

Ohashi, K., Waugh, J. M., Dake, M. D., Yokoyama, T., Kuge, H., Nakajima, Y., Yamanouchi, M., Naka, H., Yoshioka, A., and Kay, M. A. (2005). Liver tissue engineering at extrahepatic sites in mice as a potential new therapy for genetic liver diseases. Hepatology *41*, 132-140.

Okazaki, Y., Furuno, M., Kasukawa, T., Adachi, J., Bono, H., Kondo, S., Nikaido, I., Osato, N., Saito, R., Suzuki, H., *et al.* (2002). Analysis of the mouse transcriptome based on functional annotation of 60,770 full-length cDNAs. Nature *420*, 563-573.

Okita, K., Ichisaka, T., and Yamanaka, S. (2007). Generation of germline-competent induced pluripotent stem cells. Nature *448*, 313-317.

Ondondo, B. O., Yang, H., Dong, T., di Gleria, K., Suttill, A., Conlon, C., Brown, D., Williams, P., Rowland-Jones, S. L., Hanke, T., *et al.* (2006). Immunisation with recombinant modified vaccinia virus Ankara expressing HIV-1 gag in HIV-1-infected subjects stimulates broad functional CD4+ T cell responses. Eur J Immunol *36*, 2585-2594.

Oren, R., Dabeva, M. D., Petkov, P. M., Hurston, E., Laconi, E., and Shafritz, D. A. (1999). Restoration of serum albumin levels in nagase analbuminemic rats by hepatocyte transplantation. Hepatology *29*, 75-81.

Orlovskaya, I., Schraufstatter, I., Loring, J., and Khaldoyanidi, S. (2008). Hematopoietic differentiation of embryonic stem cells. Methods 45, 159-167.

Ostedgaard, L. S., Rokhlina, T., Karp, P. H., Lashmit, P., Afione, S., Schmidt, M., Zabner, J., Stinski, M. F., Chiorini, J. A., and Welsh, M. J. (2005). A shortened adeno-associated virus expression cassette for CFTR gene transfer to cystic fibrosis airway epithelia. Proc Natl Acad Sci *102*, 2952-2957.

Ott, M., Barthold, M., Alexandrova, K., Griesel, C., Shchneider, A., Attaran, M., Arsenieva, M., Penkov, B., Net, M., Peralta, V., *et al.* (2004). Isolation of human hepatocytes from donor organs under cgmp conditions and clinical application in patients with liver disease. Paper presented at: 7th International Congress of Cell Transplantation Society (Boston, MA).

Ott, M., Schmidt, M., Schwarzwaelder, K., Stein, S., Siler, U., Koehl, U., Glimm, H., Kuhlcke, K., Schilz, A., Kunkel, H., *et al.* (2006). Correction of X-linked chronic granulomatous disease by gene therapy, augmented by insertional activation of MDS1-EVI1, PRDM16, or SETBP1. Nat Med *12*, 401-409.

Overturf, K., Al-Dhalimy, M., Tanguay, R., Brantly, M., Ou, C. N., Finegold, M., and Grompe, M. (1996). Hepatocytes corrected by gene therapy are selected in vivo in a murine model of hereditary tyrosinaemia type I. Nat Genet *12*, 266-273.

Pacak, C. A., Walter, G. A., Gaidosh, G., Bryant, N., Lewis, M. A., Germain, S., Mah, C. S., Campbell, K. P., and Byrne, B. J. (2007). Long-term Skeletal Muscle Protection After Gene Transfer in a Mouse Model of LGMD-2D. Mol Therapy *15*, 1775-1781.

Palacios, R., Golunski, E., and Samaridis, J. (1995). In vitro generation of hematopoietic cells from an embryonic stem cell line. Proc Natl Acad Sci *92*, 7530-7534.

Park, I. H., Zhao, R., West, J. A., Yabuuchi, A., Huo, H., Ince, T. A., Lerou, P. H., Lensch, M. W., and Daley, G. Q. (2008). Reprogramming of human somatic cells to pluripotency with defined factors. Nature *451*, 141-146.

Parks, R. J., Chen, L., Anton, M., Sankar, U., Rudnicki, M. A., and Graham, F. L. (1996). A helper-dependent adenovirus vector system: removal of helper virus by Cre-mediated excision of the viral packaging signal. PNAS *93*, 13565-13570.

Parouchev, A., Nguyen, T. H., Dagher, I., Mainot, S., Groyer-Picard, M. T., Branger, J., Gonin, P., Di Santo, J., Franco, D., Gras, G., and Weber, A. (2006). Efficient ex vivo gene transfer into non-human primate hepatocytes using HIV-1 derived lentiviral vectors. 45 *1*.

Patel, A., Hardy, M. A., Chowdhury, N. R., Wajsman, R., Sandoval, M., Wilson, J. M., and Chowdhury, J. (1989). Long-term correction of genetic defect of liver function in rat by transplantation of liver cells after ultraviolet irradiation. Mol Biol Med *6*, 187-196.

Patel, M. S. (1974). Inhibition by the branched-chain 2-oxo acids of the 2-oxoglutarate dehydrogenase complex in developing rat and human brain. J Biochem *144*, 91-97.

Patel, M. S., Auerbach, V. H., Grover, W. D., and Wilbur, D. O. (1973). Effect of the branchedchain alpha-keto acids on pyruvate metabolism by homgenates of human brain. J Neurochem *20*, 1793-1796.

Patti, M. E., Brambilla, E., Luzi, L., Landaker, E. J., and Kahn, C. R. (1998). Bidirectional modulation of insulin action by amino acids. J Clin Invest *101*, 1519-1529.

Paul, H. S., and Adibi, S. A. (1992). Mechanism of Increased Conversion of Branched Chain Keto Acid Dehydrogenase from Inactive to Active Form by a Medium Chain Fatty Acid (Octanoate) in Skeletal Muscle. J Biol Chem *267*, 11208-11214.

Paxton, R., and Harris, R. (1982). Isolation of rabbit liver branched-chain a-keto dehydrogenase and regulation by phosphorylation. J Biol Chem 257, 14433-14439.

Paxton, R., Kuntz, M. J., and Harris, R. (1986). Phosphorylation sites and inactivation of branched-chain a-keto acid dehydrogenase from rat heart, bovine kidney, and rabbit liver, kidney, heart, brain, and skeletal muscle. Arch Biochem Biophys *244*, 187-201.

Pieneman, F., and Danner, D. J. (1994). Maple Syrup Urine Disease 1954-1993. J Inher Metab Dis 17, 3-15.

Ponder, K. P., Gupta, S., Leland, F., Darlington, G., Finegold, M., DeMayo, J., Ledley, F. D., Chowdhury, J. R., and Woo, S. L. (1991). Mouse hepatocytes migrate to liver parenchyma and function indefinitely after intrasplenic transplantation. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA *88*, 1217-1221.

Pons, G., Raefsky-Estrin, C., Carothers, D. J., Pepin, R. A., Javed, A. A., Jesse, B. W., Ganapathi, M. K., Samols, D., and Patel, M. S. (1988). Cloning and cDNA sequence of the dihydrolipoamide dehydrogenase component of human alpha-ketoacid dehydrogenase complexes. Proc Natl Acad Sci *85*, 1422-1426.

Popov, K. M., Zhao, Y., Shimomura, Y., Kuntz, M. J., and Harris, R. A. (1992). Branched-chain alpha-ketoacid dehydrogenase kinase. Molecular cloning, expression, and sequence similarity with histidine protein kinases. J Biol Chem *267*, 13127-13130.

Prasad, V. K., Mendizabal, A., Parikh, S. H., Szabolcs, P., Driscoll, T. A., Page, K., Lakshminarayanan, S., Allison, J., Wood, S., Semmel, D., *et al.* (2008). Unrelated donor umbilical cord blood transplantation for inherited metabolic disorders in 159 pediatric patients from a single center: influence of cellular composition of the graft on transplant outcomes. Blood, ePub.

Puliyanda, D. P., Harmon, W. E., Peterschmitt, M. J., Irons, M., and Somers, M. J. (2002). Utility of hemodialysis in maple syrup urine disease. Pediatr Nephrol *17*, 239-242.

Puppi, J., Tan, N., Mitry, R. R., Hughes, R. D., Lehec, S., Mieli-Vergani, G., Karani, J., Champion, M. P., Heaton, N., Mohamed, R., and Dhawan, A. (2008). Hepatocyte transplantation followed by auxiliary liver transplantation--a novel treatment for ornithine transcarbamylase deficiency. Am J Transplant *8*, 452-457.

Quintarelli, C., Dotti, G., De Angelis, B., Hoyos, V., Mims, M., Luciano, L., Heslop, H. E., Rooney, C. M., Pane, F., and Savoldo, B. (2008). Cytotoxic T lymphocytes directed to the Preferentially Expressed Antigen of Melanoma (PRAME) target chronic myeloid leukemia. Blood *ePub*.

Rakhmilevich, A. L., Janssen, K., Turner, J., Culp, J., and Yang, N. S. (1997). Cytokine gene therapy of cancer using gene gun technology, superior antitumor activity of interleukin-12. Hum Gene Ther *5*, 1303-1311.

Raper, S., and Wilson, J. M. (1993). Cell transplantation in liver-directed gene therapy. Cell Transplantation *2*, 281-400.

Raper, S. E., Chirmule, N., Lee, F. S., Wivel, N. A., Bagg, A., Gao, G. P., Wilson, J. M., and Batshaw, M. L. (2003). Fatal systemic inflammatory response syndrome in a ornithine transcarbamylase deficient patient following adenoviral gene transfer. Mol Genet Metab *80*, 148-158.

Raper, S. E., Yudkoff, M., Chirmule, N., Gao, G. P., Nunes, F. A., Haskal, Z. J., Furth, E. E., Propert, K. J., Robinson, M. B., Magosin, S., *et al.* (2002). A pilot study of in vivo liver-directed gene transfer with an adenoviral vector in partial ornithine transcarbamylase deficiency. Hum Gene Ther *13*, 163-175.

Robbins, P. D., and Ghivizzani, S. C. (1998). Viral Vectors for Gene Therapy. Pharmacol Ther 80, 35-47.

Robbins, P. D., Tahara, H., Mueller, G. M., Hung, G., Bahnson, A., Zitvogel, L., and Galea-Lauri, J. (1994). Retroviral vectors for use in human gene therapy for cancer, Gaucher disease, and arthritis. Annu NY Acad Sci *716*, 72-88.

Robertson, E. J., Bradley, A., Evans, M. J., and Kuhen, M. R. (1986). Germ line transmission of genes introduced into cultured pluripotent cells by retroviral vector. Nature *323*, 445-448.

Rose, T. M., Wiford, D. M., Gunderson, N. L., and Bruce, A. G. (1994). Oncostatin M (OSM) inhibits the differentiation of pluripotent embryonic stem cells in vitro. Cytokine *6*, 48-54.

Rossi, J. M., Dunn, N. R., Hogan, B. L., and Zaret, K. S. (2001). Distinct mesoderm signals, including BMPs from the septum transversum mesenchyme, are required in combination for hepatogenesis from the endoderm. Genes Dev *15*, 1998-2009.

Rothman, S., Tseng, H., and Goldfine, I. (2005). Oral Gene Therapy: a novel method for the manufacture and delivery of protein drugs. Diabetes Technol Ther *7*, 549-557.

Ryan, A. K., and Rosenfeld, M. G. (1997). POU domain family values: flexibility, partnerships, and developmental codes. Genes Dev 11, 1207-1225.

Sakaguchi, Y., Yoshino, M., Aramaki, S., Yoshida, I., Yamashita, F., Kuhara, T., Matsumoto, I., and Hayashi, T. (1986). Dihydrolipoyl dehydrogenase deficiency: a therapeutic trial with branched-chain amino acid restriction. Europ J Pediat *145*, 271-274.

Salido, E. C., Li, X. M., Lu, Y., Wang, X., Santana, A., Roy-Chowdhury, N., Torres, A., Shapiro, L. J., and Roy-Chowdhury, J. (2006). Alanine-glyolylate aminotransferase-deficient mice, a model for primary hyperoxaluria that responds to adenoviral gene therapy. PNAS *103*, 18249-18254.

Samulski, R. J. (1993). Adeno-associated virus: integration at a specific chromosomal locus. Curr Opin Genet Dev *3*, 74-80.

Sarkar, R., Tetreault, R., Gao, G., Wang, L., Bell, P., Chandler, R., Wilson, J. M., and Kazazian, H. H. (2004). Total correction of hemophilia A mice with canine FVIII using an AAV8 serotype. Blood *103*, 1253-1260.

Scallan, C. D., Lillicrap, D., Jiang, H., Qian, X., Patarroyo-White, S. L., Parker, A. E., Liu, T., Vargas, J., Nagy, D., Powell, S. K., *et al.* (2003). Sustained phenotypic correction of canine hemophilia A using an adeno-associated viral vector. Blood *102*, 2031-2037.

Schadewaldt, P., Dodner-Leidecker, A., Hammen, H. W., and Wendel, U. (1999). Significance of L-alloisoleucine in plasma for diagnosis of Maple Syrup Urine Disease. Clin Chem *45*, 1734-1740.

Schadewaldt, P., and Wendel, U. (1997). Metabolism of branched-chain amino acids in maple syrup urine disease. Eur J Pediatr *156 Suppl 1*, S62-66.

Schenke-Layland, K., Rhodes, K. E., Angelis, E., Butylkova, Y., Heydarkhan-Hagvall, S., Gekas, C., Zhang, R., Goldhaber, J. I., Mikkola, H. K., Plath, K., and MacLellan, W. R. (2008). Reprogrammed mouse fibroblasts differentiate into cells of the cardiovascular and hematopoietic lineages. Stem Cells *26*, 1537-1546.

Schepers, G. E., Teasdale, R. D., and Koopman, P. (2002). Twenty pairs of sox: extent, homology, and nomenclature of the mouse and human sox transcription factor gene families. Dev Cell *3*, 167-170.

Scherer, S. W., Otulakowski, G., Robinson, B. H., and Tsui, L.-C. (1991). Localization of the human dihydrolipoamide dehydrogenase gene (DLD) to 7q31-q32. Cytogenet Cell Genet *56*, 176-177.

Schmid, E., Schmid, W., Jantzen, M., Mayer, D., Jastorff, B., and Schütz, G. (1987). Transcription activation of the tyrosine aminotransferase gene by glucocorticoids and cAMP in primary hepatocytes. Eur J Biochem *165*, 499-506.

Schwahn, B., Wendel, U., Schadewaldt, P., Falkenberg, N., and Mönch, E. (1998). Diurnal changes in plasma amino acids in maple syrup urine disease. Acta Paediatr *87*, 1245-1246.

Seisenberger, G., Ried, M. U., Endress, T., Büning, H., Hallek, M., and Bräuchle, C. (2001). Real-time single-molecule imaging of the infection pathway of an adeno-associated virus. Science *294*, 1929-1942.

Shaag, A., Saada, A., Berger, I., Mandel, H., Joseph, A., Feigenbaum, A., and Elpeleg, O. N. (1999). Molecular basis of lipoamide dehydrogenase deficiency in Ashkenazi Jews. Am J Med Genetics *82*, 177-182.

Sharma, A. D., Cantz, T., Vogel, A., Schambach, A., Haridass, D., Iken, M., Bleidissel, M., Manns, M. P., Schöler, H. R., and Ott, M. (2008). Murine embryonic stem cell-derived hepatic progenitor cells engraft in recipient livers with limited capacity of liver tissue formation. Cell Transplantation *17*, 313-323.

She, P., Reid, T. M., Bronson, S. K., Vary, T. C., Hajnal, A., Lynch, C. J., and Hutson, S. M. (2007). Disruption of BCATm in mice leads to increased energy expenditure associated with the activation of a futile protein turnover cycle. Cell Metab *6*, 181-194.

Sherman, M. I., and Solter, D. (1975). Teratomas and differentiation (New York, Academic Press).

Shibata, C., Mizuguchi, T., Kikkawa, Y., Nobuoka, T., Oshima, H., Kawasaki, H., Kawamoto, M., Katsuramaki, T., Mitaka, T., and Hirata, K. (2006). Liver repopulation and long-term function of rat small hepatocyte transplantation as an alternative cell source for hepatocyte transplantation. Liver Transplantation *12*, 78-87.

Shimizu, N., Chen, J., Gamou, S., and Takayanagi, A. (1996). Immunogenic approach toward cancer therapy using erythrocyte growth factor receptor-mediated gene delivery. Cancer Gene Ther *3*, 113-120.

Shimomura, Y., Nanaumi, N., Suzuki, M., Popov, K. M., and Harris, R. A. (1990). Purification and partial characterization of branched-chain alpha-ketoacid dehydrogenase kinase from rat liver and rat heart. Arch Biochem Biophys *283*, 293-299.

Shirahashi, H., Wu, J., Yamamoto, N., Catana, A., Wege, H., Wager, B., Okita, K., and Zern, M. A. (2004). Differentiation of Human and Mouse Embryonic Stem Cells Along a Hepatocyte Lineage. Cell Transplantation *13*, 197-211.

Shirakawa, T., Terao, S., Hinata, N., Tanaka, K., Takenaka, A., Hara, I., Sugimura, K., Matsuo, M., Hamada, K., Fuji, K., *et al.* (2007). Long-term outcome of phase I/II clinical trial of Ad-OC-TK/VAL gene therapy for hormone-refractory metastatic prostate cancer. Hum Gene Ther *18*, 1225-1232.

Silao, C., Padilla, C., and Matsuo, M. (2004). A novel deletion creating a new terminal exon of the dihydrolipoyl transacylase gene is a founder mutation of Filipino maple syrup urine disease. Mol Genet Metab *81*, 100-104.

Silberman, J., Dancis, J., and Feignin, I. (1961). Neuropathological observations in maple syrup urine disease: branched-chain ketoaciduria. Arch Neurol *5*, 351-363.

Slocum, R. H., and Cummings, J. G. (1991). Amino acid analysis of physiological samples. In Techniques in Diagnostic Human Biochemical Genetics, F. A. Hommes, ed. (New York, Wiley-Liss), pp. 87–126.

Smith, G. A., and Enquist, L. W. (2002). Break ins and break outs: viral interactions with the cytoskeleton and mammalian cells. Annu Rev Cell Dev Biology *18*, 135-161.

Smith, J. R., and Swift, J. A. (2005). Maple syrup urine disease hair reveals the importance of 18-methyleicosanoic acid in cuticular delamination. Micron *36*, 261-266.

Snyderman, S. (1988). Treatment outcome of maple syrup urine disease. Acta Paediatr Jpn 30, 417-424.

Snyderman, S. E., Norton, P. M., Roitman, E., and Holt, L. E. J. (1964). Maple syrup urine disease, with particular reference to dietotherapy. Pediatrics *34*, 454-462.

Soemitro, S., Block, K. P., Crowell, P. L., and Harper, A. E. (1989). Activities of branched-chain amino acid--degrading enzymes in liver from rats fed different dietary levels of protein. J Nutr *119*, 1203-1212.

Sokal, E. M., Smets, F., Bourgois, A., van Maldergem, L., Buts, J. P., Reding, R., Bernard Otte, J., Evrard, V., Latinne, D., Vincent, M. F., *et al.* (2003). Hepatocyte transplantation in a 4-year old girl with peroxisomal biogenesis disease: Technique, safety, and metabolic follow-up. Transplantation *76*, 735-738.

Soriano, H. E. (2002). Liver cell transplantation: human applications in adults and children. Paper presented at: Falk Symposium (Lancaster, UK, Kluwer Academic Publishers).

Soto-Gutiérrez, A., Kobayashi, N., Rivas-Carrillo, J. D., Navarro-Alvarez, N., Zhao, D., Okitsu, T., Noguchi, H., Basma, H., Tabata, Y., Chen, Y., *et al.* (2006). Reversal of mouse hepatic failure using an implanted liver-assist device containing ES cell-derived hepatocytes. Nature Biotechnology *24*, 1412-1419.

Soto-Gutiérrez, A., Navarro-Alvarez, N., Caballero-Corbalan, J., Tanaka, N., and Kobayashi, N. (2008). Endoderm induction for hepatic and pancreatic differentiation of ES cells. Acta Med Okayama *62*, 63-68.

Spemann, H. (1914) (Freiburg, Deutschland, Ver Deutsch Zool Ges Leipzig), pp. 216-221.

Stevens, L. C. (1973). A new inbred subline of mice (129-terSv) with a high incidence of spontaneous congenital testicular teratomas. J Natl Cancer Inst *50*, 235-242.

Stewart, C. L., Kasper, P., Brunet, L. J., Bhatt, H., Gadi, I., Kontgen, F., and Abbondanzo, S. J. (1992). Blastocyst implantation depends on maternal expression of leukemia inhibitory factor. Nature *359*, 76-79.

Strauss, K. A., Mazariegos, G. V., Sindhi, R., Squires, R., Finegold, D. N., Vockley, G., Robinson, D. L., Hendrickson, C., Virji, M., Cropcho, L., *et al.* (2006). Elective liver transplantation for the treatment of classical maple syrup urine disease. Am J Transplant *6*, 557-564.

Strom, S. C., Bruzzone, P., Cai, H., Ellis, E., Lehmann, T., Mitamura, K., and Miki, T. (2006a). Hepatocyte transplantation: clinical experience and potential for future use. Cell Transplantation *15*, S105-S110.

Strom, S. C., Cai, H., Ellis, E., Mitamura, K., and Miki, T. (2006b). Bigger may not be better when it comes to hepatocytes. Liver Transplantation *12*, 16-18.

Strom, S. C., Chowdhury, J., and Fox, I. J. (1999). Hepatocyte Transplantation for the Treatment of Human Disease. Semin Liver Dis *19*, 39-48.

Strom, S. C., Fisher, R. A., Thompson, M. T., Sanyal, A. J., Cole, P. E., Ham, J. M., and Posner, M. P. (1997). Hepatocyte transplantation as a bridge to orthotopic liver transplantation in terminal liver failure. Transplantation *63*, 559-569.

Strom, S. C., Pisarov, L. A., Dorko, K., Thompson, M. T., Schuetz, J. D., and Schuetz, E. G. (1996). Use of human hepatocytes to study P450 gene induction. Methods Enzymol *272*, 388-401.

Su, H., Chang, J. C., Xu, S. M., and Kan, Y. W. (1996). Selective killing of AFP-positive hepatocellular carcinoma cells by adeno-associated virus transfer of the herpes simplex virus thymidine kinase gene. Hum Gene Ther, 463-470.

Suemori, H., and Nakatsuji, N. (1987). Establishment of the embryo-derived stem (ES) cell lines from mouse blastocysts: effects of the feeder cell layer. Dev Growth Differ *29*, 133-139.

Summerford, C., and Samulski, R. J. (1998). Membrane-associated heparan sulfate proteoglycan is a receptor for adeno-associated virus type 2 virions. J Virol 72, 1438-1445.

Sun, B., Zhang, H., Franco, L. M., Young, S. P., Schneider, A., Bird, A., Amalfitano, A., Chen, Y. T., and Koeberl, D. D. (2005a). Efficacy of an adeno-associated virus 8-pseudotyped vector in glycogen storage disease type II. Mol Therapy *11*, 57-65.

Sun, B., Zhang, H., Franco, L. M., Young, S. P., Schneider, A., Bird, A., Amalfitano, A., Chen, Y.-T., and Koeberl, D. D. (2005b). Efficacy of an Adeno-associated Virus 8-Pseudotyped Vector in Glycogen Storage Disease Type II. Molecular Therapy *11*, 57-65.

Tabei, I., Hashimoto, H., Ishiwata, I., Tachibana, T., Akahori, M., Ohi, S., Kubo, H., Satou, K., Yamazaki, Y., Yanaga, K., and Ishikawa, H. (2005). Characteristics of hepatocytes derived from early ES cells and treatment of surgically induced liver failure rats by transplantation. Transplant Proc *37*, 262-264.

Tada, M., Takahama, Y., Abe, K., Nakatsuji, N., and Tada, T. (2001). Nuclear reprogramming of somatic cells by in vitro hybridization with ES cells. Curr Biol *11*, 1553-1558.

Takahashi, K., Tanabe, K., Ohnuki, M., Narita, M., Ichisaka, T., Tomoda, K., and Yamanaka, S. (2007). Induction of pluripotent stem cells from adult human fibroblasts by defined factors. Cell *131*, 861-872.

Takahashi, K., and Yamanaka, S. (2006). Induction of pluripotent stem cells from mouse embryonic and adult fibroblast cultures by defined factors. Cell *126*, 663-676.

Takayama, N., Nishikii, H., Usui, J., Tsukui, H., Sawaguchi, A., Hiroyama, T., Eto, K., and Nakauchi, H. (2008). Generation of functional platelets from human embryonic stem cells in vitro via ES-sacs, VEGF-promoted structures that concentrate hematopoietic progenitors. Blood *111*, 5298-5306.

Talbot, D., Descombes, P., and Schibler, U. (1994). The 5' flanking region of the rat LAP (C/EBP beta) gene can redirect high-level, position-independent, copy number-dependent expression in multiple tissues in transgenic mice. Nucleic Acids Res *22*, 756-766.

Teichler, Z. D. (2000). US gene therapy in crisis. Trends Genet 16, 272-275.

Teramoto, K., Hara, Y., Kumashiro, Y., Chinzei, R., Tanaka, Y., Shimizu-Saito, K., Asahina, K., Teraoka, H., and Arii, S. (2005). Teratoma formation and hepatocyte differentiation in mouse liver transplanted with mouse embryonic stem cell-derived embryoid bodies. Transplant Proc *37*, 285-286.

Tessari, P., Garibotto, G., Inchiostro, S., Robaudo, C., Saffioti, S., Vettore, M., Zanetti, M., Russo, R., and Deferrari, G. (1996). Kidney, splanchic, and leg protein turnover in humans. Insight from leucine and phenylalanine kinetics. J Clin Invest *98*, 1481-1492.

Tews, J. K., and Harper, A. E. (1991). Branched-chain and other amino acids in tissues of rats fed leucine-limiting amino acid diets containing norleucine. J Nutr *121*.

Thompson, C. S. (2008). Animal models of diabetes mellitus: relevance to vascular complications. Curr Pharm Des *14*, 309-324.

Thompson, G. N., Bresson, J. L., Pacy, P. J., Bonnefont, J. P., Walter, J. H., Leonard, J. V., Saudubray, J. M., and Halliday, D. (1990a). Protein and leucine metabolism in maple syrup urine disease. Am J Physiol *258*, E654-E660.

Thompson, G. N., Walter, J. H., Leonard, J. V., and Halliday, D. (1990b). In vivo enzyme activity in inborn errors of metabolism. Metabolism *39*, 799-807.

Thomson, J. A., Itskovitz-Eldor, J., Shapiro, S. S., Waknitz, M. A., Swiergiel, J. J., Marshall, V. S., and Jones, J. M. (1998). Embryonic stem cell lines derived from human blastocysts. Science *282*, 1145-1147.

Trempe, J. P., and Carter, B. J. (1988). Alternate mRNA splicing is required for synthesis of adeno-associated virus VP1 capsid protein. J Virol *62*, 3356-3363.

Trounson, A. (2005). Derivation characteristics and perspectives for mammalian pluripotential stem cells. Reprod Fertil Dev 17, 135-141.

Vainzof, M., Ayub-Guerrieri, D., Onofre, P. C., Martins, P. C., Lopes, V. F., Zilberztajn, D., Maia, L. S., Sell, K., and Yamamoto, L. U. (2008). Animal models for genetic neuromuscular diseases. J Mol Neurosci *34*, 241-248.

Van Kovering, M., and Nissen, S. L. (1992). Oxidation of leucine and alpha-ketoisocaproate to b-hydroxy-b-methylbutyrate in vivo. Physiol Endocrinol Metab 262, 27.

Venter, J. C., Adams, M. D., Myers, E. W., Li, P. W., Mural, R. J., Sutton, G. G., Smith, H. O., Yandell, M., Evans, C. A., Holt, R. A., *et al.* (2001). The sequence of the human genome. Nature *291*, 1304-1351.

Vroemen, J. P., Buurman, W.A., Heirwegh, K.P., van der Linden, C.J. & Kootstra, G. (1986). Hepatocyte transplantation for enzyme deficiency disease in congenic rats. Transplantation *42*, 130-135.

Waagepetersen, H. S., Sonnewald, U., and Schousboe, A. (2003). Compartmentation of glutamine, glutamate, and GABA metabolism in neurons and astrocytes: functional implications. Neuroscientist *9*, 398-403.

Wajner, M., Coelho, D. M., Barschak, A. G., Araujo, P. R., Pires, R. F., Lulhier, F. L., and Vargas, C. R. (2000). Reduction of large neutral amino acid concentrations in plasma and CSF of patients with maple syrup urine disease during crises. J Inher Metab Dis *23*, 505-512.

Wakayama, T., Perry, A. C., Zuccotti, M., Johnson, K. R., and Yanagimachi, R. (1998). Fullterm development of mice from enucleated oocytes injected with cumulus cell nuclei. Nature *394*, 369-374. Walther, W., and Stein, U. (2000). Viral Vectors for Gene Transfer: A Review of Their Use in the Treatment of Human Disease. Drugs *60*, 249-271.

Wang, L., Calcedo, R., Nichols, T. C., Bellinger, D. A., Dillow, A., Verma, I. M., and Wilson, J. M. (2005a). Sustained correction of disease in naive and AAV2-pretreated hemophilia B dogs: AAV2/8-mediated, liver-directed gene therapy. Blood *105*, 3079-3086.

Wang, L., Cerdan, C., Menendez, P., and Bhatia, M. (2006). Derivation and characterization of hematopoietic cells from human embryonic stem cells. Methods Mol Biol *331*, 179-200.

Wang, L., Takabe, K., Bidlingmaier, S. M., Ill, C. R., and Verma, I. M. (1999). Sustained correction of bleeding disorder in hemophilia B mice by gene therapy. Proc Natl Acad Sci *96*, 3906-3910.

Wang, X., Chinsky, J. M., Costeas, P. A., and Price, S. R. (2001). Acidification and glucocorticoids independently regulate branched-chain alpha-ketoacid dehydrogenase subunit genes. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol *280*, C1176-C1183.

Wang, X., Ge, S., McNamara, G., Hao, Q., Crooks, G., and Nolta, J. (2003a). Albuminexpressing hepatocyte-like cells develop in the livers of immune-deficient mice that received transplants of highly purified human hematopoietic stem cells. Blood *101*, 4201-4208.

Wang, X., Montini, E., Al-Dhalimy, M., Lagasse, E., Finegold, M., and Grompe, M. (2002). Kinetics of Liver Repopulation after Bone Marrow Transplantation. Am J Path *161*, 565-574.

Wang, X., Willenbring, H., Akkari, Y., Torimaru, Y., Foster, M., Al-Dhalimy, M., Lagasse, E., Finegold, M., Olson, S., and Grompe, M. (2003b). Cell fusion is the principal source of bonemarrow-derived hepatocytes. Nature *422*, 897-901.

Wang, Z., Lu, H., Wang, Y. C., and Cong, X. Q. (2008). Human embryonic stem cells and liver diseases: from basic research to future clinical application. J Dig Dis *9*, 14-19.

Wang, Z., Zhu, T., Qiao, C., Zhou, L., Wang, B., Zhang, J., Chen, C., Li, J., and Xiao, X. (2005b). Adeno-associated virus serotype 8 efficiently delivers genes to muscle and heart. Nature Biotechnology *23*, 321-328.

Waterston, R. H., Lindblad-Toh, K., Birney, E., Rogers, J., Abril, J. F., Agarwal, P., Agarwala, R., Ainscough, R., Alexandersson, M., An, P., *et al.* (2002). Initial sequencing and comparative analysis of the mouse genome. Nature *420*, 520-562.

Wege, H., Le, H. T., Chui, M. S., Liu, L., Wu, J., Giri, R., Malhi, H., Sappal, B. S., Kumaran, V., Gupta, S., and Zern, M. A. (2003). Telomerase reconstitution immortalizes human fetal hepatocytes without disrupting their differentiation potential. Gastroenterology *124*, 432-444.

Weiss, R. (2007). Suspended Gene Therapy Test Had Drawn Early Questions. In Washington Posts (Washington, D.C.), pp. A09.
Wellner, D., and Meister, A. (1981). A survey of inborn errors of amino acid metabolism and transport in man. Annual Reviews Biochem *50*, 911-968.

Wendel, U., Saudubray, J. M., Bodner, A., and Schadewaldt, P. (1999). Liver transplantation in maple syrup urine disease. Eur J Pediatr *158 Suppl 2*, S60-64.

Wernig, M., Meissner, A., Foreman, R., Brambrink, T., Ku, M., Hochedlinger, K., Bernstein, B. E., and Jaenisch, R. (2007). In vitro reprogramming of fibroblasts into a pluripotent ES-cell-like state. Nature *448*, 318-324.

Wiles, M. V. (1993). Embryonic stem cell differentiation in vitro. Methods Enzymol 225, 900-918.

Williams, D. (2004). U.S. National Screening Status Report <u>http://genes-r-us.uthscsa.edu/nbsdisorders.pdf</u> (Austin, TX, National Newborn Screening and Genetics Resource Center).

Wilson, G. J., Wilson, J. M., and Manninen, A. H. (2008). Effects of beta-hydroxy-betamethylbutyrate (HMB) on exercise performance and body composition across varying levels of age, sex, and training experience: A review. Nutrition and Metabolism *5*, 1.

Woffendin, C., Ranga, U., and Nabel, G. J. (2001). Development of molecular genetic interventions for HIV infection. Curr Protoc Hum Genet *13*.

Wolf, H., and Michalopoulos, G. K. (1992). Hepatocyte regeneration in acute fulminant and nonfulminant hepatitis: A study of proliferating cell nuclear antigen expression. Hepatology *15*, 707-713.

Wolfe, J. H., Deshmane, S. L., and Fraser, N. W. (1992). Herpesvirus vector gene transfer and expression of beta-glucuronidase in the central nervous system of MPSVII mice. Nat Genet *1*, 379-384.

Woods, N. B., Bottero, V., Schmidt, M., von Kalle, C., and Verma, I. M. (2006). Therapeutic gene causing lymphoma. Nature 440, 27.

Wu, J.-Y., Kao, H.-J., Li, S.-C., Stevens, R., Hillman, S., Millington, D., and Chen, Y.-T. (2004). ENU mutagenesis identifies mice with mitochondrial branched-chain aminotransferase deficiency resembling human maple syrup urine disease. J Clin Invest *113*, 434-440.

Wu, N., Watkins, S. C., and Schaffer, P. A. (1996). Prolonged gene expression and cell survival after infection by a herpes simplex virus mutant defective in the immediate-early genes encoding ICP4, ICP27 and ICP22. J Virol *70*, 6358-6368.

Xiao, W., Berta, S. C., Lu, M. M., Moscioni, A. D., Tazelaar, J., and Wilson, J. M. (1998a). Adeno-associated virus as a vector for liver-directed gene therapy. J Virol 72, 10222-10226.

Xiao, W., Warrington, K. H. J., Hearing, P., Hughes, J., and Muzyczka, N. (2002). Adenovirus-facilitated nuclear translocation of adeno-associated virus type 2. J Virol *76*, 11505-11517.

Xiao, X., Li, J., and Samulski, R. J. (1998b). Production of high-titer recombinant adenoassociated virus vectors in the absence of helper adenovirus. J Virol *72*, 2224-2232.

Xie, Q., Bu, W., Bhatia, S., Hare, J., Somasundaram, T., Azzi, A., and Chapman, M. S. (2002). The atomic structure of adeno-associated virus (AAV-2), a vector for human gene therapy. Proc Natl Acad Sci *99*, 10405-10410.

Xu, J., Zhu, M. Y., Lu, Y. H., Lu, Y., and Wang, Z. W. (2007). Treatment of type 1 diabetes by transplantation of bone-derived mesenchymal stem cells expressing human insulin gene: experiment with mice. Zhonghua Yi Xue Za Zhi *87*, 2557-2560.

Yamada, T., Yoshikawa, M., Kanda, S., Kato, Y., Nakajima, Y., Ishizaka, S., and Tsunoda, Y. (2002). In vitro differentiation of embryonic stem cells into hepatocyte-like cells identified by cellular uptake of indocyanine green. Stem Cells *20*, 146-154.

Yan, Y., Yang, D., Zarnowska, E. D., Du, Z., Werbel, B., Valliere, C., Pearce, R. A., Thomson, J. A., and Zhang, S. C. (2005). Directed differentiation of dopaminergic neuronal subtypes from human embryonic stem cells. Stem Cells *23*, 781-790.

Yang, J., Zhou, W., Zhang, Y. A., Zidon, T., Ritchie, T., and Engelhardt, J. F. (1999). Concatamerization of adeno-associated virus circular genomes occurs through intermolecular recombination. J Virol *73*, 9468-9477.

Yang, Y., Li, Q., Ertl, H. C., and Wilson, J. M. (1995). Cellular and humoral immune responses to viral antigens create barriers to lung-directed gene therapy with recombinant adenoviruses. J Virol *69*, 2004-2015.

Yang, Y., Nunes, F. A., Berencsi, K., Furth, E. E., Gonczol, E., and Wilson, J. M. (1994). Cellular immunity to viral antigens limits E1-deleted adenovirus for gene therapy. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA *91*, 4407-4411.

Yeaman, S. (1989). The 2-oxo acid dehydrogenase complexes: Recent advances. Biochem J 257, 625-632.

Yokoyama, T., Ohashi, K., Kuge, H., Kanehiro, H., Iwata, H., Yamato, M., and Nakajima, Y. (2006). In vivo engineering of metabolically active hepatic tissues in a neovascularized subcutaneous cavity. Am J Transplant *6*, 50-59.

Yoshida, K., Chambers, I., Nichols, J., Smith, A., Saito, M., Yasukawa, K., Shoyab, M., Taga, T., and Kishimoto, T. (1994). Maintenance of the pluripotential phenotype of embryonic stem cells through direct activation of gp130 signalling pathways. Mech Dev *45*, 163-171.

Yu, J., Vodyanik, M. A., Smuga-Otto, K., Antosiewicz-Bourget, J., Frane, J. L., Tian, S., Nie, J., Jonsdottir, G. A., Ruotti, V., Stewart, R., *et al.* (2007). Induced pluripotent stem cell lines derived from human somatic cells. Science *318*, 1917-1920.

Yudkoff, M. (1997). Brain metabolims of branched-chain amino acids. Glia 21, 92-98.

Yudkoff, M., Daikhin, Y., Nissim, I., Horyn, O., Luhovyy, B., Lazarow, A., and Nissim, I. (2005). Brain amino acid requirements and toxicity: the example of leucine. J Nutr *135*, 1531S-1538S.

Zaret, K. S. (2002). Regulatory phases of early liver development: paradigms of organogenesis. Nat Rev Genetics *3*, 499-512.

Zhang, B., Crabb, D. W., and Harris, R. A. (1988). Nucleotide and deduced amino acid sequence of the E1-alpha subunit of human liver branched-chain alpha-ketoacid dehydrogenase. Gene *69*, 159-164.

Zhang, B., Healy, P. J., Zhao, Y., Crabb, D. W., and Harris, R. (1990). Premature translation termination of the pre-E1alpha subunit of the branched chain alpha-ketoacid dehydrogenase as a cause of Maple Syrup Urine Disease in Polled Hereford calves. J Biol Chem *265*, 2425-2427.

Zhang, Q., Yu, Y. A., Wang, E., Chen, N., Danner, R. L., Munson, P. J., Marincola, F. M., and Szalay, A. A. (2007). Eradication of solid human breast tumors in nude mice with an intravenously injected light-emitting oncolytic vaccinia virus. Cancer Res *67*, 10038-10046.

Zhou, Z., Peng, X., Hao, S., Fink, D. J., and Mata, M. (2008). HSV-mediated transfer of interleukin-10 reduces inflammatory pain through modulation of membrane tumor necrosis factor alpha in spinal cord microglia. Gene Ther *15*, 183-190.

Zhu, H. Z., Wanga, W., Fenda, D. M., Saia, Y., and Xue, J. L. (2006). Conditional gene modification in mouse liver using hydrodynamic delivery of plasmid DNA encoding Cre recombinase. FEBS Letters *580*, 4346-4352.

Zhu, T., Zhou, L., Mori, S., Wang, Z., McTiernan, C. F., Qiao, C., Chen, C., Wang, D. W., Li, J., and Xiao, X. (2005). Sustained whole-body functional rescue in congestive heart failure and muscular dystrophy hamsters by systemic gene transfer. Circulation *112*, 2650-2659.

Zinnanti, W. J., Lazovic, J., Griffin, K., Skvorak, K. J., Paul, H. S., Homanics, G. E., Brewely, M., Cheng, K. C., LaNoue, K. F., and Flanagan, J. M. (2008). Dual mechanisms of brain injury and novel treatment in maple syrup urine disease. Submitted.